
Document Number: 2351898 V1 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM 
CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, 
ON MONDAY, APRIL 17, 2023 AT 6:00 PM 

 
 

“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

 
The City of North Vancouver acknowledges that this Council meeting is held on the 

traditional territories of the Squamish and Tsleil‐Waututh Nations. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, April 17, 2023 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, April 3, 2023 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3 and *4 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately or 
in one motion. 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
*4. Board in Brief – Metro Vancouver Regional District, March 31, 2023 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
5. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957” (Jadasi 

Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, 
CD-759) 

 
6. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) 

Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
REPORT 
 
7. Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business 

Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission 
 



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 2 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
8. “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement 

Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to 
Hope, Kent and Mission) 

 
9. “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme 

Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to 
Hope, Kent and Mission) 

 
REPORT 
 
10. 2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
11. “Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962” 
 
REPORT 
 
12. 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
13. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963” 
 
REPORT 
 
14. Lonsdale Energy Corporation Loan 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
15. Council Code of Conduct and City of North Vancouver Respectful 

Communication Policy – Council of the Whole 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 3 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, April 17, 2023 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, April 3, 2023  
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, 
No. 8500.”  The time allotted for each speaker addressing Council during the Public Input Period is 
2 minutes, with the number of speakers set at 5 persons.  Speakers’ comments will be audio 
recorded, as well as live-streamed on the City’s website, and will form part of the public record. 
 
Speakers during the Public Input Period are permitted to join the meeting electronically via Webex 
or in person in the Council Chamber.  
 
There are 2 ways to sign up to speak during the Public Input Period: 

1) Speakers participating electronically must pre-register by 12:00 noon on the day of the Council 
meeting by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicInputPeriod, or by phoning 604-990-
4230 to provide contact information.  Pre-registrants will receive instructions via email or phone 
on the afternoon of the Council meeting, including a request to connect to the meeting 15-30 
minutes before the meeting start time. 

2) Speakers participating in person must sign the speaker list located outside the Council 
Chamber between 5:30 and 5:55 pm on the day of the Council meeting. No late speakers will 
be added to the list. 

 
If a speaker has written material to accompany their comments, the material must be sent to the 
Corporate Officer at clerks@cnv.org no later than 12:00 noon on the day of the Council meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period offers an opportunity to express comments only; Council is there to listen 
and questions will not be responded to.  Speakers must comply with the General Rules of Conduct 
set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak with respect 
to items listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are not to address matters from a concluded Public Hearing or Public Meeting.  When a 
Public Hearing / Meeting is scheduled on the same evening’s agenda, speakers are asked to only 
provide input when that item comes forward for discussion on the agenda in order for the comments 
to be considered and form part of the official record. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Your Worship” or “Mayor, followed by his/her surname”.   
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 4 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3 and *4 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately or 
in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” be adopted, 
signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
*4. Board in Brief, Metro Vancouver Regional District, March 31, 2023 

– File: 01-0400-60-0006/2023 
 
 Re: Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the correspondence from Metro Vancouver, dated March 31, 2023, 
regarding the “Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief”, be received and filed. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 5 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
5. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957” (Jadasi 

Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, 
CD-759) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957” 
(Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th 
Street, CD-759) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
Application considered by Council on March 27, 2023; notice published on April 5 
and April 12, 2023. 
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
6. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) 

Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 
15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be given first, second and third readings. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 6 
 
REPORT 
 
7. Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business 

Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission – File: 16-8330-01-0001/2023 
 

Report: Planner 2, April 5, 2023 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 5, 2023, entitled 
“Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business 
Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission”: 

 
THAT the participation of the District of Hope, District of Kent and City of Mission 
in the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence (the 
“IMBL”) be approved, in principle; 

 
THAT the following bylaws be considered: 

 
• “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 

Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966” (Expanding the Inter-municipal 
Transportation Network Services Business Licence to Hope, Kent and 
Mission); 

 
• “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 

Scheme Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967” (Expanding the Inter-municipal 
Transportation Network Services Business Licence to Hope, Kent and 
Mission) 

 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion.  

 
Items 8 and 9 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
8. “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement 

Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to 
Hope, Kent and Mission) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS 
Business Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission) be given first, second and third 
readings. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 7 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued 
 
9. “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme 

Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to 
Hope, Kent and Mission) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Scheme Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967” (Expanding the Inter-municipal TNS Business 
Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
REPORT 
 
10. 2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw – File: 05-1700-03-0001/2023 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, April 5, 2023 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled “2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw”: 
 
THAT “Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962” be 
considered.  
 
Item 11 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
11. “Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962” be 
given first, second and third readings. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 8 
 
REPORT 
 
12. 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw – File: 05-1970-05-0005/2023 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, April 5, 2023 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled “2023 Tax Rates Bylaw”: 
 
THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963” be considered. 
 
Item 13 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
13. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963” be given first, second and third 
readings. 

 
REPORT 
 
14. Lonsdale Energy Corporation Loan – File: 05-1610-01-0001/2023 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, April 5, 2023 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 
  

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled “Lonsdale Energy Corporation Loan”: 
 
THAT the loans currently outstanding and authorized by the City of North 
Vancouver be renewed and consolidated on a 5-year demand term and at an 
interest rate of 3.51% compounded quarterly, as of August 1, 2023; 
 
THAT a term is added to the loan requiring twelve-month notice to Lonsdale 
Energy Corp. if the City of North Vancouver wishes to demand repayment of the 
loan prior to the endorsed debt repayment schedule; 
 
AND THAT Lonsdale Energy Corp.’s proposed debt repayment schedule be 
endorsed. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 9 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
15. Council Code of Conduct and City of North Vancouver Respectful 

Communication Policy – File: 01-0530-01-0001/2023 
 
 Submitted by Council of the Whole 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver has a priority to be a City for People that 
is welcoming, inclusive, safe, accessible and supports the health and well-being 
of all; 

  
WHEREAS a Code of Conduct is a written document that sets shared 
expectations for conduct or behaviour; 

 
WHEREAS responsible conduct that is grounded in agreed upon principles 
furthers a local government’s ability to provide good governance to their 
community; 

   
WHEREAS Council of the City of North Vancouver, as a group, wishes to lead 
through example that it sets for the City and the community; 
   
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver wishes to promote a safe, healthy, 
respectful and positive environment for all staff, members of the public and 
volunteers at its facilities, and has an obligation to provide a workplace free of 
violence, bullying and harassment; 
  
AND WHEREAS civil discourse is essential to a free and functioning democracy 
now; 
  
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that staff be directed to bring forward for 
Council’s consideration a Code of Conduct for the City of North Vancouver 
Council regarding respectful behaviour and communication between members of 
Council; 
  
THAT staff be further directed to bring forward recommendations for a bylaw or 
policy for Council’s consideration regarding respectful behaviour and 
communications of and with Council, City staff, volunteers and members of the 
public when interfacing with one another and/or using City facilities or services; 
 
AND THAT the bylaw or policy include definitions of appropriate and 
inappropriate behaviour and communication and provide a clear process with 
assigned roles and authorities for City staff and Council members to address 
inappropriate communication when it occurs. 
 
Background Information, April 11, 2023 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2023 Page 10 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(a) [personal information], 90(1)(e) 
[land matter] and 90(1)(k) [proposed service]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



Document Number: 2348298 V1 

 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, APRIL 3, 2023 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor S. Shahriari 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, Corporate Officer 
J. Peters, Acting Deputy Corporate Officer 
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO / Director, Strategic and Corporate 

Services 
R. Skene, Deputy Director, Strategic and Corporate Services 
E. Doran, Director, People and Culture 
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 
D. Van Heerden, Manager, Financial Planning 
B. Johnson, Revenue Accountant 
H. Granger, City Solicitor 
J. Draper, Acting Director, Planning and Development 
R. Basi, Manager, Development Planning 
E. Macdonald, Development Planner 
R. de St. Croix, Manager, Long Range and Community Planning 
D. Hutch, Deputy Director, Parks and Public Spaces 
L. Orr, Acting Director, Community and Partner Engagement 
J. Robertson, Sr. Manager, Communications and Engagement 
S. Smith, Manager, Economic Development 
C. Husk, Filming and Events Coordinator 
B. Lin, Economic and Business Development Coordinator 
G. Schalk, Public Safety Director and Fire Chief 
L. Phillips, Public Art Officer, NVRC 
C. Bulman, Committee and Records Clerk  

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, April 3, 2023 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor Shahriari, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, March 27, 2023 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 3, 2023 

 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamations: 
 

Autism Acceptance Month – April 2023 

Health Care, Public Safety and Essential Service Workers Appreciation Month 
– April 2023 

Green Shirt Day – April 7, 2023 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Robb Webb, 1415 East 18th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding zoning in the 
City. 

• Margaret Benson, 151 East Osborne Road, North Vancouver, spoke regarding 
Green Shirt Day and organ donation. 

 
PRESENTATION 
 

Zoning for a Healthy City – Zoning Bylaw Project 2023-2024 – Manager, Long 
Range and Community Planning, Manager, Development Planning, and Holly Sovdi, 
Urban Strategies Inc. 

 
The Manager, Long Range and Community Planning, Manager, Development Planning, 
and Holly Sovdi, Urban Strategies Inc., provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding 
“Zoning for a Healthy City” and responded to questions of Council. 
 
REPORTS 
 
3. Mobile Food Services Pilot Results and Suggested Approach 

– File: 15-7710-01-0001/2023 
 
Report: Film and Community Events Coordinator, March 22, 2023 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 
  

PURSUANT to the report of the Film and Community Events Coordinator, dated 
March 22, 2023, entitled “Mobile Food Services Pilot Results and Suggested 
Approach”: 
 
THAT Option 2, Authorize a 12-month Pilot with expanded opportunities for Mobile 
Food Service operators year-round, be endorsed.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 3, 2023 

REPORTS – Continued 
 
4. Public Art De-Accessioning – “White Winds” and “Beyond the Fountain” 

– File: 08-3010-01-0001/2023 
 

Report: Public Art Officer, North Vancouver Recreation and Culture Commission, 
and Deputy Director, Strategic and Corporate Services, March 21, 2023 

 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
  

PURSUANT to the report of the Public Art Officer and Deputy Director, Strategic and 
Corporate Services, dated March 21, 2023, entitled “Public Art De-Accessioning – 
“White-Winds” and “Beyond the Fountain”: 

 
THAT the public artworks entitled “White Winds” and “Beyond the Fountain”, 
integrated within the Lonsdale Quay Fountain, be de-accessioned from the City of 
North Vancouver’s public art collection, in tandem with the removal of the fountain 
from the site. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
5. Copperpenny Distilling Application for Change of Liquor Service Hours 
 – File: 13-6750-01-0001/2023 
 
 Report: Manager, Economic Development, March 22, 2023 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Economic Development, dated March 22, 
2023, entitled “Copperpenny Distilling Application for Change of Liquor Service 
Hours”: 
 
THAT Option 1 be endorsed to support undertaking a public consultation process to 
solicit community feedback for this application for a permanent change of liquor 
service hours for Copperpenny Distilling; 
 
THAT staff be directed to return and present the public feedback to Council, and 
seek feedback from Council for the application; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to bring forward an amendment to the “Fees and 
Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383”, specifically for the purpose of recovering 
administrative costs for undertaking the public consultation process for future 
applications related to permanently amending liquor service hours. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 3, 2023 

REPORTS – Continued 
 
6. 2023 Property Tax Increase Distribution Options – File: 05-1970-05-0005/2023 
 
 Report:  Chief Financial Officer, March 22, 2023 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated March 22, 2023, 
entitled “2023 Property Tax Increase Distribution Options”: 
 
THAT an across the board 2023 Property Tax Increase of 5.24% be endorsed; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to bring forward a Tax Rate Bylaw (2023) that must be 
adopted before May 15, 2023, in accordance with the Community Charter. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
7. Growing Communities Reserve Fund – File: 05-1705-01-0001/2023 
  
 Report: Chief Financial Officer, March 22, 2023 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated March 22, 2023, 
entitled “Growing Communities Reserve Fund”: 
 
THAT “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” be considered. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
8. “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” be given first 
and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “Growing Communities Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968” be given third 
reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 3, 2023 

PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared a recess at 8:15 pm for the Public Clarification Period. 
 
Robb Webb, 1415 East 18th Street, North Vancouver, asked for clarification on the process 
of the new zoning bylaw and the origination of the healthy city zoning initiatives. 
 
The meeting reconvened immediately after. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
Councillor Bell reported on the appointment of Zoe Mackoff de Miranda as the new Director 
of MONOVA: Museum and Archives of North Vancouver, effective May 1, 2023. 
 
Councillor Shahriari thanked staff and volunteers for their work regarding the Nowruz event 
held on March 15, 2023. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
Councillor Valente advised of Council’s intention to bring forward a Notice of Motion at the next 
Regular Council meeting regarding “Council Code of Conduct and Respectful Communication 
Policy”. 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant to 
the Community Charter, Section 90(2)(b) [negotiations with other level of 
government]. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, at 8:21 pm and 
reconvened at 9:15 pm. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 3, 2023 

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
9. Negotiations with Other Level of Government – File: 01-0510-20-0003/2023 

 
Report: Chief Administrative Officer, March 30, 2023 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated March 30, 2023, 
regarding negotiations with other level of government: 

 
THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole (Closed Session) be ratified; 

 
AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the Chief 
Administrative Officer, dated March 30, 2023, remain in the Closed session. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:16 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968 Document: 2344075-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8968 

A Bylaw to establish a reserve fund for the capital and planning purposes 
of the Growing Communities Fund. 

WHEREAS Section 188 of the Community Charter allows the establishment by Council of a 
Reserve Fund for a specified purpose; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Growing Communities Reserve 

Fund Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968”. 
 
2. Monies received from the Government of BC, as a part of the Growing Communities Fund, 

shall be contributed to the Growing Communities Reserve Fund. 
 
3. Monies in this Reserve Fund shall only be used for: 

 
A. One-off costs needed to build required infrastructure and amenities rather than funding 

ongoing or operational activities. These funds are to be incremental to currently 
planned investments and should accelerate the delivery of capital projects. Eligible 
costs are as follows: 

 
(1) Public drinking water supply, treatment facilities and water distribution; 
(2) Local portion of affordable/attainable housing developments; 
(3) Childcare facilities; 
(4) Municipal or regional capital projects that service, directly or indirectly, 

neighbouring First Nation communities; 
(5) Wastewater conveyance and treatment facilities; 
(6) Storm water management; 
(7) Solid waste management infrastructure; 
(8) Public safety/emergency management equipment and facilities not funded by 

senior level government; 
(9) Local road improvements and upgrades; 
(10) Sidewalks, curbing and lighting; 
(11) Active transportation amenities not funded by senior level government; 
(12) Improvements that facilitate transit service; 
(13) Natural hazard mitigation; 
(14) Park additions/maintenance/upgrades including washrooms/meeting space 

and other amenities; and 
(15) Recreation-related amenities. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8968 Document: 2344075-v1 

B. Costs of feasibility studies (including infrastructure capacity assessment); other early-
stage development work; costs of designing, tendering and acquiring land (where it is 
wholly required for eligible infrastructure projects); constructing eligible infrastructure 
projects; and, in limited situations, non-capital administrative costs where these are 
necessary, for example adding staff capacity related to development or to establish 
complementary financing for local government owned infrastructure or amenities. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 3rd day of April, 2023. 

READ a second time on the 3rd day of April, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the 3rd day of April, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC V5H 4J5 604-4 32-6200 metrovancouver.org 

For Metro Vancouver meetings on Friday, March 31, 2023 
Please note these are not the official minutes. Board in Brief is an informal summary. Material relating to any of the 
following items is available on request from Metro Vancouver. For more information, please contact: 
media@metrovancouver.org. 

Metro Vancouver Regional District 

El.1 Contribution Agreement - CTS Youth Society APPROVED 

The CTS Youth Society (CTS) is a newly re-constituted non-profit charitable organization with an 
independent Board of Directors created to assume governance of the youth program formally known as 
'Catching the Spirit' from the former Catching the Spirit 2019 Youth Society. 

CTS's renewed objectives are to provide opportunities for social and personal development contributing 
to the self-esteem, empowerment, citizenship, and leadership capabilities of youth, and contribute to the 
sustainability of regional parks by engaging youth in environmental and social responsibility. 

The Board approved a contribution agreement between Metro Vancouver and CTS Youth Society for a 
three-year term commencing on April 1, 2023 and ending December 31, 2025, with annual contributions 
of $78,500 (2023), $80,000 (2024) and $82,500 (2025) totaling $241,000. 

E2.1 2023 Regional District Sustainability Innovation Fund Applications APPROVED 

The Board approved the allocation from the Regional District Sustainability Innovation Fund for the 
following projects: 

• Future Carbon Storage and Greenhouse Gas Emissions at Burns Bog under Different Management 
and Climate Scenarios for $184,779 over three years starting in 2023 

• 1-ln-50 Year Deep Energy Retrofit Project for Existing MURB's for $970,000 over three years 
starting in 2023 

• Prefabricated Mass-Timber Panels in Existing MURB's for $692,000 over three years starting in 
2023 

• LBC for Existing Affordable Housing Projects for $200,000 over two years starting in 2023 
• Decarbonized On-Demand Domestic Hot Water System for $370,000 over four years starting in 

2023 
• AirCnC: Cool 'n' Clean Air Centres for $200,000 over two years starting in 2023 

• Revving Up the Shift to Green Machines for $240,000 over two years starting in 2023 
• Extended Reality (XR) Modelling Platform for Metro Vancouver for $800,000 over two years 

starting in 2023 

• Metro Vancouver Events Sustainability Audit for $80,000 in 2023 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4JS 604-432-6200 metrovancouver. org 

E2.2 Appointment of Assistant District Director and Enforcement Officers APPROVED 

Recent changes in staffing have resulted in a need to update enforcement officer appointments. 

The Board: 

• pursuant to the GVRD Air Quality Management Bylaw 1082, 2008 and the Environmental 
Management Act: 

o appointed Metro Vancouver employee Julie Saxton as assistant district director 
o rescinded the appointments of Doreen Cheng, Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and 

Peter Hagens as officers 
o appointed Metro Vancouver employees Mosi Aghbolaghy, Michael Goods, Jim Penrose, 

Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz as officers 

• pursuant to section 28 of the Offence Act for the purpose of serving summons for alleged 
violations under the GVRD Air Quality Management Bylaw 1082, 2008: 

o rescinded the appointments of Doreen Cheng, Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and 
Peter Hagens 

o appointed Metro Vancouver employees Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz 

E3.1 Metro Vancouver Staff Review of Secondary Access from Ladner and BC Hydro 

Transmission Line Relocation 

APPROVED 

The Board resolved to send a letter to the Premier of British Columbia and the Minister of Transportation 
and Infrastructure to express support for a new River Road crossing over Highway 99 to Ladner and to 
support an underground option for the relocation of the BC Hydro transmission line currently in the 
existing George Massey Tunnel. 

Furthermore, the Board directed staff to convey to BC Hydro that Metro Vancouver supports either of the 
underground options that BC Hydro is considering for the relocation of the transmission line provided that 
the options do not require any land in Deas Island Regional Park. 

Additionally, the Board resolved to send a letter to the Premier of British Columbia and the Minister of 
Transportation and Infrastructure inquiring about the status of the connections to Highway 99 in the City 
of Surrey for the project and the rationale for any changes since the original plans. 

E4.1 Social Equity Spatial Analysis Case Studies - Final Report RECEIVED 

The Social Equity in Regional Growth Management Study is a multi-year initiative focused on studying how 
to better integrate a consideration of social equity into land use planning work. Several case studies were 
a component of the third phase of the study and demonstrated how an equity lens could be applied to 
planning work through spatial analysis. The following four case study maps and accompanying summaries 
were prepared: 

2 



metrovancouver BOA DIN BRIEF 
L)515 Central Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 m et rovancouver.org 

1. Tree Canopy Gaps and Extreme Heat - Enhancing Social Equity through Urban Forest Management 
(Urban Tree Planting Priority)-one regional and one specific to Surrey 

2. Park Gaps - Enhancing Social Equity through Park Provision (Park Acquisition Priority) - one regional 

and one specific to Port Moody 

3. Regional Park Access Gaps - Enhancing Equitable Park Access through Sustainable and Affordable 
Transportation (Large Park Transit Improvement Priority) 

4. High Priority Locations for Making Walking and Cycling to School Safer and Easier (School Active 

Transportation Priority by School District) 

A staff steering committee was formed to guide th is work and peer review interviews were conducted. 
Given that the analysis was regional in nature, the use of the case study maps to support future local 
planning initiatives should include undertaking additional local analysis, including local and context
specific community engagement. Future work will include updating a portion of the Equity Indicator Maps 

(from Phase 2 of this project) with 2021 Census data. 

The Board received the report for information. 

E4.2 Natural Hazard Data Inventory RECEIVED 

This report highlights the Natural Hazard Data Inventory, which provides a high-level desktop analysis of 
available natural hazard and climate change impact data across the region. The inventory was developed 
to collate information pertain ing to the region's available hazard data, identify gaps, and help develop a 
shared understanding of risk in the region . The development of the inventory is supported by policy 
direction in Metro 2050, Climate 2050, and other regional management plans . Information pertaining to 
130 hazard datasets, ranging from the local to global scale, was reviewed and included in the inventory. 
The inventory has been shared with member jurisdiction planning staff and is available on our website. 
Building on this work, this year Metro Vancouver will use the inventory to help develop regional multi

hazard mapping that will be shared when completed later this year. 

The Board received the report for information. 

E4.2 Housing Needs Reports - Lessons Learned from Metro Vancouver Member 

Jurisdictions 

APPROVED 

The Board directed staff to send a letter to the Minister of Housing and relevant Ministry staff to share 

the recommendations contained in the report dated February 16, 2023, titled "Housing Needs Reports -
Lessons Learned from Metro Vancouver Member Jurisdictions", and to request continued consultation 
with local governments and other housing sector partners to improve future iterations of the Housing 
Needs Reports program . 

3 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 m etrovancouver.org 

ES.1 National Zero Waste Council - Update on 2022 Activities & Priorities RECEIVED 

Recognizing that realizing its zero waste aspirations would require changes in policy, behaviour and design 
beyond the purview of a local government, Metro Vancouver, in collaboration with the Federation of 
Canadian Municipalities created the National Zero Waste Council in 2013. This leadership initiative 
represented a collaborative approach to advancing waste prevention. Since th is time, the Council has a 
strong reputation across Canada to bring key stakeholders together to develop innovative collaborations, 
fund ground-breaking research, and create in-person and virtual events for knowledge-building and 
sharing on the importance of waste prevention and its role in the realization of a circular economy. 

In 2022, the Council has focused its efforts on reducing food waste across the value chain and within 
households, collaborated with others to create an initiative to build circular economy knowledge and 
capacity among local governments, and continues to work collaboratively with the signatories and other 
partners of the Canada Plastic Pact. The working groups of the Council have been involved in innovative 
pilots involving recycled asphalt and wood waste. 

The Board received the report for information. 

Gl.1 Metro Vancouver Regional District Dedication of Land as Regional Park Bylaw No. 

1360,2023 

APPROVED 

Metro Vancouver routinely passes bylaws to officially dedicate regional park land acquired in the previous 
year. Work is underway to review regional park land that is not currently dedicated for inclusion in future 
bylaws. Included in this bylaw are five parcels totally 21 hectares of regional park land acquired in 2022 in 
Burnaby Lake Regional Park and Kanaka Creek Regional Park. 

The Board gave first, second, and third readings to the Metro Vancouver Regional District Dedication of 
Land as Regional Park Bylaw No. 1360, 2023; then passed and finally adopted said bylaw. 

Gl.2 2025 Asia Pacific Cities Summit and Mayors' Forum Host City Bid RECEIVED 

The Board received for information a regarding the 2025 Asia Pacific Cities Summit and Mayors' Forum, 
and directed staff to forward the report and bidding information to member jurisdictions and other 
organizations such as, but not limited to Destination Vancouver, Vancouver Hotel Destination Association, 
and Invest Vancouver, for their consideration. 

I 1 Committee Information Items and Delegation Summaries 

The Board received information items and delegation summaries from standing committees. 

Financial Plan Task Force - February 23, 2023 

Information Items: 

4 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC V5H 4J5 604-432-6200 m etrovancouver.org 

5.1 Assessing Opportunities for 5-Year Financial Plan Amendments 

At its February 16, 2023 meeting, the Financial Plan Task Force requested additional information on the 
anticipated growth for upcoming years, construction challenges, the status and implications of DCC rates 
on member jurisdictions, and a list that categorizes the prioritization of the approximately 300 current 
projects, 

Regional Parks Committee - March 8, 2023 

Information Items: 

5.3 Regional Parks Real-time Parking Availability Project Update 

The Real-time Parking Availability Pilot Project is a Metro Vancouver Sustainability Innovation Fund 
initiative that will design and implement an advanced electronic parking availability system for the public 
for selected regional parks experiencing parking capacity issues. The primary goal of the project is to bring 
about a change in practice by park visitors who travel to busy regional parks by personal vehicle, by 
providing them with real-time information on parking availability before they leave their home or en 
route. This will allow the public to make better decisions about how to access the park, when to access 
the park, or to consider alternate destinations if parking lots are full. This report covers the project's 
current status, and the pilot project's implementation plan for Iona Beach and Boundary Bay regional 
parks during Spring 2023 

5.4 tamtamfxwtan/Belcarra Regional Park - Belcarra Regional Park Cultural Planning and Co-operation 
Agreement Update 

MVRD and Tsleil-Waututh Nation (TWN) entered into a cooperative relationship in 2020 with respect to 
the site at the time known as Belcarra Regional Park, through a Cultural Planning and Co-operation 
Agreement. The agreement recognizes TWN's ancestral ties to the land and the present use by its 
members as well as a regional park. Identifying common interests and ways to work together to protect 
and enhance the park for the benefit and enjoyment of present and future generations is a cornerstone of 
the agreement. As such, senior representatives and staff from both parties have implemented a forum for 
information sharing and joint project planning. Significant accomplishments include renaming the park to 
tamtamfxwtan/Belcarra Regional Park, completed 2021; the parties are also collaborating on the 
development and installation of a TWN welcome pole, undertaking a cultural heritage study, improving 
access to the park, and advancing the Guardian Program 

Climate Action Committee - March 9, 2023 

Delegations: 

3.1 Mark Grist, President, BrightSide Solutions 
Subject: Threats to Use of Renewable Natural Gas in Heavy Duty Transportation Applications (Highest and 
Best Use of RNG) 

Information Items: 

5 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4JS 604-432-6200 metrova ncouve r. o rg 

5.1 Climate 2050 Engagement and Public Education Strategy 

The goal of Climate 2050 is that Metro Vancouver will be a carbon neutral and climate resilient region by 
2050. To achieve this requires bold leadership and effective action during this decade. The window to 
reduce emissions, and meet the region's 2030 ta rgets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions is closing and 
this means we need to be focused and persistent in implementing actions that will significantly reduce 
regional emissions. Recent catastrophic, climate change-escalated weather events in our region (drought, 
fire, and flooding) have also highlighted the need for resilience. 

The objective of the Climate 2050 Engagement and Public Education Strategy is to build strong support 
from key stakeholders and the public as well as to ensure alignment in the messaging with other 
jurisdictions seeking to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. This strategy incorporates learnings from social 
science research and best practices in engagement and communications to develop a vocal constituency 
for climate action. 

Regional Planning Committee - March 10, 2023 

Delegations: 

3.1 Roderick V. Louis 

Subject: Metro 2050 

Information Items: 

5.1 Regional Planning Environment Portfolio Update 

Natural spaces provide essential 'ecosystem services', including storing and sequestering carbon, 
absorbing and cleaning surface water, cooling cities, and protecting coastal communities. While Metro 
2040 included many tools and policies to protect important ecosystems, new datasets revealed that the 
region is losing sensitive ecosystems. New policy actions in Metro 2050 will, if implemented, put the 
region in a stronger position to better protect, enhance, restore and connect ecosystems. This report 
outlines Metro Vancouver's relevant roles - collecting ecological data; researching best practice; and 
convening forums for member jurisdictions - and provides an overview of several projects underway, 
including updates to the Sensitive Ecosystem Inventory, tree canopy cover and impervious surfaces 
datas.ets, tree regulations toolkit, and the regional green infrastructure network. 

5.5 Regional Green Infrastructure Network - Scope and Engagement 

To support the implementation of Metro 2050, Regional Planning is initiating a project to collaboratively 
plan for a regional green infrastructure network, a network of habitat hubs and corridors that supports 
the movement of species across the landscape, maximizes ecosystem services, and moderate climate 
change impacts. This report presents a scope of work and engagement plan, policy context, objectives, a 
process overview, and anticipated timelines for network planning over the course of the project. Key work 
streams will include First Nations engagement, collaborative network identification/ mapping, research 
and design, and the development of Metro 2050 implementation guidelines. Regional Planning staff will 
continue to work closely on the network with member jurisdictions and other Metro Vancouver 
departments, such as Regional Parks and Liquid Waste Services. The Regional Planning Committee and 
MVRD Board will receive updates at various stages during this multi-year project. 

6 



metrovancouver 

4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 rn etrovancouver.org 

Greater Vancouver Water District 
El.1 2023 Water Sustainability Innovation Fund Applications 

IN BRIEF 

APPROVED 

That the GVWD Board approve the allocation from the Water Sustainability Innovation Fund of 
$1,700,000 for the following projects, starting in 2023: 

• Reducing Oxygen Use and Increasing Resiliency at the Coquitlam Water Treatment Plant for 
$150,000 over two years 

• Studying the Preliminary Feasibility of Green Hydrogen Production from Hydro power at Cleveland 
Dam for $250,000 over two years 

• Evaluation of Biofiltration at the Seymour Capilano Filtration Plant for $300,000 over three years 

• Next Generation Snow pack Monitoring- Phase 3 for $450,000 over three years 

• Building the Next Generation of Seasonal Water Supply & Demand Planning Tools for $550,000 
over two yea rs 

E2.1 Climate Impacts on the Water Supply Areas RECEIVED 

Water Services manages a network of automated hydro-meteorological stations, and conducts several 
annual field sampling programs. Data collected from this monitoring program is used to actively monitor 
environmental conditions in the Capilano, Seymour, and Coquitlam River Watersheds. This program has 
become particularly important in the context of climate change, as climate variability increases and 
historical patterns shift. 

Two recent events highlight how quickly our climate is changing: the June 2021 heatwave, and the 2022 
fall drought. These extreme events are occurring more frequently, and are projected to become more 
normal in the near future. The impacts from these events highlight the importance of comprehensive 
environmental monitoring, and the need for accurate weather and water supply forecasts . 

The Board received the report for information. 

E2.2 Award of Contract Resulting from RFP No. 22-139 Construction of the Coquitlam 
Main No. 4 South Section Robson Drive to Guildford Way 

APPROVED 

The Board approved the award of a contract in the amount of $97,196,248 (exclusive of taxes) to Michels 
Canada Company resulting from RFP No. 22-139: Construction of Coquitlam Main No. 4 South Section 
Robson Drive to Guildford Way, subject to final review by the Commissioner. 

7 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 

I 1 Committee Information Items and Delegation Summaries 

The Board received an information item from a standing committee. 

Water Committee - March 15, 2023 

Information Items: 

metrovancouver.org 

5.2 Drinking Water Conservation Plan Summer Support Program - 2022 Results and 2023 Update 

Metro Vancouver updated the Drinking Water Conservation Plan (DWCP) in November 2021 with the goal 
of reducing summer water demand. The 2022 DWCP Summer Support Program was developed to assist 
member jurisdictions w ith the promotion and monitoring of regional lawn watering restrictions during 
implementation of the updated DWCP. Results show that targeted communication to residents about the 
updated lawn watering restrictions and water conservation substantially reduced non-compliant lawn 
watering on weekday mornings for 2022. Program findings, including observations about automatic 
versus manual watering and relationships between non-compliance and weather trends, may also inform 
the communications and logistical aspects of member jurisdictions' education and enforcement programs. 

Post-program survey results show that participating member jurisdictions found the program beneficial, 
complementing their respective education and enforcement programs. To provide continued support in 
implementing the updated DWCP, Metro Vancouver will offer this program in 2023 with modifications 
based on 2022 program results and feedback. 

Greater Vancouver Sewage and Drainage District 

El.1 2023 Liquid Waste Sustainability Innovation Fund Application APPROVED 

The Board approved the allocation from the Liquid Waste Sustainability Innovation Fund of $625,000 over 
two years starting in 2023 for the Hydrogen System Integration at Lulu Island Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (Phase 1) project. 

E2.1 Appointment of Deputy Sewage Control Manager and Enforcement Officers 

Recent changes in staff have resulted in a need to update enforcement officer appointments. 

The Board : 

• pursuant to the GVS&DD Sewer Use Bylaw and the Environmental Management Act: 

APPROVED 

o appointed Metro Vancouver employee Riley Sziklai as a deputy sewage control manager 
o rescinded the appointments of former Metro Vancouver employees Doreen Cheng, 

Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and Peter Hagens as officers 

8 



metrovancouver DIN BRIEF 
45·1 s Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 m etrovan ouver.org 

o appointed Metro Vancouver employees Masi Aghbolaghy, Michael Goods, Jim Penrose, 
Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz as officers 

o appointed City of Vancouver employee Bonny Brokenshire as an officer 

• pursuant to section 28 of the Offence Act for the purpose of serving summons for alleged 
violations under the GVS&DD Sewer Use Bylaw: 

o rescinded the appointments of former Metro Vancouver employees Doreen Cheng, 
Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and Peter Hagens 

o appointed Metro Vancouver employees Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz; and 
o appointed City of Vancouver employee Bonny Brokenshire 

E2.2 Award of Contract Resulting from Request for Proposal No. 22-009: Supply and 
Installation of North Road Trunk Sewer No. 2 - Phase 2 Lougheed Highway to 
Clarke Road 

APPROVED 

The Board approved the award of a contract for an amount of $7,947,758.20 (exclusive of taxes) to 
Clearway Construction Inc., resulting from Request for Proposal No. 22-009: Supply and Installation of 
North Road Trunk Sewer No. 2 Phase 2 Lougheed Highway to Clarke Road, subject to final review by the 
Commissioner. 

E2.3 Award of Phase C3, Engineering Construction Services for RFP 14-230 for Installation 
of Gilbert Trunk Sewer No.2 Central Section 

APPROVED 

The Board approved the award of Phase C3, Engineering Construction Services, for an amount up to 
$2,997,555 (exclusive of taxes) to the Phase A and B consultant, AECOM Canada Ltd, for the Installation of 
Gilbert Trunk Sewer No.2 Central Section, subject to final review by the commissioner. 

E2.4 North Shore Wastewater Treatment Plant Project Early Works Agreement Extension APPROVED 

In January 2022, Metro Vancouver terminated its contract with Acciona Wastewater Solutions LP to 
design, construct, finance, test, and commission the North Shore Wastewater Treatment Plant for 
material breach of the Project Agreement, which it failed to remedy. 

Metro Vancouver has been working with a new construction manager, PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc. to 
develop a plan to complete the project and complete some early works construction, and a design 
consultant, AECOM, to complete the design, be the Engineer of Record, and provide quality assurance 
services post-termination. PCL and AECOM have identified significant deficiencies in Project Co's design 
and construction, and, in some cases, more extensive deficiencies than originally anticipated. As a result, a 
substantial amount of effort to-date has been focused on identifying and repairing concrete deficiencies 
on structures built by Project Co, with less focus on advancing new construction. Additionally, related 
design delays have extended the timeline for the overall completion of Phase 1. 

9 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC V5H 4J5 604-432-6200 m etrovancouve r.org 

The Board approved a change order to PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc. Pre-Construction Services and 
Early Works Agreements (PC21-457 and PC22-227) in an amount of up to $85,000,000 (exclusive of taxes), 
subject to final review by the Commissioner. 

E3.1 Appointment of Solid Waste Bylaw Enforcement Officers APPROVED 

Recent changes in staff have resulted in a need to update enforcement officer appointments. 

The Board : 

• Pursuant to the GVS&DD Municipal Solid Waste and Recyclable Material Regulatory Bylaw No. 
181, 1996 and the Environmental Management Act: 

o Rescinded the appointments of Doreen Cheng, Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and 
Peter Hagens as officers 

o Appointed Metro Vancouver employees Masi Aghbolaghy, Michael Goods, Jim Penrose, 
Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz as officers 

• Pursuant to Section 28 of the Offence Act for the purpose of serving summons for alleged 
violations under the GVS&DD Municipal Solid Waste and Recyclable Material Regulatory Bylaw 
No. 181, 1996: 

o Rescinded the appointments of Doreen Cheng, Manjit Dhillon, Marlene Fuhrmann, and 
Peter Hagens 

o Appointed Metro Vancouver employees Jeffery Schmidt and Joanne Tunkiewicz. 

Gl.1 Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Cost Apportionment 
Amendment Bylaw No. 362, 2023 - Wet Weather Pricing 

APPROVED 

At its February 24, 2023 meeting, the Board directed staff to prepare amendments to the GVS&DD Cost 
Apportionment Bylaw to incent action on excessive inflow and infiltration through wet weather based 
apportionment of GVS&DD costs. Amendments to the bylaw were been prepared in accordance with the 
key terms presented to the Board. 

The Board gave first, second and third readings to Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Cost 
Apportionment Amendment Bylaw No. 362, 2023; then passed and finally adopted said bylaw. 

11 Committee Information Items and Delegation Summaries 

The Board received information items from standing committees. 

Liquid Waste Committee - March 15, 2023 

Information Items: 

10 



metrovancouver IEF 
4:)15 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4JS 604-4 32-6200 m et rovancouve r.org 

5.2 2022 "Our Ocean Thanks You" Campaign Results 

Microfibres from laundry are one of the largest sources of micro plastics pollution in the ocean, where 
they may be harmful to aquatic life. The 2022 "Our Ocean Thanks You" campaign ran from September 12 
to October 30, asking residents to wash their laundry in cold water to reduce microfibre shedding from 
clothing. The campaign targeted parents with children under 18 and included social media, YouTube, 
digital ads, television, radio, billboards, Google AdWords, and a campaign website. The campaign 
generated 14 million impressions, 1 million video views, 2,800 clicks for more information, 125 
engagements, 3,900 website visits, and reached 911,000 residents through television and on line tactics . A 
post-campaign survey of parents showed that 29% of parents recalled seeing at least one campaign ad 
and that many were unaware of microfibre impacts prior to the campaign . The campaign will run in 2023 
with similar timing and approach, and will likely include additional creative materials . 

Zero Waste Committee - March 16, 2023 

Information Items: 

5.1 Jurisdictional Scan of Recycling Statistics and Methodologies 

Metro Vancouver is a North American leader in waste reduction and recycling, and provides transparent 
and accessible solid waste data. Metro Vancouver conducted a jurisdictional scan of recycling statistics 
reporting methodology and performance data. Only one published standard for determining recycling 
rates was found, and it applies only to residential recycling. There are no consistently utilized standard 
methodologies employed by communities. Metro Vancouver's 65% recycling rate for residential, 
commercial/institutional and construction and demolition sectors is among the highest recycling rates in 
North America. Only a small number of other communities provide comparable transparency and clarity 
in recycling data. Many major Canadian cities report only single family recycling rates. Performance 
metrics will be reviewed as part of the solid waste management plan update process, to further enhance 
progress monitoring of waste reduction and recycling, as Metro Vancouver continues to pursue initiatives 
to achieve zero waste, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and advance the circular economy. Enhancing 
metrics and increasing transparency aligns with organizational principles of equ ity, reconciliation and 
prosperity. 

5.2 Single-Use Item Reduction Regulatory Scan 

Single-use item reduction is a priority across Canada, and governments are taking action to reduce these 
items. Federal, provincial, and Metro Vancouver member jurisdictions have implemented regulatory 
measures to help reduce single-use items. The federal government will ban the distribution of certain 
single-use plastic items in Canada on December 20, 2023 . The provincial government has added a number 
of single-use items to the Recycl ing Regulation, allowing residents to include those items for recycling 
collection. The provincial government is also expected to announce province-wide single-use item 
reduction regulations this year. Five member jurisdictions have put single-use item bylaws in place, and a 
number of other member jurisdictions are considering bylaws. Metro Vancouver does not have regulatory 
authority to regulate the sale or distribution of single-use items, but the Metro Vancouver Board 
approved a harmonized approach for municipal single-use item reduction bylaws in November 2021. 
Metro Vancouver and member jurisdictions continue to work on programs and policies to reduce single
use and move toward reuse systems. 

11 



metrovancouver BOARD IN BRIEF 
4515 Centra l Blvd, Burnaby, BC VSH 4J5 604-432-6200 m etrovancouver.org 

5.3 2022 Create Memories Not Garbage Campaign Results 

During the holiday season residents often dispose of more waste than they would at any other time of 
year. The "Create Memories, Not Garbage" campaign helped to inspire residents to reduce their waste by 
giving achievable low-waste gift and wrapping ideas. A region-wide, three-phased media promotion 
delivered relevant messages for each buying and disposing stage of the holiday season. The campaign 
achieved over 25.6 million impressions between digital and traditional media tactics. Online engagement 
continues to be strong, particularly with digital banner ads that drove 48% of website visits, and Google 
Search whose most clicked content was focused on low-waste gifts. On-air radio contests were used to 
engage residents in thinking about low-waste gift-giving through encouraging them to visit the Merry 
Memory Maker app (featuring over 200 ideas), and transit advertising was reintroduced this year to 
broaden the reach of the campaign message. 

12 



To: 

From: 

~ /<$ . ~ 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Matthew Menzel, Planner 2 

REPORT 

Subject: ZONING BYLAW AMENDMENT FOR 880 WEST 15TH STREET (JADASI 
DEVELOPMENT (880 W 15TH) LTD./ GATEWAY ARCHITECTURE) 

Date: March 15, 2023 ' File No: 08-3400-20-0071/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated March 15, 2023, entitled 
"Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 
W 15th) Ltd. I Gateway Architecture)": 

THAT the application submitted by Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd./ 
Gateway Architecture, to rezone the property located at 880 West 15th Street 
from a CS-1 Zone to ·a Comprehensive Development Zone, be considered and 
no Public Hearing be1 held, in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits" be secured through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs #2239369) 

2. Architectural Plans, dated March 13, 2023 (CityDocs #2341684) 
3. Landscape Plans, dated December 12, 2022 (CityDocs #2321874) 

. 4. Advisory Design Panel Resolution, dated May 20, 2022 (CityDocs #2239968) 
· .5. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs #2210185) 

. 6. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. ·6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957" (CityDocs 
#2326008) 

7. "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958" (CityDocs #2326006) 

Document Number: 2235458 V3 



REPORT:·.zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street .(Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

SUMMARY 

This report presents a rezoning application over the subject site at 880 West 15th Street 
to permit a 5-storey rental apartment building consisting of 41 units, 4 of which would be 
mid-market rental units. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. 
Architect: Gateway Architecture 
Official Community Plan Designation: Mixed Use Level 2 (MU2) 

Existing Zoning : CS-1 (Service Commercial) 
Applicable Guidelines: N/A 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The subject site has a total size of 1,226.5 sq.m. (13,202 sq.ft.), with a frontage of 
approximately 30.5 metres (100 feet) along West 15th Street. The site slopes downward 
approximately 1.41 metres from .the north-east corner (rear boundary - lane) to south
west corner (front boundary- West 15th Street). The proposal would replace the 
existing one-storey service commercial building, currently occupied by Fountain Tire. 

. . \ 

The site is located mid-block in the 800-block of West 15th Street, between Fell Avenue 
and Marine Drive. It is within close proximity to the Marine Drive frequent transit and 
Rapid Bus routes, and within walking distance to commercia l and recreational amenities 
(employment, grocery stores, medical/pharmacy, 'banks, recreation centres and active 
transportation facilities, etc.). 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the site are described in Table 1 
below. 

North 885 West 16th CD Zone 3-storey co-op housing 

South (across 
845-879 Marine'Dr CO Zone 1-2 storey commercial 

Marine Drive) 

CS-1 (Service Commercial) 
1-storey service 

East 860 West 1 5th St commercial 

West 860 West 15th St 
CS-1 (Service Commercial) 1-storey service 

commercial 

Page 2 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

Policy Context 

The subject site is designated Mixed Use Level 2 in the Official Community Plan (OCP). 
This designation allows for a mix of commercial and residential uses with a maximum 
density of 2.5 FSR (including 0.5 bonus FSR). A maximum height of 6 storeys is 
permitted. 

Project Description 

.. The application proposes a 5-storey mixed-use building, with one level of commercial 
use, including commercial retail units at ground level , and 4 levels of secured rental 
residential units within the upper levels. Parking access is provided off the rear lane to 
the north. 

The following table provides an overview of the proposed development: 

Table 3: Development proposal overview 
Element Proposal 

Density 2.5 FSR 

Commercial Retail Total of 330 square metres (3,552 square feet) or 0.27 FSR 
Space 

Unit Mix 41 residential rental units, including: 

• 6 studio units; 

• 20 one-bed units; 

• 1 O two-bed units; and 

• 5 three-bed units (12%) . 

Mid Market Rental 4 units (10%) 

Adaptable Units 11 , Level 2 adaptable units (27%) 

Residential Amenity Indoor - 58.5 square metres (630 square feet) 

Outdoor - 21 square metres (226 square feet) 

Four of the units (10%) are proposed as mid-market units and eleven of the units (27%) 
are proposed to meet Level 2 of the Adaptable Design guidelines. All units would be 
secured through the Housing Agreement for the life of the building. 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Policy Alignment 
The proposal is consistent with 1the OCP land use designation and below OCP height 
limits for the site. The proposed density is 2.5 FSR, which is consistent with the OCP 
Mixed Use Level 2 land use designation. · · 

Page 3 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd./ 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

Located along the Marine Drive corridor, the proposal is in alignment with a number of 
OCP goals and objectives to have additional secured rental housing within proximity to 
the Marine Drive Frequent Transit Development Area and close to shops, services, 
frequent public transit and employment opportunities. 

The proposed mix of unit types meets key actions of the Housing Action Plan for mid
market rental units and family-friendly units. The proposal also exceeds the Zoning 
Bylaw minimum requirement for 25% of units to meet Level 2 Adaptable Design. The 
proposal generally addresses the Active Design Guidelines through the provision of 
indoor and outdoor amenity spaces, as well as new public gathering places. 

Built Form and Urban Design 

The proposed built form is consistent with the character of the neighbourhood. The 
proposed height at 17 metres and 5 storeys complies with the OCP and will ensure the 
building integrates with future developments on adjoining lots. The proposal establishes 
a strong street wall along West 15th Street, with a reasonable setback to the rear 
laneway to establish suitable building separation to the existing residential uses to the 
north . 

Extensive glazing treatments within the design of ground floor retail and commercial 
uses will activate West 15th Street and provide opportunities for outdoor dining. The 
development will also deliver a new pedestrian plaza area along the West 15th Street 
frontage, which will enhance the current space through creating a new landscaped 
public gathering spaces, as well as waiting areas for public transportation. 

A high level of laneway activation and casual surveillance is also achieved through 
positioning of a secondary pedestrian access point for residents and commercial visitors 
from the laneway and orientating the communal outdoor amenity area and upper level 
private balconies towards the laneway. 

The fa9ade of the building has been designed with appropriate articulation through the 
use of steps and recesses along the elevations, and use of attached balcony structures, 
which work to break up the form of the building and reduce the perceived bulk. The 
proposed development has also provided suitable landscaping treatments within the 
buildings design that will soften the visual impacts of the built form. 

Proposed Zoning Changes 

The proposed Comprehensive Development Zone will be based off of the General 
Commercial C-2 zone, consistent with the proposed use types and recent developments 
within proximity to the site , including at 850-858 Marine Drive (CD-571) and 818-858 
West 15th Street (CD-745). To allow the massing, the proposed bylaw would include 
the following modifications to the C-2 zone base: 

Rage 4 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street {Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd./ 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

Table 4. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes 

BASE C-2 ZONE PROPOSED CD-749 ZONE 
Permitted Retail-Service Group 1 Retail-Service Group 1 
Principal Uses Accessory Residential and Parking Accessory Residential Uses 

Uses (permitted on the second storey and 
I above) I 

Accessory ParkinQ Uses 
Density 2.6 FSR 2.5 FSR (in accordance with OCP) 
Maximum 
Lot Coverage 70 percent 85 percent 
Maximum 
Height - 12.19 metres ( 40 feet) 5 storeys ·and 17 metres (in 
Maximum accordance with OCP) 
Siting . 6.096 metres (20 feet) from the Rear Lot Line (Laneway): 

I Rear Lot Line • to wall -4.5m (14.75 feet); and 

• to balcony - 3.0m (9.84 feet) . 
Building Width Maximum 30.48 metres (100 feet) Waived 
& Length above second storey 

Lot Coverage 

The application seeks a minor variation to the Lot Coverage requirements set for the C-
2 zone, specifically being 70%. The application proposes a Lot Coverage of 85%. 

The building has been designed with a commercial podium level, which is appropriate 
given the site's Mixed Use Level 2 land use designation in the OCP. The proposed lot 
coverage at the ground level is required in order to meet operational functions of the 
building, including for example vehicle and bicycle parking, loading and garbage 
storage/staging, and to establish active commercial retail units along the full frontage of 
the West 15th Street. The proposed Lot Coverage is therefore determined to result in an 
appropriate form and intensity for the mixed use location. 

It is also important to note that the lot coverage of the upper levels of the building (i.e. 2-
5) reduces to approximately 57%. 

Furthermore, the site has also been designed with appropriate landscaping treatments 
within the podium level to soften the built form elements and enhance amenity for 
residents. The applicant has also agreed to revitalize the front boulevard along the West 
15th Street frontage, which will introduce approximately 16 new trees within this area. 
These streetscape upgrades will ensure the development positively contributes to the 
streetscape character, and reduces visual impacts of the development. 

Rear Lot Line Setback 

The proposed development will result in a variation to the siting requirements for the C-
2. zone, .specifically from the-rear lot line, being the northern ~oundary adjacent to the 
lanew13y. 

Page 5 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. I 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

The proposed development results in the following minimum setbacks on the existing 
northern boundary (rear lot line): 

• to wall - 4.5 m (14.75 feet); and 
• to balcony - 3.0 m (9.84 feet). 

The proposed variation is considered appropriate, given that the development has been 
designed with a building height of 5 storeys, which is less than the 6 storey limit 
imposed by the OCP. 

The minor reduction in the rear boundary setback will have minimal impacts with 
respect to overshadowing of adjoining dwellings and will ensure that residents achieve 
an adequate level of access to sunlight and prevailing breezes. The proposal will 
achieve a minimum building separation of approximately 13 metres from the nearby 
residential use at 885 West 16th Street. Furthermore, the proposed development will 
not result in any ·additional overlooking impacts, compared to a compliant building under 
the C-2 Zone. 

Building Width and Length 

The proposed developm~nt will result in a minor variation to the building width and 
length requirements set for the C-2 zone, specifically being 30.48 m (100 ft). The 
proposed development.results in a maximum building width of 30.9 m (101.4 ft) above 
the podium level. 

Despite not.meeting the relevant building width and length requirement, the proposed 
elevations :have been designed with appropriate articulation along the length of the 
building, including steps 'in the building line, and inclusion of recessed balconies. The 
building also adopts a contemporary design, which utilizes a variety of fa9ade materials. 
These built form elements appropriately break up the form of the building and reduce 
the perceived building bulk, despite the minor variance to building length and width. 

The building width and length standards are regularly varied in individual 
Comprehensive Development Zones to ensure a functional built form outcome is 
established in mixed use areas and similar building widths and lengths have been 
permitted in a number of recent projects in the Marine Drive area. 

Parking, Loading and Transportation 

The site is located in the Marine Drive Frequent Transit Development Area, 
approximately 15m from a Local Bus Stop and 130m to the closest RapidBus stop. 

The application proposes vehicle access to the underground parkade from the northern 
laneway. One loading bay and 6 surface commercial parking spaces (including one 
disability space) are also provided adjacent to the lane. The loading bay will ensure that 
all commercial and residential loading would be undertaken on-site and would not 
impact the functionality of the road network. 

Page 6 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

Overall, the application meets the parking and loading requirements of the Zoning 
Bylaw. The relevant statistics are provided in Table 5. 

Table 5: Proposed Vehicle and Bicycle Parking 

Car Parking Total of 32 spaces, comprised of: 

· · • 21 Resident parking spaces (including 3 accessibility spaces); 

o 0.6 spaces per unit; 

- • 4 Residential Visitor spaces (including one disability space); and 

• 7 commercial spaces (including one disability space). 

Bicycle Parking Residential: 

• Secure -62 spaces; 

• Short Term - 6 spaces. 

Note: 

• Two of the 62 secure spaces have been provided for cargo 
bikes. 

Commercial: 

• Secure - 2 spaces; 

• Short Term - 3 spaces. 

Loading Spaces One at-grade loading bays. 

Off-Site Works and Infrastructure Upgrades 

The proposed development will provide appropriate off-site streetscape upgrades 
consistent with the Subdivision and Development Control Bylaw. This includes the 
reconstruction of the frontages along West 15th Street and Marine Drive with the 
installation of new sidewalk, curb and gutter, street trees, street lighting, road paving , 
and a new bus shelter. The development will also deliver a 0.6 metre dedication along 
the north property line in order to expand the width of the lane to current City standards 
(6.096 metres (20 feet))_. 

In addition to the bylaw required works, the development will design and construct a 
public plaza adjacent to the site, and also provide a $50,000.00 financial contribution for 
the future upgrade of sanitary sewer infrastructure in the local catchment area ..2. which 
is currently undersized. 

These requirements will be secured through a Servicing Agreement with the City. 

Relocation of Existing Retail and Service Tenant 

· To minimize impacts ,on the existing commercial tenant, the applica·nt has been in 
regular communication and coordinating an end of lease date that ·allows the time to find 
a suitable alternative location in North Vancouver. The applicant also will continue to 

Page 7 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

provide project updates of key milestones to tenants as the project progresses in the 
municipal development application process. 

The applicant continues to communicate regularly with the current tenant and both 
parties have established a good working relationship and are committed to providing 
maximum flexibility to find a suitable location and seamless transition moving locations 
with minimal business disruption. 

Density Bonus and Community Benefits 

The City's Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the OCP, 
allows for density bonuses beyond 2.0 FSR in the Mixed Use Level 2 designation, up to 
a maximum of 2.5 FSR. 

The policy provides a number of community benefits options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted. The community benefit offered by this proposal is an increase of the City's 
rental housing stock by 41 units, 4 of which will be mid-market rental units, secured for 
the life of the building through a Housing Agreement with the City. 

In addition to secured market and mid-market rental units, staff are seeking Council 
direction to secure the following items as conditions of this rezoning : 

• Upgrades to public plaza within City-owned boulevard fronting the site; 
• $50,000 contribution for sanitary sewer main upgrades. 

Legal Agreements 

Should Council support this rezoning, the following legal agreements will be prepared 
prior to final adoption: 

• Deyelopment Covenant; 
• Housing Agreement; 
• Servicing Agreement; 
• Community Good Neighbour Agreement; 
• Crane Swing and Shoring Agreement; 
• Flooding Covenant; and 
• Community Energy Agreement. 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel (ADP) on April 20, 2022. 
The Panel recommended approval of the proposal subject to addressing the following 
issues to the satisfaction of staff: 

. • further understanding and development of how to ex~cute landscaping, and 
address concerns relating to pattern/pavement adjacencies relative to 
development and phasing of the plaza; 

Page 8 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd./ 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

• clear and strong support by panel for public art in the plaza; 
• design development to address CPTED access issues from adjacent 

buildings to residential levels; 
• concern from panel around building setbacks and future development on 

adjacent sites; and 
• design development of passive design elements as project advances through 

the development phases; 

Revised designs were subsequenUy submitted that address the above concerns to the 
satisfaction of staff. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A Developer's Information Session (DIS) was held on July 10, 2022 and was attended 
by two people. Two comment forms were submitted following the DIS. All of the 
comment forms received were opposed the project. 

One email was received outside of the DIS process, providing conditional support for 
the proposal. 

The main reasons for support were: 
• Appearance of the building . 

The main concerns were: 
• Removal of the mature trees from the plaza and potential loss of animal habitat; 
• Location and size of the project; 
• Potential increase in activity in the lane; 
• The amount of car parking ; and 
• Integrating energy efficiency measures. 

A summary of the public consultation , as prepared by the applicant, is available in 
Attachment #7. 

Staff Response 

It is important to note that the current site does not contain any existing vegetation. In 
coordination with staff, it was agreed that the existing cherry trees within the front City
owned boulevard will be replaced with new larger trees, which will have access to 
enhanced soils conditions and irrigation to ensure long term health. One existing street 
tree will be retained . The proposal will see a significant increase in the number of trees 
provided within the front boulevard, from 3 to approximately 17 new trees, resulting in a 
significant improvement to the existing boulevard condition. 

' 1 I 

PROCESS WHEN NO PUBLIC HEARING HELD 
-. ·, 

The Locaf'Government Act :assumes no Public Hearing is held for proposed zoning 
bylaw amendments if the bylaw is consistent with the OCP. A local government must . · 
pass a resolution if it wishes to hold a public hearing. 

Page 9 of 10 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 880 West 15th Street (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd./ 
Gateway Architecture) 
Date: March 15, 2023 

Given the proposal's consistency with the OCP, and minimal feedback from the public 
during the consultation period , staff recommend that no public hearing be held for this 
application. 

Should ·Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing, the first active clause in 
the resolution should be amended to read as follows : 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957" 
(Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th 

Street, CD-759) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

THAT "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958" (Jadasi Development (880 W 
15th) Ltd./ Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered and referred to the same Public Hearing; 

I 

CONCLUSION 

This proposal is in alignment with goals and objectives of the OCP and Council 
Strategic Plan to intensify residential development within the Marine Drive Frequent 
Transit Development Area, and increase rental and mid-market units in the City. The 
project wi ll also contribute to provision of new public gathering spaces along Marine 
Drive. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Matthew Menzel 
Planner 2 

Page 10 of 10 



Marine Dr

Ha
ne

s 
Av

e

W 15th St

W 16th St W 16th St

8
9

4

8
3

5

8 8 5

8
4

5

9
2

0

8
2

7

8 5 5

8
8

0

8 5 7

9
0

6

8
9

0

9
0

1

8 6 0 8 1 8

8
2

9

Context Map: PLN2021-00026 - 880 West 15th Street Subject Site
Legal_Parcels~1!Y 

vancouver 

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 1�



,---------, ~~ -_ -_ ~~ • m 
I I I 1 1 ::=::::==::= I =:=:::=::::::::1 111 ,,,,,;.,,,,; 

I I I I 

I I 

I 111 II 
I I I I 

--~ 

I 

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 2�



Av
e

Ha
ne

s 
Av

e

Marine Dr

W 15th St
W 15th St

Marine Dr

M

W 16th St W 16th St W 16th St W 16th St W 16th St

8
8

0
 W

1
5

t
h

 S
t

9
0

6
M

a
r

in
e

 D
r

9
2

0
M

a
r

in
e

 D
r

8 6 0 - 8 6 4  W
1 5 t h  S t

8
2

9
 W

1
5

t
h

 S
t

8
3

5
 W

1
5

t
h

 S
t

8 5 5  W
1 6 t h  S t

8 5 0 - 8 5 8  M a r i n e
D r , 8 4 9 - 8 5 7
W  1 5 t h  S t

8
1

9
-8

2
3

 W
1

5
t

h
 S

t

9
0

1
-9

0
7

 W
1

6
t

h
 S

t

8 8 5  W
1 6 t h  S t

8
9

0
 W

1
5

t
h

 S
t

8 1 8 - 8 5 8  W
1 5 t h  S t

8
2

7
 W

1
6

t
h

 S
t

8
9

4
M

a
r

in
e

 D
r

8
4

5
 W

1
5

t
h

 S
t

-~-::::-.:.:-

I"'"~ : I!:' 
• =-· ---· . ,=-==· • =-o!::i' •=--· J :==:· .• 1---~· I-=-~ n !'.. •= ~u. ,. !~ •==-• H It •=-• o::=-· •-·-••-----=-- --'-=-' -·-

--::;- ............ .. . - . . " .-:. ;: 
~ = . . 

s:1..ty 
$clledule A 

Land Use 
....... Okoae-..,.. ...... 

I 
I 

11 II 
I I 11 

--~ 

I 



0 

1-

0 - --0 

0 

I 111 II 
I I I I 

0 - -

0 ---~ 

6 6 6 6 



TD=15m FROM CURB 
TO ENTRANCE

FIRE TRUCK ACCESS 
VIA MARINE DRIVE

ACCESS TO UPPER 
FLOORS (PINK ARROWS)

ACCESS TO PARKADE 
AND SPRINKLER ROOM 
(ORANGE ARROW)

22.14 m 

REMOVABLE BOLLARDS

SECOND TRUCK CAN 
PARK HERE NEXT TO 
HYDRANT

PARK MAINTANANCE TO 
ENSURE 5M OVERHEAD 
CLEARANCE ON BOTH CURB 
ACCESS

TD~21.3M <45M FROM HYDRANT 
TO PRINCIPAL ENTRY.  
FIRE HYDRANT LOCATED AT 
W15TH STREET CORNER WITH 
MARINE DRIVE





1-

--· ~ 
t 
~ 

l l 
f--,r--+-->r--+n-~ 

, ~ __ : ___ t:_j- ----
--: -- ------ - ---

==~=-so 

6 6 6 

FOf'INGIN!IWIIWMlll12'Dl5'ealflllfflti 

~ • lllg;aWl!ldal""-107•T 

Ctll.-,0•1(1gjWt6ot(!Mtt1107'• "' 

~Dt,o,-Wllh~ 

$randad~•715," --, ............ 

T .. 
It;,· , 

J 
" l 

t 
. I -r . 

~-
I 

I 111 II 
+ I I I I 

--~ 

I 

















• 
g 

I 111 II 
' I ' •, 

--, 

I 



• --



l 

-------------t-------.-~--------,---1 

t 

t 

-------------t------------------,---1 
----q-"JiE~~"ii'i'"""'"~ '...,__..ftii"i'Fo""""""ltTI - - ~ @ 

V · I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

__ L_ 

I 
I 
I 

~ -- ·- ··-·- -~ 

L__ 

I 

I 111 II 
I I I I 

--~ 

I 



---==F __ _ --

,----i----------- 7 I 

! ' 

111 11 
I I II 'I 

'-,-,-

I 



I 

1 

-
~ 

-

. I II I 11 
II • II 

f--11 

I 

-
_J 



&- ----&- ----·· ----- L - (_ 
I I 

&-·----

&-·----

9-·----

&-·---- -

I 
I 

&- ---- --· i-----
9-- ----&- - f-----

1 

&-·----

9-·----

&-·----

&-·----

&-·---- . 

I I - ....--.----,.---.. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• I 111 II 
• I I I I 

--~ 

I 



9--- -- -- - -_l_-

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 111 II 
• I II I I 

-~ 

I 

_J 



LIMITING DISTANCE CALCULATION 

IJN'llmttTmCl'OlllilmUMm 
fQIAAII[ CDMIWltML'fllM1. ll'IUNAIIII011'1110UG/10VT 

caow,lll'l'!SKlfljJo«wiu;QU 

Ulffll0tint.DCIP't.NJllllll...n 

AtU:M' ~ AWM'MII_ ~ 

MU.INA lMX..,,_ MQ.N/JIA 

~-Jl:~__,!:.: , .. nn.... u.n g ~ 

"'"" 
"" 

_.,., 
1-=•

""" 

u .. n 

·-
.. I..W. 7..1\ 

"-" .Y 
.. , 

~fCffDOflNIIICla.T\ 
kllUNNCI Mitt UMITINI AllOWAIU AUOWAIU MO'Oll0 

... w ... .. , .. , 

M 
.. 

lU..11 

.... 
Wfflm'llntDOftNJIIII..-.~ 

IUIUNNCI MCI IIMfflNI .\l.lOWAIU Alll!lalAIU r0 

--- -... 
OIH-X 

w ... .., ,.,, ..... 
::-

~ .. ..... 

..122___1GM_ 
... ..... 

---... 
"' ..~ IU4 

LIMITING DISTANCE CALCULATION 

UN'IIOrlCTUloeftNll'1G:UMm 
f'111AAll[l»Ml'MTTIIEITTMlllill'IUNILIIII011'1llllUCiit:KIT 

&.-lv,,(IDlila(I 

..... 11.11 

.. .... 

I 111 II 
I I I I 

--~ 

I 



~
 .. .. , . .. "" 
.. 

• .. '• .. .. ·-
,fl 

l~l!I 
I I I 

' '-
' 

ILi 
1_J 







I 111 II 
I I I I 

--~ 

I 



Ill 
,i1 

~
E

l 
Ell 

"';::\ 
I Ell 

Ell 
t:llm

lbll 

-
~ 



I 111 II 
I I I I 

---

I 



&&- -----

&- -----

".-iiiiiiii·--~~ lW,rT Ir. - -

,,_ ____ I 

,,_ ___ __ ,._F =tr= ~ ... 
I 

&- --- --

&- --- --

·-----1~- bj 1··- ·-·- -- ·-·-· I ll .., .... ~ .......... -. H lf..w~ -.-.. ·1r· •:- ·•~•,,, 

L 

--;--

! ! ! ' ! 

I I IJ 
' . ...'. ,, 

r--,--, 

I -



I 111 II 
I I I I 

1----

I 



&- ____ Ji 

&- -----

&- -----

.. 

I I 

f-----il---~ -----
-=---=--=--=-~--=-:=-_:_~_:_-_::_-

I 
I 

• • • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

I 111 I 
I I I II 

f----

I 



l 
I 

, 
'; 

,I 
I 
" • r 

, £-. 
---

i 
.·I 
- i 
i 

7j 
[· 
1! 
d 
'I 1-
l 
11 w .. ~ li .;?_ 

.•• 

1 OF 5 -·... __ 

F 

7 -·--~ ,r 

... 
., 

.•· 
., 

! ,,. 
., 

29 

/r "' 

' -- :1 ... , ... _ 
__ , 

1-::1• 

;. . I ! . ' ,. 

, 
---... LANE ,, 

--- :.~ 

.•· 

.•• _., 

-t:....... ., 
✓-

A 
-:,:1 

....... ~.:.;~7,'ila .. ~ 

·' .. 
~ ., 

l 

_., 
., 

,, 

1 --·-

Rem. B 
.... "";:.!;~ ---••-

,.. 

Rem. B ...,:.::.:)11\ 

.•· 
WEST 15th STREET 

INSET I 

LI,1S1110 ······•-· 

-~- . 

C -·-... ,_. _,..... 

- . ·-·----:;:.:,. ~ 

~~---•- ·-·-.•~•-•~;I 5th AVENUE 



PBAWJNGUST 
I.I .II CQ.-a.. 
LI.I ~atltJl'lf,n. 
LU l,MI . ......,,._ 
LI., ..... ,.~ ... °"'I" 
Ll,t Lfoolil•~ll'Wlffl"'-" 
L i t ~, . ~ ......... ~~ 

Ll-,t t.Mt-°"""'Ot""" 
~It--"-" 

I.I .. ....,_2•~-

Ll.f ~SOl~Pla'I 

u., -=-La,1 ~~ 
IJl)L.~ .... 

MAIEBIAL LEGENP 

Key Description 

LIGHTING LEGEND 

-i PIINurWtill~IJ,,;lll 

0 
........ _ 

I St1'9tt Uc,lfr,g byCMI R••r 

~ --11'>-

GRADING+ DRAINAGE 

+801Clrnm -G-•18GICl,nm hc.,polateo~~ 

+FGIOffl"B A,lilhlclGtade 

+T091omm TopotS.t, 

• TSIOnun fopotS~r 

+T810fflrn TopdS.M:h 

• TW10mm TopofW.I 

PLANT UST 
TU.ES 

'Peet rutrum 'Armstrong 

Prun1J1 X yadoerw.s 'Akebcno' 

SHRUBS 

Sym ""' aotenlc:CIINoffl• 

Ag 86 Am&eo x 'Gt'Ord's pjeoso.nJ Whlle' 

Bm •• &l~s nicrophyta 'Green Beauty' 

Ow ,. 8'no.1, rrietof;l~ 'Winfo, Gom' 

Ck •• Comu, s.ericea 'Kelsityf 

"' 
,., Lonicero Pile01o 

Mn 12 Mohonlo nervoso 
Sg 17 Setiedoge,I 

Vo 171 \bcchk.m oYOtvm ihunderbi'd" 

GIOUNOCOYflS, GlASSD , rfAH,$ & VIN.f.S 

Sym ""' kitonlcol Noffl• 

ol 16 Aq<Aegk>F"'"'°"' 
0U 196 N Cl0$1(Jl'.)i¥<>S uvo-otsi 

Q 70 CoroxstlpolO 

es 109 81cocaneo 

"" ,OS MOhonlo rcpons 

pm s Polyslichum muritum 

,r 28 ~~- lvlgldo ~tum'>' 

"' Sl Seoum x 'Plr.#ple Emperor' 

LANDSCAPE NOTES 
Mwoortlt'Ol"'NIOl....-,:1,._.~°'ov-..dln ... ~!dllorlol ... C~ 

~s~a 
~dlaandialalledcorJdMrctm.cH~a::oon:Jr.,g.lohc.o,,odm~ 

SIOl'M:kln:ICUl'Wlfdllot\ForCOl"l..,_CQ:.-SOl'Vll..,._.c:ib'W_rolt.01~lnh 

--Akabono Yoohlno C>....y 

PlnO-: 

Grorcfs Pleosont Whlle AzoJeo 

Utttehof&ox:wood 

Wln1orGom8oX'M:IOd 

·-7cmcoL 

7cm cot 

6cmccL 

7cmcoL 

--'2 pot / 600nvn O.C. 

13 pot 1 lMmrn o_c. 
•2 l)Ot / 4SOmrl'I o.c. 

IIRD 

Kebeiy's Dwaf ti:ed-O!lef 0ogwooo 13 pot/ 760fTY'n O .C. B 

Pr1Vel hOneysoctla 11 pot 1600mm O.C. 

LOt'lgleof Mohonlo # I pot 1600mm O.C. 

Doky bosl'I 12 pol/ 760mm O.C. 

lhunde~ fvorg,een Hvcldeberry #2 pot/ 760mm O.C. 

Redcwmblne -S0wbecl<Sedgo 

Sprt'QHootti 

CrooJ)ln,gMOl'lotllo 

Hord Shield Fem 

Gold#vrm Sleet. fyod SusO'\ 

lvplc Emperor Stoneerop 

BIRD FRIENDLY DESIGN STRATEGY 

Sl•/tPOC.lng 

#2pol/"50mm0.C. 

#\Pol/"50mm0.C. 6 

II pol/ -<S0mm O.C. 

11 pol I 00nm O.C. 

I I pol / 450mm 0.C. B 

12 pot/ 450nvn O .C. 

112 pot/ 4S()MM o.c. 6 

II pol I l00mm 0.C. 

...«ICIIC~OHlgnmdlJbll..i.dlor,.mwt11ca.,_IXMK~dallgr.,_~~~lo 

ll,.ppatlheM~Ot1ot~'Md~Sllct.Q'f08191~.UIYlffdf'kr,!ng._.ovmle.r,ol 

IIP(l\ft,l'olliQtfO-Od9nlltyf1Cal)No'I\Mdrdlll'9dar,o.,.bNf'l~IOll..qMll"l-l'GCl:!ol 

PO"l_,Cll"d"'-~b' aro...,llQfn~..,ondconl~~,,,_••~ f'll;Tl,~,....~Mllc.1ldto~fflOlt111:11Cll"d~lar~M&...O.otbod~ 

lnhc,l,;nliJt.Spec"'-o#t,..._hoort•rcall1r:, • 'dcaQ)n~"-.i'dto.c.~ O'WJllowM~No~NGOl't .. ~r.clarOftd-..coc,,t~Cll"dllClbl'Ol.Mo.-. 

M.I.Sltl!l!"ll't!!Sh1311,.2rOMc:ilb!ot~«r!l.ConlMJalbNbeil..en ... plrlllfldl 

~toNICffll~QIDl>ICJSIIOl.WAI.Kl, 

J,otall.-t,!l"gOl'I .. IIMCetond.........,t'Jl"lbO'•le,,IOa!NfN~ 

/ll~O'IO~Ol'Nac.tnPOl"°"'d ... ,1.tt,oll)IIC~ln~• 

wlflha~O,~..ftttl\·~tl!OtlltworlNOOMol~olany~~ 

Ot'fflll.OIO'ff\MOtoco..c,o,r,c:yotlf$~~1'1Ql~Of'locc..oo,,ey~I. 

and~pernwww1ll,~ll\9')0d~ 

~100.po.40edt:il"Oll'Sol~"'--"""""'o,, ... dio"~ 

n-.w.c,:,b~Wft-.o"Clir.ldGllorl-.ol0-1'1~~ ... ftlgollon,-.UU..,.ofllC 

t . ~-alllaltpoll b DlttrvcJllld""""o~ellkW',cylll'gotb,~ 

IQ. N~"'°"'9CIOMI~~~ 

1 1 Ao-~~pbf>broolpo!ral'G.-NMllld&. .... benflnedt,y,alKttc.dcorani.,,111 

_,.ll'allde"'~ol~rt,o11,0'0¥bed&. "IN:ilqlgr,laNIIOl)nolbC,a,ecloomblot:M -

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n -n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4•2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

Cover Sheet 

l · 1.0 

Attachment 3

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 3�



LANE 

890 15th Street West _i • 

* 

( 

s o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
Overall Site Plan 

l · 1.1 



_J • 
Garbage& 
Recycflng Bin 

Drinking Fountain 
to be CNV Standard Platlonn Decking 

Misting station 
Detennined at BP 

Wood sl.nc11 with Backrest 

F,xeJ.Jn-place Tobias 

Bike Racks & cargo bikes 
To City Standard 

Existing Drive road 
Ref8f to Clvft Drawing 

Secondary Fire Access 
RefBf to Civfl Drawing 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

Level 1 - Materials Plan 

l· 1.2 



J 
LANE 

• 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
Level 1 -
Landscape Plant Design 

l· 1. 3 



LANE 

• 

Existing D~veway 
line 

J 

( 

S 0.C.12,2) 
, .... n .,, 
1 p;;o,,.74 . 2.1 

1<»..: -

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

'"'"' --
Level 1 -
Landscape Interim Plan 

l · 1. 4 



LANE 

--- --- '· 

a 

PLANT LIST 

SM>b o 

TIEES 

Q-----"" D-. 
~. 

""' "" 
Ag 86 

6m " 6w 50 

Cl< 102 

LP 133 

Sg 17 

Vo 170 

GIOUNDCOVHS, GRASSES, f!lNS & VINES 

""' "" 
196 

C, 70 

es 92 

Mt 169 

pm 

rl 63 

so 10,4 

--· 

--· Amaea X 'Gtads Plco:sall White' 

....,, mlo-oph,00 'Gleen lle<>v'Y' 

8'..ocus rnlaoph)lo ~t« Gem' 

Comus M!trlceo 'leel,o.,., 

Lonk:crc ~to 

Senecioge,1 

Voeciium ovorvm ThLl'ldarti'd 

--· Atcloslaphyios uv<H.OI 

Cotelt stlpo1a 

Erioo comeo 

Motlonlo tt,pens 

POfyslichum m..inltum 

Rudbed:lo f~ 'Goldstvrm' 

Seel.Im x 'Pvr;Me EmP8for' 

c:ommo.-
Girorcfs Pleasant Whlto Aloleo 

Ultll!lleol Boxwood 

Wlnlet Gem 6oJ<wood 

Sb.e/SPOd111 

7cmcol. 

7cmcol. 

6cmcol. 

7cmcol. 

12 pol / 600mm O.C. 

13 pol / 60()nm O.C. 

12 pot I '450mm O.C. 

ICebey', Owart Red-OSM!II' Dogwood 13 pot 1760mm O.C. 

•1 po1/600rnm O,C. 

Odsy bu,h f2 poJ/ 760mm o.c. 
Thundetbi'd Evergreen 1-t.lcldebeffy #2 po1/ 760rm't o.c. 

Beab<ny 

Sawbeo\ Sedge 

Spring Heolh 

O'eeclng Mohonb 

HcrdS"'6kt Fl!!rn 

Goldslurm 61cdt Eyed Suson 

PvrpleEm""'°'SI\Oneaop 

s.1t•/ll)Od119 

# 1 Pot / 450mm O .C . 

11 pol / '50mm O.C. 

11 pol / '50mm O.C. 

#1 pol/-'&)mmO.C . 

#2 pol/ '50mm Q.c. 
12 pol / '50mm O.C. 

#1 pol / 30Clrnm0.C. 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~ .2'4• 2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
Level 1 -
Landscape Interim Plant Plan 

l · 1.5 



LANE 

.r,,,,.,,, rr--.....:C"-'"...;~:..'4_"'71~=="='=~"===="=''if'''~·=--....!"c..'"'_"_-::::r---,... 

2_11 1 • I 

(5', •(it~ 

= ~ ===== 
S o.c.,, .22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n • n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

- t, 121 

Level 1 -
Drainage Plan 

l · 1.6 



LANE 

Building-mounted privacy screen 
c/w Maintenance gate 

S 0.C.12,2) 
, .... n .,, 
I p;;o,,.74 . 2.1 

1<»..: -

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

- l i12' 

Level 2 - Site Plan 

l· 1. 7 



LANE 

S 0.C.12,2) 
, .... n .,, 
I p;;o,,.74 . 2.1 

1<»..: -

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
Level 2 - Planting Plan 

l· 1. 8 



/ 

Soil Volume Plan 

Provide a minimum of 25 cubic mete<s of soil per tree 
Provide lrrlgotion system for oil off-site londscoping and street trees 

- Natural son 900mm On Grode 

- Cells Soil 900mm On Grode 

Strvcturol Soi 900 mm On Grode 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n • n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
Overall Soil Volume Plan 

l · 1.9 



Sidewolk Plonl ing oreo 

A Main entrance lhrou h planting area 
TI-:- Scale: 1 :50 

Cuslom me<oic paving mom by plozo 

8 Outdoor amenl area and ubffc art laxa 
U.- Scale: 1 :50 

Tree c:,otc 
•TO be North \\lnoc.ouver Clly SfOndad 

I 
Slvo cch. ~etcr 10 CM Orowfng 

Hordsurfoce Sidewalk Lobby entry 

Hordsurfoce I Sidewalk 

. ' 
Treiegmle 
•To be North Vonoc:ouvEJ" Qty Slaidord 

I 
savo ceb. ~erer to Civil Drowlng 

I 

Sodoloreo 

C Boulevard lanfln and sidewalk 
TI-:- Scale: 1 :50 

l Plonter 
1 

(o\ Park.ode entrance 
~ Scale: 1:50 

~• Driveway 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4•2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

Landscape Section 

l· 2.1 



Morine drive 

6us Shttam v,,1th iNillefed' seating 

1. To be Sort, Voncouve, Stondord 

Sidewalk 

E Bus sheller and lantln area 
U.- Scale: 1 :50 

@ Corner plazas 
TI": Scale: 1:100 

Planting area 

Hord surface Sidewall< L Social area I 
1 'i' 

F Outdoor amenl area and ab acent urban s ace 
If.2 Scale: 1 :50 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~ .2'4• 2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

- , .. 

Landscape Section 

l· 2.2 



10,,_C,,, __ . ~---"-----,..,. ., _______ ..,___ 'IC<.--~ • M------1 1'9•1'-- _ __, __ _ .. .=::-==~==------' ---~-o-o-•-----0,,,,,-. ........ 

, __ 
----~-----~ ~~T;t: ==---~*
-• .. c...-• ------- --•PL .,. -·---- -· 1-..ar-•-. 
_, 

.. .,_o.. l 

@ TIN Planllng Grado 
1 ScaJo: NTS 

-1_,..J,;,.111.,,.,~cn.,_,.,..pi,Wlooa.~'-<!lbojl 

~'ill"li"""''""' .. 2.WP-.IIOINIJl.o"9d..bponiion.lolnhlM~Jgo..c ).so-v!CClftl!alJolo.-ltO.C..,,_.,t __ ~ 

@ CIP Conao_, Pa-Mg on Slob 
Scale: 1:20 

fvsi,lcal~JMIII 
~,_.......,v,.,aoea..-~~ 
ufoc•-~IDlnt....alMOL 
l'l'O,,ld,tfH,o,_,,,~hhal~Oflorw.~po.tno 
-la~,;,l,;,;,,,,p,,looo,~1-
~~IObtlpo-'Oeabto""'-"~°"'° 
()111 ....... ~0I~ ..... 

:::=:-::a.~~..::.."'::2.=:E =-=~==:::;;:::-----... ·--
==::.~;::=-:;:::::r~r:-~= 

~1 
-•---- ------

@ Troo P1anllng G<-po,Cltyal Nor1h """"°"" 
L 1.1 Sc.ale: NTS _, 

0uta11,v_.ao~IO ........ 
pO~----lO)'(lolfl'lcwia. 
N_,_toNo.,t ..... heo..c,. .. sio-
kJw .............. - ............ "-IIMI~,...,..,_._._.,. 
... N ...... -. 

@ Sl11bo1 Planllng on Grade 
1 Scalo:1 :20 

~~$1Qt;,o 

~~C,,owl-

~1/~DOoldon ----
Al WOf11: lelow Rhrdo1h 
lob.otspeciiedbvAfctia.c:I 
Oftd/Ot~COM411onti 

NOTES: 

TMUICl'IOft 
1t-.•r~~on 
Alti!eloll'IO'I 
l%,h1WolghtVolcalQfcn~bV 
$11\1cll,glj0tl 
,f'C)(l/r0oatC:1U1110ralnR«tori 
.-.«::hllac:luol aoor Affiembtr 

Coc'lcitei,.pitm!wwot<nl'.Joel' 
- OICHtoelue lltefo< kl sh.lel\aol !Of~~, 

:s.i:w;u,a~nto~ot ---... wab.-... mr\. 0...-fllflCOI - I 
fl'l'DYlda r a r mockout 
..,,.,,,~.vo.c.tl',PJ 

@ -r,p;cal CIP Conael8 Piner on Slab 
L 1.t Scale: 1:20 

M Wo,t, lldow 0rtMn 
j odi;tot»OI~ 
byArctllM:IOlld 
Er,vetope Cor&aonh 

COI.OURE0 CONCRETE TO BE DONE WITH N».11Xl\JRE 
"CHARCOIIL" L.M. SCOFIELD COMPANY C-24 OR CITY APPROVED 
EQUIVALENT 

C'i"-i Pollo ConCf8lo l'Mng S-on Slab 
~ Scal-o: 1:20 ·-----------

Scale: 1:20 
@ Slandard Coloured Conaele Oelal1 per Cl,y ol North VanocM,r Oly 

--150nW'n DEEP lW MINUS CRUSttED COMPACT£D GRAVEL 

S 0.C.12,2) t.i-orvi~ 

, .... n • n 1111.•••:Hor #0" 
I ~.2-4 •2.1 -...dft:I'~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

-
.andscape Detail 

l· 3. 1 



~ 
~ . -· • ---

~-Cll_j,W,. 

- y _,__ 

~~ 
~~ , ---------

-----
~un'bl~llltiA&. 

- -- - Ctty-

@ Standwo U1er A""""""" Deals.,.. City al Nori, Vancx,ver 
, Salle: 1:20 

@ Abbo,.,0'11,Ctas&Jc Slandanl So~•• 
L , . , Scale: NTS 

-s=-....z:==-
r.==---~ ,i1 :,..-:.

; ~::=· ~ ' =-= .., ==£..;'= 

~ ==-=-
~,-,...=='-'-~I 

i 
i 
J 

•• ABBOTSFORD -• CONCREIE PRODUC1S 

•• ·• 
- • 

t"""9d't, , ...... 112,-,. 
Wlrdlk•1tit•mUmnL 
,.._,J~ ,.,_,., 
n.c:~11,,'•'°""" 

S o.c.,,.22 t9'-olv!'~ 
, .... n . n 1111. .. ,:uor #0" 

I ~.2'4 •2.1 -...dft:lr~ 

1<»..: I":'"--

880 west 15th street 
North Vancouver 

Jodosi Development 

_.., 

Landscape Detail 

l· 3. 2 



 
 

Document Number: 2182709-v1 

May 20, 2022 
 
VIA EMAIL: jamie@jadasi.ca  
 
Jamie da Silva, Jadasi Development 
5454 Cortez Crescent 
North Vancouver, BC V7R 4R4 
 
Dear Mr. da Silva: 
 
Re: 880 West 15th Street (Rezoning Application) 
 
This will confirm that at their meeting on April 20, 2022, the Advisory Design Panel reviewed the 
above submission and endorsed the following resolution: 

 
“THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the rezoning application for 880 West 
15th Street and recommends approval subject to addressing the following issues to the 
satisfaction of the Development Planner: 

 
 further understanding and development of how to execute landscaping, and address 

concerns relating to pattern/pavement adjacencies relative to development and 
phasing of the plaza;  

 clear and strong support by panel for public art in the plaza; 
 design development to address CPTED access issues from adjacent buildings to 

residential levels;  
 concern from panel around building setbacks and future development on adjacent 

sites; and 
 design development of passive design elements as project advances through the 

development phases; 
 

AND THAT the Panel wishes to thank the applicant for their presentation.” 
 
The recommendations of the Advisory Design Panel pertain only to site-specific design and site 
planning considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff approval or 
rejection of this project. 

 
Yours truly, 
 

 
T. Huckell 
Committee Clerk-Secretary 
 
Cc: M. Menzel, Planner 2, Planning and Development 
 M. Cox, Gateway Architecture 
 P. Kreuk, Durante Kreuk Ltd. Landscape Architecture 

~J,ty 
vancouver 

ADVISORY DESIGN PANEL 

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

141 WEST 14TH STR EE T 

NORTH VANCOUVER 

BC/ CANADA/ V7M 1 H9 

T 604 985 7761 

F 604 985 94 17 

INFO@CNV.ORG 

CNV.ORG 

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 4�



•

•
•
•

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 5�



•
•

•
•



•
•



DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSIO 
Jadas1 De 1 
Virtual lnfie 0 J>ment (880 W 15'") Ltd. and Gateway Architecture are hold~ a 
learn abo nnatton ssion where Interested members of the pubhc are invited t? 
9round fl ut our 8PPlIcatlon for 5 storey mixed-use rental residential building with 

oor commercial I ed at aeo w. 15"' Street, North vancouver. 
Public in~ .. · be 
sha ~• 18 welcome throughout the planning application process and '?8" 

le red ~~h the Applicant and City Contact at any time. For more information, 
P ~ v,s,t: https://www.cnv.org/Property-and-Development/ 
Pro1ects-and-Developments/Current-Developments/880-West-15th-Street 

How to Participate: 
Please contact the applicant in advance by 
email infoOjadasi.ca or phone (604-347-9654) 
to register for the Virtual Developer Information 
Session via Zoom. A zoom link or phone-in 
inslructions will be provided. 

Date: July 20"1, 2022 
Time: 6:00 PM - 7:30 PM 

M;chaelCox 
Gateway Architecture Inc. 

604.608.1868 
Mike@designvancouver.com 



A24 I AltTS6UFE W[O~bOAV JutYU2q?? 

Permit For Pesticide Use 
PERMIT NO. 402·0683·22·25 

mJy u dun~Q ! ,r,onths 
· July 15, 202210 May 31, 2025 

p, j tr, tment •1 lS m.iy be 

Q" 

For more Information on the permitted uses In this Pestidde Use Permit, 
please contact the permit holder listed above. 

BRITISH 
COLUMBIA 

---~ GARDEN TO TABLE 

Taming wild garlic yields 
surprising, delicious results 
LAURA MARIE NEUIIEIIT 

I -. delJ&l>ted -tly to Identify 
what I bdleve Is wUcl fldd prllc 
(t\11/um vlnttile) growing In the under
,tory of our dwarf lndt lreel. 

Th•· dim nutlv1· l11U lomu-d bultn 
m Al , boot 10 ~r t rn ol u e ~ht of con-
>ffll lonol h.vtln«k 1!,lfllc. 

t~1. I FrbnJ.vy while'! rfflO'r.)llng a p.,tch ul 
ov1•rwcno.n I ndsc.1 lnlo rmcd t~ lor a 
rri,·nd. I tiVTle acrou rn.-11 ordf"n-d dmnps 
olddlc-att-.l11bul.1tmot&Ofllnggns \\that 
Mrudcm1:w, 1tsv1brancyandtl!'n<kr I.SI> 
plencn. at n lime or Y"•lT wh'1, ~t plants 
remamrd dorman 

Cunous, I tnuuplanted th• slightly 
pungent clumps lnlo on"11"1Jon pots. and 
""' them .. 1110 under lh• sha~ nl a ll<'arb)' 
oak ttte There they remaJn,ed lor 15 months 
- slumbenng qu101Jy, lnsulatoo by lall,n 
le..wes 

I ran across thrm agam lhrt<! months a,io 

re.ichlng up through the sea ol brown detri
tus Ilk• a lamllyol brllilanl green <ea urchua. 
I wa.,. m11tl'fl. and brought the beautUul 
creatures hom • 

I transplanted them Into one our front 
garden beds, aloo1!$1de n.,ltve wild sinwber 
rlcs and perennial herbs. They d,d oot talce 
at all w 1110 transplanting. ,o I attempted 
rescu • with a toi><fres> of , •rmk:ompa.sl 

and resl0ra1Jv• cold le,u cl IOlublo 
mycorrflWII lun,tj. kdp and sea mln<nls. 
admlnl,lm,d wttldy 

Slowlybul un,tymyJIOIWlll>abi<oof 
unlcnown progmy ""'°',:ml and lboot 
1hr ,n-dcs, ?O. ~ dozm muuatu:p 
pl loc sUrl,:d <ffltri1ng hm,an,j U,,,. 
amon I dumpsnl rllrgyanddc:dd..n, 
~le~ \ Then lcndu5Ct1><1 
ppcartd a, up and lurtUllj! IOl<>nl 

h oth,r Janning llltle gn,,,n ti.ans cl 
gr• tude. I ddlghled. 

One, the po had pmduadaielul 
turn. I pulled out lewwholeslalb for._ 
lnallon AJl,r consultlng my 19:11 edillon 
ol ~'ild Pion of Canada and - 1DOft 
cumfll for ,glng guld<s. I am quite "'"' U. 
fidd pile. a.k.a. i.,g's gu1k:. il I he cornet 
ida111fial1on. 

I WU lascinaled IG a1JO &rn lhlt....,. 
wild plan! thal smdls , onions.,,. ....... 
edi~. and lhal field pl'O\ides much 
needed nounshmenl and Immune S)'llm 

loruliation durtng the cold WIDl<r 11101111a. 
wt,,n ti.le else growing. Look b lidil p. 
lie under decidUOllS °"" that let predoua. 
IUC111•1n~ sunlight strn1m down~ 
~ branches. 

field ~ IS dollc:IOUS I have decd<d ID 
u.e lhe unyclov In ol pickf,d <u<a-
ben and baby c:anou. I will tri bf 

COII/INff/ en,.. 
DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION 

Jadas, Development (880 W 15") Ud and Gateway Architecture are holding a 
Virtual lnformat,on Session where interested members of the public are IIMl8d to 
learn about our application lor a 5 storey llllxed·use rental resldenllal building 
ground floor commen:ial located at 880 W 15 Stroel, orth Varoc:olNs. 
Public input 1s welcome throughout the planning appl1C81ion pn:,cess and ca, t,e 
shared with the Appllcant and C.ty Contact al a11y time. For mon, lntnrmatlon, 
please visit. httpsJ/www.aw o,wProperty•and-OevelopmenV 
Projects-and-Developments/Cumtnt·Oevelopments/880-West 15th-Street 

How to Participate: 
Please contact the applicant ,n advance by 
em3ll lnfo01adasl.ca or phone \604-347-9654) 
to register for the V1rtunl Developer lnfonnatoon 
Session via Zoom A zoom hnk or phone Ill 

Instructions will be provld 

MIChal)Col 

Gateway~~ 
604.608-,. 

M, tJO<leS>gnVIIIICC)ll'M.CGII 





Notice of Development Proposal 
Early public comment opportunity for rezoning application at 880 West 15th Street 

Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Lid . And Gaterway Architecture are holding a Virtual Information Session 
where interested members of the public are invited to learn about our application for a 5 storey, mixed-use rental 
residential building with ground noor commercial located at 880 W. 15th Street, North Vancouver. 

Public input is welcome throughout the planning application process and can be shared with the Applicant and 
City Contact al any time (see next page for comment form) . For more information, please visit 
www.cnv.or /CurrentDevelo ments/880-West-15th-Street 

<if required> Attend the Virtual Developer Information Session 

How to Participate: Please contact applicant Jamie da Silva at 604-347-9654 or info@jadasi.ca to 
register for the virtual Development Information Session in advance. 

Date & Time: July 20th , 2022 I 6:00 PM - 7:30 PM 

Rendering of Proposal Site Map 

Applicant Contact City of North Vancouver Contact 

Michael Cox 
Gateway Architecture Inc. 
mike@designvancouver.com 
604-608-1868 

Matthew Menzel, Planner 2 
Planning & Development 
141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver 

mmenzel@cnv.org 
604-982-8337 

2158598 



Attended User Name (Original Name) Email

1 Minjun Lu
 

2 Laurie Parkinson







 

141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG   

Proposal:  To rezone the subject property from 
a Service Commercial (CS-1) Zone to a new 
Comprehensive Development 759 (CD-759) 
Zone, to permit the development of a 5-storey 
mixed-use building with 330 sq.m. of commercial 
space at grade and 41 residential rental units.
To provide written input:  All persons who 

opportunity to be heard by written or email 
submission.  All submissions must include your 
name and address
input@cnv.org, or by mail or delivered to City Hall, no later than noon on 
Monday, April 17, 2023, to ensure their availability to Council at the meeting.  
No Public Hearing will be held.
Watch the meeting online at cnv.org/LiveStreaming or in person at City 
Hall, 141 West 14th Street.  Enter City Hall from 13th Street after 5:30pm.
View the documents online at cnv.org/PublicHearings to view the proposed 
bylaws and background material.
Questions?  Matthew Menzel, Planner, mmenzel@cnv.org / 604-982-8337

PUBLIC NOTICE
Regular Council Meeting

Monday, April 17, 2023 at 6:00pm
First Reading of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8957” and

“Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 8958” – 880 West 15th Street

89
4

83
5

885

84
5

82
8

84
8

92
0

82
7

87
9

90
8

855

90
0

820

857

90
6

888

89
0

90
1

860 818

91
8922

82
9

Marine Dr

Ha
ne

s 
Av

e

W 15th St

W 16th St

88
0

880 W 15th St

S:l!Y 
vancouver 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957 Document: 2326008-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8957 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway 
Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lands currently having a civic address of 880 West 
15th Street and legally described below as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-759 (Comprehensive Development 759 Zone): 

 
PID: 011-152-206 LOT A (REFERENCE PLAN 9784) BLOCK 5 DISTRICT LOT 

265 PLAN 1406 
 

from zone CS-1. 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following Comprehensive Development  Zone to Section 1101 in numerical 
order:  

 
CD-759 Comprehensive Development 759 Zone (880 West 15th Street) 

 
In the CD-759 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the C-2 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Retail-Service Group 1 
 

(i)  Accessory Rental Apartment Residential Use;  
(ii) Accessory Home Occupation Use, subject to Sections 507(6), (7) and 

(8) of this Bylaw; 
(iii) Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
(iv) Accessory Home Office Use; 

 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957 Document: 2326008-v1 

(2) Gross Floor Area 
 
(a) Combined and in total, shall not exceed 1.6 times the Lot Area; 
 
(b) Maximum Gross Floor Area may be further increased to a maximum of 2.5 

times the Lot Area, upon entering into a Housing Agreement with the City: 
 

BASE DENSITY
OCP Schedule ‘A’ 2.0 FSR 

ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 
ADDITIONAL 

DENSITY 
CATEGORY 

DESCRIPTION 
ADDITIONAL 

(BONUS) 
DENSITY 

POLICY 
REFERENCE 

Secured Rental 
Housing 

100% rental 
housing; 10% 
mid-market 
rental units 

0.5 FSR OCP section 
2.2 

TOTAL DENSITY 2.5 FSR 
  
(3) A minimum of 10% of units shall have 3 bedrooms; 
 
(4) Lot Coverage of Principal Building shall not exceed a maximum of 85 percent; 

 
(5) Building Height: 

 
(a) The Principal Building shall not exceed a Building Height of 17 metres (69 

feet) as measured from the average Building Grades; 
 

(b) Elevator and mechanical penthouses may project beyond the defined 
height in (4)(a) by a maximum of 6.1 metres (20 feet) including elevator 
shafts and mechanical rooms; 

 
(6) Section 607 shall be varied to permit an accessory Apartment Use on the second 

Storey and above;  
 
(7) Section 611(5) Siting shall be waived and replaced with the following siting 

requirements: 
 

(a) The Principal Building shall be sited not less than: 
 

(i)  3.972 meters (13 feet) from the lane (Rear Lot Line) to the north; 
(ii)  2.38 meters (8 feet) from the lane (Rear Lot Line) to the north, to an 

unclosed balcony at the second level and above; 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957 Document: 2326008-v1 

(8) Section 611(6) Building Width and Length shall be waived. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICE 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8958 

A Bylaw to enter into a Housing Agreement (880 West 15th Street) 

WHEREAS Section 483 of the Local Government Act R.S.B.C. 2015 c.1 permits a local 
government to enter into a housing agreement for rental housing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, 

No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 880 West 
15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing Commitments). 

 
2. The Council hereby authorizes the agreement substantially in the form attached to this bylaw 

between The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver and Jadasi Development (880 W 
15th) Ltd. with respect to the lands referenced as 880 West 15th Street, “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, 
No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / 
Gateway Architecture, 880 West 15th Street, CD-759).  

 
3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are authorized to execute the Housing Agreement and 

any documents required to give effect to the Housing Agreement. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

PART 2 – TERMS OF INSTRUMENT 
 

RENTAL HOUSING AGREEMENT AND SECTION 219 COVENANT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the _______ day of ________________, 20____. 

BETWEEN: 

JADASI DEVELOPMENT (880 W 15TH) LTD.  
5454 Cortez Crescent 
North Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V7R 4R4 
 
(the “Owner”) 

AND: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local Government Act and 
having its offices at 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V7M 1H9 
 
(the “City”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. The Owner is the registered and beneficial owner of the Lands. 
 
B. The City is a municipal corporation incorporated pursuant to the Local Government Act, 

RSBC 2015, c. 1 and the Community Charter, SBC 2003, c. 26.  

C. Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 permits registration of a covenant 
in favour of a municipality in respect of the use of land or the use of a building on or to be 
erected on land, that land is or is not to be built on except in accordance with the covenant 
and that land is not to be subdivided except in accordance with the covenant. 

D. Section 483 of the Act permits a local government to, by bylaw, enter into a housing 
agreement that may include terms and conditions regarding the occupancy of the housing 
units identified in the agreement, including respecting the form of tenure of the housing 
units, the availability of the housing units to classes of persons, the administration and 
management of the housing units and the rents and lease, sale or share prices that may 
be charged. 

E. The City has adopted a bylaw authorizing this Agreement. 

F. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 219 of the 
Land Title Act and section 483 of the Act. 

 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) now paid by the City to 
the Owner and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which the 
Owner hereby acknowledges), the Owner and the City covenant each with the other as follows: 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

(a) “Act” means the Local Government Act, RSBC 2015, c.1 as amended from time 
to time; 

 
(b) “Affordable Rent" means with respect to each Mid-Market Rental Unit a rent 

payment amount equal to 10% below the “Private Apartment Average Rents” for 
the corresponding bedroom type in the City of North Vancouver as established by 
CMHC’s Housing Market Information Portal for the year the tenancy is entered 
into; 

 
(c) “Agreement” means this agreement as amended from time to time; 
 
(d) “Commencement Date” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein; 
 
(e) “Council” means the municipal council for the City of North Vancouver; 
 
(f) “CMHC” means Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation; 
 
(g) “Director, Planning and Development” means the chief administrator of the 

Department of Planning of the City and their successors in function and their 
respective nominees; 

 
(h) “Dwelling Unit” means a dwelling unit as defined in the City of North Vancouver’s 

“Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 6700” as amended from time to time; 
 
(i) “Lands” means those lands and premises legally described as: 

 
Parcel Identifier:  011-150-206 
Legal Description:  LOT A (REFERENCE PLAN 9784) BLOCK 5 DISTRICT LOT 265 

PLAN 1406 
 

(j) “Mid-Market Rental Units” means the four Dwelling Units in the Residential 
Building to be constructed on the Lands that are rented to tenants for Affordable 
Rent; 

 
(k) “Market Rental Units” means all Dwelling Units in the Residential Building other 

than the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 
(l) “Maximum Household Income” means an annual gross household income 

determined by multiplying Affordable Rent by 12 to yield the households’ annual 
housing costs, and divide by 30% (0.30) to meet the standard definition of 
affordability; 
 

(m) “Rental Purposes” means an occupancy or intended occupancy which is or would 
be governed by a tenancy agreement as defined in Section 1 of the Residential 
Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78 as amended from time to time between the Owner 
and the tenant; 

 
(n) “Rental Units” means the Market Rental Units and the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

(o) “Residential Building” means the five storey building to be constructed on the 
Lands to be used for Rental Purposes with 41 Dwelling Units, of which 37 Dwelling 
Units will be Market Rental Units and four Dwelling Units will be Mid-Market Rental 
Units; 

 
(p) “RT Act” means the Residential Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78; 

 
(q) “Rezoning Bylaw” means the rezoning bylaw applicable to the Lands described 

as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2023, No. 8957”;  
 
(r) “Section 219 Covenant” means a covenant pursuant to Section 219 of the Land 

Title Act;  
 
(s) “Tenancy Agreement” means an agreement, whether written or oral, express or 

implied, between the Owner and a tenant respecting possession or occupancy of 
a Rental Unit; and 

 
(t) “Term” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein. 

 
2. TERM 
 
2.1 This Agreement will commence upon adoption by the City’s Council of “Housing Agreement 

Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958” (Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd. / Gateway Architecture, 
880 West 15th Street, CD-759, Rental Housing Commitments) (the “Commencement 
Date”) and will continue until the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with 
sections 2.2 or 8.3(c) (the “Term”). 

 
2.2 This Agreement will terminate immediately upon the removal or destruction of the Residential 

Building provided the Residential Building is not repaired or rebuilt following the destruction 
thereof. 

 
2.3 Subject to section 7.3, upon termination of this Agreement, this Agreement will be at an end 

and of no further force and effect. 
 
3. SECTION 219 COVENANT  
 
3.1 The Owner covenants and agrees with the City as a covenant in favour of the City pursuant 

to Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 that during the Term of this 
Agreement, it being the intention and agreement of the Owner that the provisions in this 
Agreement be annexed to, and run with and be a charge upon the Lands, that 
notwithstanding the Rezoning Bylaw, the Lands will be used and built on only in strict 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that:  

(a) the Lands must not be subdivided or stratified; 

(b) the Rental Units in the Residential Building must be used for Rental Purposes only 
and all Rental Units must be owned and operated by the Owner, provided that the 
Mid-Market Rental Units may be operated by a non-profit entity engaged by the 
Owner and having expertise in non-market housing, with the approval of the 
Director, Planning and Development; and 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

(c) no Rental Unit in the Residential Building must be occupied for any purpose except 
for Rental Purposes pursuant to a Tenancy Agreement. 

3.2 The Owner further covenants and agrees with the City that the Lands and any buildings 
or structures constructed thereon including the Residential Building must be developed, 
built, and maintained in accordance with all City bylaws, regulations and guidelines as 
amended from time to time. 

3.3 Pursuant to section 219(6) of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 except for the 
negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will indemnify and 
save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs 
and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to 
by reason of or arising out of: 
(a) any act or omission, negligent or otherwise, by the Owner, or its officers, directors, 

employees, agents, contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is 
responsible; 

(b) the Owner’s default under this Agreement; and 
(c) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 
4. TENANCY RESTRICTIONS 
 
4.1 The unit mix for Rental Units in the Residential Building will be no fewer than five three-

bedroom units, 10 two-bedroom units, 20 one-bedroom units and six studio units or as 
otherwise approved in writing by the Director, Planning and Development in their discretion. 

 
4.2 The four Mid-Market Rental Units will be provided in the following unit mix: one studio unit, 

one one-bedroom unit, one two-bedroom unit, and one three-bedroom unit. The Owner may 
only change this mix with the approval in writing by the Director, Planning and Development 
with such approval to be granted in their discretion. The Owner will be entitled to determine 
the locations of the four Mid-Market Rental Units within the Residential Building. 

 
4.3 The Owner will enter into a minimum 1 year Tenancy Agreement for each of the Mid-

Market Rental Units which will convert to a month to month tenancy at the end of the 1 year 
term. If such a tenancy is ended prior to the end of the Term, the Owner must rent the Mid-
Market Rental Unit at Affordable Rent.  For greater certainty, at the end of each tenancy, 
the Mid-Market Rental Unit will continue to be rented as a Mid-Market Rental Unit at 
Affordable Rent, which obligation will be ongoing at all times during the Term. 

5. OWNER’S OBLIGATIONS 
 
5.1 Without limiting section 3.1 of this Agreement: 
 

(a) Management and administration: the management, administration, and associated 
costs with the management and administration of the Rental Units, including the 
Mid-Market Rental Units, will be borne by the Owner or its designated rental agent, 
unless otherwise approved by the City in writing and all Mid-Market Rental Units 
must be managed by one rental agent; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

(b) Compliance with Tenant Relocation Plan:  INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
 
(c) Advertisement: when the Mid-Market Rental Units first become available, the 

Owner will advertise such units for a minimum of one month on at least two 
common rental property search platforms that allow potential tenants to view 
available properties for rent in North Vancouver without payment of a fee or 
requirement for registration, and the Owner will feature the tenure restrictions set 
out in this Agreement prominently in all advertising of Mid-Market Rental Units. 
When a Mid-Market Rental Unit becomes available for a subsequent, new tenancy, 
the Owner will advertise the unit in accordance with the foregoing requirements for 
a period of at least one week; 

 
(d) Tenant Selection: the Owner will make the Mid-Market Rental Units available, 

both at the first tenancy and each subsequent tenancy, in the following order of 
priority: 

 
(i) If the Residential Building replaces an existing rental building, then tenants 

from the existing rental building on the Lands being replaced who have 
household incomes at or below the Maximum Household Income will be 
provided first right of refusal in the Mid-Market Rental Units, and have first 
priority, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this category for one 
unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents will have priority 
for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are equal in this 
regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-first-served 
basis;  

 
(ii) Households who have been displaced from redevelopment elsewhere in 

the City who have household incomes at or below the Maximum Household 
Income will have second priority, provided that if there are multiple 
applicants in this category for one unit, then applicant families with one or 
more dependents will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and 
if applicants are equal in this regard, then applications will be considered 
on a first come-first-served basis 

 
(iii) The Owner will then make any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not 

rented by tenants from the existing building on the Lands available to 
tenants with an annual household income at or below that the Maximum 
Household Income who are either current residents of the City of North 
Vancouver or who work in the City of North Vancouver and have done so 
for at least six months, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this 
category for one unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents 
will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are 
equal in this regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-
first-served basis;  

 
(iv) If there are any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not rented by tenants 

who meet the criteria in sections 5.1(d)(i) to (iii) after the expiry of the one-
month advertising period, then the Owner will make such units available to 
tenants who meet the Maximum Household Income requirement; and 
 

(v) Tenants in Mid-Market Rental Units must not have an ownership interest in 
a residential property in the City or in a neighbouring municipality which the 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

tenant could otherwise occupy and the Owner will require confirmation from 
the prospective tenant that they meet this requirement at the time of 
tenancy; 
  

(vi) In determining whether a tenant meets the Maximum Household Income 
requirements or the requirement in section 5.1(d)(v), the Owner or its rental 
agent, so long as it acts honestly and in good faith, is entitled to rely on all 
information provided by the prospective tenant and the Owner will have no 
liability if the prospective tenant intentionally or unintentionally provides any 
incorrect information. The Owner is under no obligation to monitor or 
update the financial circumstances of the tenant once the lease is signed.  

 
(e) Rent Amount and Permitted Increases: Affordable Rent for Mid-Market Rental 

Units is to be determined at the time of tenancy. Rent amounts may be 
subsequently increased below or at the permitted annual rent increase then set 
under the RT Act;  

  
(f) Compliance with applicable laws: without restricting the foregoing, the Owner will 

comply with all applicable provisions of the RT Act and any other provincial or 
municipal enactments imposing obligations on landlords in relation to residential 
tenancies; 

 
(g) Performance: the Owner will perform its obligations under this Agreement diligently 

and in good faith; 
 

(h) Information Regarding Unit Availability:  If the City establishes a register for 
availability of Mid-Market Rental Units within the City, the Owner will provide to the 
City information regarding any Mid-Market Rental Units that become available for 
rent, in a form acceptable to the Director, Planning and Development;  

 
(i) Evidence of compliance: provided that the same can be done without breaching 

the Personal Information Protection Act (as amended from time to time) the Owner 
will, on an annual basis at the time of Business License renewal and upon any 
other request by the City, supply to the City copies of any documentation in 
possession of the Owner necessary to establish compliance with the Owner’s 
obligations under this Agreement.  

 
6. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 
6.1 The City may, acting reasonably, give to the Owner a written notice (in this section 6.1, the 

“Notice”) requiring the Owner to cure a default under this Agreement within 30 days of receipt 
of the Notice. The Notice must specify the nature of the default. The Owner must act with 
diligence to correct the default within the time specified. 

 
6.2 If the default is not corrected within the time specified, the Owner will pay to the City on 

demand by the City 200 percent of the difference between current market rent, as determined 
by a third-party appraiser, and Affordable Rent for each Mid-Market Rental Unit in default for 
the default year to the end of the Term of the Agreement. The monies collected from default 
will be deposited to the City’s Affordable Housing Reserve Fund.  

 
6.3 The Owner will pay to the City on demand by the City all the City's costs of exercising its 

rights or remedies under this Agreement, on a full indemnity basis. 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

6.4 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that in case of a breach of this Agreement which is 
not fully remediable by the mere payment of money and promptly so remedied, the harm 
sustained by the City and to the public interest will be irreparable and not susceptible of 
adequate monetary compensation. 

 
6.5 Each party to this Agreement, in addition to its rights under this Agreement or at law, will be 

entitled to all equitable remedies including specific performance, injunction and declaratory 
relief, or any of them, to enforce its rights under this Agreement. 

 
6.6 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it is entering into this Agreement to benefit the 

public interest in providing housing for Rental Purposes, and that the City's rights and 
remedies under this Agreement are necessary to ensure that this purpose is carried out and 
that the City's rights and remedies under this Agreement are fair and reasonable and ought 
not to be construed as a penalty or forfeiture. 

 
6.7 No reference to nor exercise of any specific right or remedy under this Agreement or at law 

or at equity by any party will prejudice, limit or preclude that party from exercising any other 
right or remedy.  No right or remedy will be exclusive or dependent upon any other right or 
remedy, but any party, from time to time, may exercise any one or more of such rights or 
remedies independently, successively, or in combination.  The Owner acknowledges that 
specific performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise) or other equitable relief may 
be the only adequate remedy of a default by the Owner under this Agreement. 

 
7. LIABILITY 
 
7.1 Except for the negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will 

indemnify and save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, 
officers, directors, employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, 
actions, loss, damage, costs and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for 
or suffer or incur or be put to by reason of or arising out of: 

 
(a) any act or omission by the Owner, or its officers, directors, employees, agents, 

contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible; and 
 
(b) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 
7.2 Except to the extent such advice or direction is given negligently, the Owner hereby releases 

and forever discharges the City, its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns from and against all claims, demands, damages, 
actions or causes of action by reason of or arising out of advice or direction respecting the 
ownership, operation or management of the Lands for the provision of housing for Rental 
Purposes which has been or hereafter may be given to the Owner by all or any of them. 

 
7.3 The covenants of the Owner set out in sections 7.1 and 7.2 of this Agreement will survive the 

expiration or the earlier termination of this Agreement and will continue to apply to any breach 
of the Agreement and to any claims arising under this Agreement during the ownership by 
the Owner of the Lands. 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

8. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
8.1 The Owner agrees to reimburse the City for all legal costs reasonably incurred by the City for 

the preparation, execution and registration of this Agreement and notice of this Agreement 
which is required to be filed pursuant to the Local Government Act.  The Owner will bear their 
own costs, legal or otherwise, connected with the preparation, execution or registration of 
this Agreement. 

 
8.2 Nothing in this Agreement: 
 

(a) affects or limits any discretion, rights, powers, duties or obligations of the City under 
any enactment or at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of 
land; 

 
(b) affects or limits any enactment relating to the use of the Lands or any condition 

contained in any approval including any development permit concerning the 
development of the Lands; or 

 
(c) relieves the Owner from complying with any enactment, including the City's bylaws 

in relation to the use of the Lands. 
 
8.3 The Owner and the City agree that: 
 
 (a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 
 

(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, occupier or user 
of the Lands or any portion of it including the Rental Units and the Limited Common 
Property; and 

 
(c) without limiting part 2 of this Agreement, the City may at any time execute a release 

and discharge of this Agreement in respect of the Lands, without liability to anyone 
for doing so. 

 
8.4 This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and any part into which any of them may 

be subdivided or consolidated, by strata plan or otherwise.  All of the covenants and 
agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the Owner for itself, its successors 
and assigns, and all persons who acquire an interest in the Lands after the date of this 
Agreement.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Owner will not be liable for 
any breach of any covenant, promise or agreement herein in respect of any portion of the 
Lands sold, assigned, considered or otherwise disposed of, occurring after the Owner has 
ceased to be the owner of the Lands. 

 
8.5 The covenants and agreements on the part of the Owner in this Agreement have been made 

by the Owner as contractual obligations as well as being made pursuant to section 483 of 
the Act and as such will be binding on the Owner. 

 
8.6 The Owner will, at its expense, do or cause to be done all acts reasonably necessary to 

ensure this Agreement and notice of this Agreement is registered against the title to the 
Lands, including any amendments to this Agreement as may be required by the Land Title 
Office or the City to effect such registration. 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

8.7 The City and the Owner each intend by execution and delivery of this Agreement to create 
both a contract and a deed under seal. 

 
8.8 An alleged waiver by a party of any breach by another party of its obligations under this 

Agreement will be effective only if it is an express waiver of the breach in writing.  No waiver 
of a breach of this Agreement is deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any other 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
8.9 If a Court of competent jurisdiction finds that any part of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable, that part is to be considered to have been severed from the rest of this 
Agreement and the rest of this Agreement remains in force unaffected by that holding or by 
the severance of that part. 

 
8.10 Every obligation of a party which is set out in this Agreement will extend throughout the Term 

and, to the extent that any obligation ought to have been observed or performed prior to or 
upon the expiry or earlier termination of the Term, such obligation will survive the expiry or 
earlier termination of the Term until it has been observed or performed. 

 
8.11 All notices, demands, or requests of any kind, which a party may be required or permitted to 

serve on another in connection with this Agreement, must be in writing and may be served 
on the other parties by registered mail, by facsimile or e-mail transmission, or by personal 
service, to the following address for each party: 

 
 City:  The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
   141 West 14th Street 
   North Vancouver, British Columbia 
   V7M 1H9 
   Attention: Director, Planning & Development 
   Facsimile: 604.985.0576 
   Email: planning@cnv.org 
 

The Owner: Jadasi Development (880 W 15th) Ltd.  
5454 Cortez Crescent 
North Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V7R 4R4 
Attention: Jamie da Silva 
Email: jamie@jadasi.ca 
Phone: 604-347-9654 

 
Service of any such notice, demand, or request will be deemed complete, if made by 
registered mail, 72 hours after the date and hour of mailing, except where there is a postal 
service disruption during such period, in which case service will be deemed to be complete 
only upon actual delivery of the notice, demand or request; if made by facsimile or e-mail 
transmission, on the first business day after the date when the facsimile or e-mail 
transmission was transmitted; and if made by personal service, upon personal service being 
effected.  Any party, from time to time, by notice in writing served upon the other parties, may 
designate a different address or different or additional persons to which all notices, demands, 
or requests are to be addressed. 

 
8.12 Upon request by the City, the Owner will promptly do such acts and execute such documents 

as may be reasonably necessary, in the opinion of the City, to give effect to this Agreement. 
 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958 Document: 2326006-v1 

880 West 15th Street 

8.13 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties and their 
successors and permitted assigns. 

 
9. INTERPRETATION 
 
9.1 Gender specific terms include both genders and include corporations.  Words in the singular 

include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular. 
 
9.2 The division of this Agreement into sections and the use of headings are for convenience of 

reference only and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any provision.  
In all cases, the language in this Agreement is to be construed simply according to its fair 
meaning, and not strictly for or against either party. 

 
9.3 The word "including" when following any general statement or term is not to be construed to 

limit the general statement or term to the specific items which immediately follow the general 
statement or term to similar items whether or not words such as "without limitation" or "but 
not limited to" are used, but rather the general statement or term is to be construed to refer 
to all other items that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of the general 
statement or term. 

 
9.4 The words "must" and "will" are to be construed as imperative. 
 
9.5 Any reference in this Agreement to any statute or bylaw includes any subsequent 

amendment, re-enactment, or replacement of that statute or bylaw. 
 
9.6 This is the entire agreement between the City and the Owner concerning its subject, and 

there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, except as included in this Agreement.  This Agreement 
may be amended only by a document executed by the parties to this Agreement and by 
bylaw, such amendment to be effective only upon adoption by City Council of an amending 
bylaw to “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8958”. 

 
9.7 This Agreement is to be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of British Columbia. 
 
9.8 This Agreement can be signed in counterpart. 
 
IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT the City and the Owner have executed this Agreement by 
signing the “Form C – General Instrument – Part 1” or “Form D – Executions Continued” attached 
hereto. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

D£ent &- w 
CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Blair Underhill, Planner 2 

REPORT 

Subject: EXPANDING THE INTER-MUNICIPAL TRANSPORTATION NETWORK 
SERVICES BUSINESS LICENCE TO HOPE, KENT AND MISSION 

Date: April 5, 2023 File No: 16-8330-01-0001/2023 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution . 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 5, 2023, entitled 
"Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business 
Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission": 

THAT the participation of the District of Hope, the District of Kent, and the City of 
Mission in the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
(the "IMBL") be approved, in principle; 

AND THAT the Proposed IMBL Agreement Bylaw and the Proposed IMBL 
Scheme Bylaw be considered to enable the participation of the District of Hope, 
the District of Kent, and the City of Mission in the IMBL scheme; 

AND FURTHER THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute 
any agreements or documents to give effect to the resolutions. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Inter-municipal Business License Bylaw for Ride-Hailing (CityDocs #2347474) 

2. Public Meeting Resolution : Inter-Municipal Business License Bylaw for Ridehailing 
(CityDocs #2347477) 

3. Proposed Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Agreement Bylaw, 2023 , No. 8966 (CityDocs #2337956) 

4. Proposed Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Scheme Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967 (CityDocs #2337954) 

Document Number: 2336201 



REPORT: Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Service Business Licence to Hope, Kent 
and Mission 
Date: April 5, 2023 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to enable the District of Hope, the District of Kent, and the 
City of Mission to participate in the IMBL for ride-hailing companies. To allow new 
entrants to the IMBL, each participating municipality must approve and enact new IMBL 
bylaws and enter into a new IMBL Agreement (Attachments 3 and 4) . 

BACKGROUND 

Ride-hailing was legalized in B.C. on September 16, 2019. The Province regulates ride
hailing companies through the Passenger Transportation Act, the Motor Vehicle Act, 
and the Commercial Transportation Act. The BC Passenger Transportation Board (PTB) 
has sole authority to approve companies to operate ride-hailing services, and it 
establishes the boundaries of each company's operations. 

Ride-hailing companies are generally authorized to operate in multiple municipalities 
based on a system of five Regions established by the PTB. The City of North 
Vancouver is part of Region 1, which includes Metro Vancouver, the Fraser Valley, and 
Squamish-Lillooet. Municipalities may issue business licences to ride-hailing companies 
approved by the PTB to operate within their municipal boundaries. 

On March 30, 2020, Council approved City of North Vancouver's participation in an 
IMBL agreement with Region 1 municipalities. With the IMBL, a ride-hailing company 
needs to purchase only one licence to operate in all participating municipalities. 

An IMBL is formed through common bylaws enacted by each participating municipality. 
The IMBL Agreement Bylaw allows municipalities to enter into the IMBL Agreement 
among the partner municipalities. It addresses terms such as the fee, revenue sharing 
formula and distribution, and overall administration of the licence. A second bylaw, the 
IMBL Scheme bylaw, is the formal mechanism through which the IMBL is implemented 
in each municipality and sets out the various terms and conditions that apply to the 
IMBL across the participating municipalities. 

DISCUSSION 

These bylaws repeal and replace the existing IMBL bylaws and the existing IMBL 
Agreement will be terminated and replaced with the new Agreement which must be 
approved and enacted by all participating municipalities. Staff in the 28 municipalities 
have agreed to bring the IMBL Bylaws to their Councils in 02 of 2023. Should it be 
approved, the new Agreement will come into effect on June 1, 2023. From that day 
forward, licence holders and new licensees would be able to operate in all 28 
municipalities. No action is required on the part of licence holders. 

The IMBL was conceived as a means to support the ride-hailing industry roll-out and on
going operations with a single licence and consistent regulations across Region 1 
municipalities. The addition of the District of Hope, the District of Kent, and the City of 
Mission would be a further step in fulfilling the original goal of the IMBL. 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: Expanding the Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Service Business Licence to Hope, Kent 
and Mission 
Date: April 5, 2023 

Changes to the Existing IMBL Bylaws 

Other than adding the three municipalities, the IMBL would remain largely unchanged 
from the 2020 IMBL Agreement for ride-hailing. The exceptions are edits to remove text 
related to the "initial licence year" since the licence is now in its third year. Municipalities 
were encouraged to create new bylaws, instead of amending existing bylaws, as new 
members are being added to the IMBL Agreement. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications associated with the recommendations of this report. 
As is listed in Section 11 of the IMBL Agreement, the City of Vancouver (as the licence 
issuer and administrator) will distribute the revenue generated from Inter-municipal TNS 
Business Licence fees amongst all Participating Municipalities based on the City of 
Vancouver retaining an amount to cover its Administrative Costs, with the remaining 
fees to be distributed proportionally to the Participating Municipalities. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The IMBL aligns with direction in the City's Mobility Strategy to reduce the need for 
private vehicle ownership while expanding mobility options for ways to get around. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

• 1 

;.t¼&l)~C{j 
1

• Blair Underhill, BPP MCIP 
Planner 2 

Page 3 of 3 



Community Charter

Continued… 

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 1�





To: 

From: 

Jtl 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
COMMUNITY AND PARTNER ENGAGEMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Subject: 

L. R. Orr, Deputy Director, Community and Partner Engagement 

INTER-MUNICIPAL BUSINESS LICENCE BYLAW FOR RIDE-HAILING 

Date: February 26, 2020 File No: 09-3900-02-0001/2020 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director Community and Partner 
Engagement, dated February 26, 2020, entitled "Inter-Municipal Business 
Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing": 

THAT "Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Agreement Bylaw, 2020, No. 8766" be considered and referred to a Public 
Meeting; 

THAT "Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Scheme Bylaw, 2020, No. 8767" be considered and referred to a Public Meeting; 

AND THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Community Charter. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Report to Council dated November 27, 2019 entitled "Proposed North Shore 
Ride-Hailing Licensing and Regulatory Framework" (Doc #1861972) 

2. Shared Principles for a Regional IMBL (Doc #1868596) 
3. Participating municipalities (Doc #1885023) 
4. Proposed Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business License 

Agreement Bylaw, 2020, No. 8766 (Doc #1882772) 
5. Proposed Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 

Scheme Bylaw, 2020, No. 8767 (Doc #1882802) 

Document Number: 1872756 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to introduce and seek Council support for the City of North 
Vancouver's participation in a new Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw (IMBL) for 
Transportation Network Services (TNS) - Ride-Hailing for Region 1. Considerations for 
curbside management, data collection and enforcement and their related City Bylaw 
amendments will be dealt with in a separate report. 

BACKGROUND 

Provincial legislation in force since September 2019 has reduced the municipal authority 
to regulate Passenger Directed Vehicles (POV) such as taxis, limousines and ride
hailing vehicles. The Province now has sole authority to regulate company fleet size and 
operational boundaries, to set vehicle standards, and to issue driver Chauffeur Permits. 

While the Province's new regulations surrounding POV activities limit the role of 
municipalities in establishing local regulations, municipalities retain authority to: 

• Issue business licences; 
• Set business licence requirements; and 
• Regulate business activities, such as street and curb use and pick-up and 

drop-off locations, through Bylaws. 

The Province regulates Passenger Directed Vehicles through the Passenger 
Transportation Act, the Motor Vehicle Act and the Commercial Transportation Act. 
Companies that operate passenger directed transportation services are licensed by the 
independent, provincially appointed BC Passenger Transportation Board (PTB). 
Municipalities may issue business licences to companies once those companies have 
been licensed by the PTB. 

The PTB has the authority to determine operating boundaries and has established a 
regional, cross-municipal approach to ride-hailing. The City of North Vancouver is part of 
Region 1 (Whistler-Lower Mainland) comprised of 32 municipalities. 

On December 9, 2019, City Council directed staff to develop a North Shore regulatory 
framework for ride-hailing (Transportation Network Services) with the Districts of North 
and West Vancouver (see Attachment #1 ): 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager of Transportation Planning, the North 
Shore Mobility Options Coordinator, and the Manager of Business and 
Community Partnerships, dated November 27, 2019, entitled "Proposed North 
Shore Ride-Hailing Licensing and Regulatory Framework": 

THAT Council endorse the proposed framework for licensing and regulating ride
hailing services across the North Shore outlined in this report; 

AND THAT staff report back with necessary bylaw amendments to enable ride
hailing services per the proposed licensing and regulation framework outline in 
this report. 

Page 2 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

The proposed North Shore IMBL approach would have been an interim measure until 
such time that a regional framework was in place. 

On December 12, 2019 the Mayors' Council directed Translink to facilitate an 
expedited IMBL development process with Region 1 municipalities with agreement on 
Bylaw terms by January 31, 2020. 

Region 1 municipalities commenced work in late December 2019. An IMBL staff 
Working Group was established and met weekly throughout the month of January 2020 
to develop the proposal for an IMBL for ride-hailing. 

The purpose of the Working Group was to: 

• Develop an Inter-Municipal Business Licence for ride-hailing for Region 1, 
including making decisions regarding agreed upon terms for a draft Bylaw; 

• Ensure that participating municipalities' concerns regarding the IMBL are 
reflected in the discussion and decision-making of the Working Group; 

• Jointly prepare a draft Bylaw and supporting documentation such as sample staff 
reports to be used by participating municipalities; 

• Present the draft Bylaw to each of the participating municipal Councils; and 
• Jointly develop common messaging for use by Working Group participants in 

their respective communications materials. 

Attachment #2 outlines the shared principles that were agreed to by the Working Group 
to guide the preparation of the Regional IMBL. 

Translink and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing jointly fulfilled the role of the 
Working Group Secretariat. The role of Secretariat included organizing and circulating 
agendas, organizing meeting logistics, minute-taking, recording of resolutions and vote 
outcomes, actioning follow-up items and reminders and circulating items to Working 
Group members. 

The terms of the IMBL were developed collectively by the participating municipalities in 
a fast-tracked process. Attachment# 3 provides a list of the "participating 
municipalities". The proposed IMBL regulatory framework includes two parts: 

a) A Bylaw to enter into an agreement among participating municipalities regarding 
an Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business (TNS) Licensing 
Scheme (Attachment #4); and 

b) The Bylaw for the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence Scheme (Attachment 
#5). 

The proposed IMBL Bylaws establish licensing authority; licence fee and structure; 
licence conditions; and licence fee revenue sharing among participating municipalities. 
They represent the outcome of two-thirds majority based voting undertaken by the IMBL 
Working Group members. 

Page 3 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

Participating municipalities will bring reports to their respective Councils in February and 
March 2020, recommending approval of the Bylaws as presented. If approved, the IMBL 
will take effect on April 1, 2020 for the participating municipalities. 

DISCUSSION 

Because the terms of the proposed ride-hailing IMBL were developed on a compressed 
timeline, they should be considered as interim. Staff of participating municipalities will 
continue to collaborate over the coming months on opportunities for future refinement 
toward a permanent IMBL. For example, there may be opportunities to further 
incentivize wheelchair accessible or zero emission vehicles, and to adjust the licence 
fee structure. As more companies are licensed and staff better understand the true 
costs for licensing and for monitoring industry impacts, such changes can be 
considered. 

The draft IMBL Bylaws establish the following: 

Licensing Authority 
The City of Vancouver will be the licensing authority for the IMBL which means that all 
ride hailing companies will need to obtain a licence from Vancouver in order to conduct 
ride hailing business in any of the participating Region 1 municipalities. 

Given the expedited timeframe to develop a licensing scheme, the Working Group 
agreed that The City of Vancouver is well positioned for this role as it has developed an 
infrastructure to support tracking and issuing TNS business licenses. 

Licence Fee and Structure 
The annual IMBL fee will be $155 per company plus vehicle fees of: 

• $150 per vehicle 
• $30 per zero emission vehicle 
• $0 for wheelchair accessible vehicles 

Proposed fees are set to be program cost recoverable and not to be prohibitive for 
companies. 

The discounted fee for zero emission vehicles provides a meaningful incentive while 
acknowledging that they have an administrative cost and physical impact on streets. 
Wheelchair accessible vehicles are understood to be more expensive to purchase and 
maintain than non-accessible vehicles, and municipalities want to encourage their 
participation in ride-hailing as much as possible. Therefore, a $0 per vehicle fee is 
proposed . 

Licence fees are to be pro-rated to align with the City of Vancouver's calendar licensing 
structure. 

Companies will self-report monthly, all new vehicles operating under their licence and 
whether they are standard, zero emission or wheelchair accessible. Once a vehicle has 
been reported and the associated fee paid, the vehicle may operate for the remainder of 

Page 4 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

the calendar year. Participating municipalities will be advised monthly of new vehicle 
additions, for the purposes of street use management. 

The per-vehicle fee structure was agreed to as it can be implemented immediately; it 
enables incentives for specific vehicle types; and it is equitable among companies of all 
fleet sizes. 

The per vehicle fee of $150 was set with the aim of achieving administrative program 
cost recovery and recovery of costs to participating municipalities associated with 
monitoring business activity and impacts in their communities. Because ride-hailing is a 
new business type, the full costs of licensing and monitoring are not yet known. The 
licence fee is comparable to licensing fees in other Canadian jurisdictions such as the 
City of Calgary. 

Licence Fee Revenue Sharing 
Licence fee revenue will be shared among participating municipalities. The City of 
Vancouver will first retain funds sufficient to recover the costs of IMBL set up and 
administration of the IMBL. Remaining revenues will be shared based on the percent of 
total regional pick-ups and drop-offs that occur within each of their boundaries. 

Year 1 of the IMBL program includes set-up costs that are expected to fall in 
subsequent years as the program is regularized. At the end of each licence year, the 
City of Vancouver will provide participating municipalities with a year-end account of 
costs, and revenue to be shared. 

Licence Requirements 
Companies will be required to comply with the municipal Bylaws and regulations of each 
participating municipality. 

Each participating municipality will retain authority to enforce its own Bylaws, for example 
street and traffic regulations and also to suspend or cancel an IMBL. Because suspension 
or cancellation of a licence would affect all participating municipalities, staff in participating 
municipalities will establish a shared protocol for escalating enforcement prior to any 
municipality considering suspension or cancellation. This protocol will include 
communicating with the Provincial Registrar and Passenger Transportation Branch about 
on-going concerns with a company or vehicle. 

The Province will be enforcing compliance with provincial regulations and licence 
conditions. Field investigations will be carried out by the Commercial Vehicle Safety and 
Enforcement (CVSE) Branch; the Registrar of the Passenger Transportation Branch is 
authorized to investigate and audit companies for issues including compliance with 
licence conditions and public safety. At this time, the number of provincial enforcement 
staff that will be assigned to address potential issues is not available. 

Monitoring Industry Impacts - Access to Data 
Access to detailed trip data is critical for municipalities in understanding the impact of 
ride-hailing in their communities at both the system-wide and street levels. At the street
level it can be used to establish solutions to mitigate safety concerns and congestion 
impacts. For example, identification of locations for supportive infrastructure like street 

Page 5 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

parking repurposed into ride-hailing pick-up and drop-off zones. It can also highlight 
locations that may require enforcement attention. 

The BC Passenger Transportation Branch of the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure collects comprehensive vehicle and trip data from companies. In early 
February 2020, the Province determined that municipalities wil l be able to access this 
data on a regular, on-going basis through a Partnership Agreement with the BC 
Passenger Transportation Branch. Consequently, detailed trip data will not be a 
requirement of the IMBL; municipalities will benefit from access to provincial data and 
companies will benefit from not having to duplicate data submission efforts. 

Public/Civic Agency Input 
The Working Group held an industry information session on January 22, inviting the 17 
TNS operators who had applied to the PTB to operate in Region 1 at that time. 
Participants were informed about the proposed IMBL framework, including specifics, 
such as fee structure and data requirements. At the time of the consultation, the 
proposed IMBL included data submission requirements that have since been removed. 
Fifteen of the applicants invited sent representatives. 

In addition to the comments given during the information session, three companies 
submitted written comments following the session. The Working Group reviewed and 
considered all comments submitted. 

The TNS industry representatives were generally appreciative of the expedited IMBL 
process, particularly as two of the applicants received PTB approval during the process 
and had a more urgent need for an IMBL. 

The key concerns heard by the working group were: 

• Fee structure and smaller operators: The Working Group heard concerns that the 
fee structure disadvantaged smaller operators who are less able to absorb the 
per-vehicle charges compared to larger operators. 

• Fee structure and TNS fluidity: The Working Group heard concerns that the way 
that fees are charged - based on vehicles that sign on with the company rather 
than number of vehicles in operation - do not match the fluid nature of the ride
hailing industry which tends to have high driver turnover. 

• Data requirements and granularity: The Working Group also heard concerns 
about the level of granularity required for data submissions, with respect to 
customer privacy. 

The Working Group will take key concerns 1 and 2 under advisement and consider 
options to address these concerns as part of the ongoing development of a permanent 
IMBL. The concerns are significant enough and industry perspectives varying enough 
that further work and consultation is required, and was not possible prior to the January 
31 deadline for the interim IMBL. 

Regarding data requirement concerns, the Working Group has since determined that 
detailed data submission will not be required as part of the IMBL. Municipalities will 

Page 6 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

access provincially collected data through a Partnership Agreement with the Provincial 
Transportation Branch. 

Bylaw Provisions not supported by Council 
The terms proposed in the IMBL for ride-hailing have been developed and agreed to by 
staff from the municipalities that participated in the Working Group. The intent was to 
develop a standard Bylaw that would apply to all participating municipalities that would 
allow the issuance of one business licence per ride-hailing company. Should Council 
seek to amend the terms of the Bylaws at this time, further consultation with all 
participating municipalities would be required. Consequently, the proposed effective 
date for implementation of the licence, April 1, 2020 would likely be delayed. 

The IMBL will be effective in all participating municipalities that adopt the Bylaws and 
enter into the agreement. If Council chooses not to adopt the Bylaws as presented, the 
City of North Vancouver will not be part of the IMBL and ride-hailing companies wi ll not 

· be able to operate under the IMBL in the City. 

Next Steps 
Should the proposed IMBL Bylaws be approved by Council and by other participating 
municipalities, the City of Vancouver is prepared to issue IMBL licences on April 1, 
2020, prepare invoices and set-up revenue distribution. 

Staff of participating municipalities will monitor effectiveness and consider refinement of 
terms over the coming months toward a permanent IMBL. For example, there may be 
opportunities to further encourage wheelchair accessible or zero emission vehicles. The 
Working Group will also review the suggestions made by industry representatives noted 
earlier in this report. As more companies are licensed and staff come to better 
understand the licensing costs and monitoring industry impact, such changes may be 
considered. 

In considering adjustments to the ride-hailing IMBL, staff will consider opportunities to 
include limousines as they are also authorized by the PTB to operate across municipal 
boundaries. The PTB has announced that it will review its regulations with regard to taxi 
operating areas, but at this time taxis cannot be considered for an IMBL as they are 
largely restricted to operating within single municipalities. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The overall lMBL administrative costs for the City of Vancouver for year 1 are estimated 
to be $140,000 and include: 

• Privacy Management 
• Legal Services 
• Policy Development 
• Corporate Support, Materials and Rent 
• Licence processing including fee administration and reconciliation 

The City of Vancouver will retain licence fee revenue sufficient to recover IMBL 
administrative program costs. Included in the administrative costs is the addition of one 

Page 7 of 8 



REPORT: Inter-Municipal Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing 
Date: February 26, 2020 

half-time licence clerk at an estimated cost of $33,000 per year. Any remaining funds 
will be distributed among participating municipalities based on the percent of total 
regional pick-ups and drop-offs that occur within each of their boundaries. Vancouver 
will provide a full accounting of the licensing costs at the end of the year. It should be 
noted that without an IMBL, each municipality would incur a certain level of these costs 
to licence ride-hailing within its jurisdiction. 

Each member municipality will need to develop a process for receiving and analyzing 
pick-up and drop-off data and respective curb-side management fees and enforcement 
schemes. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The IMBL and related curb-side management and enforcement considerations have 
been coordinated between Community and Partner Engagement and Planning and 
Development Department staff. The City Solicitor and Clerks staff have reviewed the 
Bylaws. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS 

As an option for transportaion services to City residents, ride-hailing services are 
consistent with the City for People and Connected City Priorities of Council's Strategic 
Plan. 

CONCLUSION 

There is strong public support for ride-hailing in the Lower Mainland and the Province 
has now authorized three companies to operate in Region 1 (Whistler - Lower 
Mainland). The proposed IMBL for ride-hailing will support the regional roll-out of the 
industry as companies will be able to operate in participating municipalities with only 
one business licence. 

Page 8 of 8 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL, HELD IN THE CAO MEETING 
ROOM, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON  
MONDAY, MARCH 30, 2020

PUBLIC MEETING – Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services  
Business Licence Bylaws 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard  

THAT the meeting recess to the Public Meeting regarding “Inter-Municipal 
Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement Bylaw, 2020, No. 
8766” and “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence 
Scheme Bylaw, 2020, No. 8767”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

The meeting recessed to the Public Meeting at 7:15 pm and reconvened at 7:32 pm. 

BYLAW – THIRD READING 

16. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement Bylaw, 
2020, No. 8766” 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 

THAT “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8766” be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

BYLAW – ADOPTION 

17. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement Bylaw, 
2020, No. 8766” 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 

THAT “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8766” be adopted, signed by the Mayor and City Clerk and affixed 
with the corporate seal. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

Continued…. 

cbulman
FreeText
Attachment 2�



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL, HELD IN THE CAO MEETING 
ROOM, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON  
MONDAY, MARCH 30, 2020

PUBLIC MEETING – Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services  
Business Licence Bylaws - Continued 

BYLAW – THIRD READING 

18. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme Bylaw, 
2020, No. 8767” 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 

THAT “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8767” be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

BYLAW – ADOPTION 

19. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme Bylaw, 
2020, No. 8767” 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 

THAT “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8767” be adopted, signed by the Mayor and City Clerk and affixed 
with the corporate seal. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 





Participating Municipalities
TNS

Participating Municipalities

Participating Municipalities Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipalities Community 

Charter Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipalities
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

“Accessible Vehicle” 

Administrative Costs
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

“Business” Community Charter

“Community Charter”

“Inter-Municipal TNS Business” TNS Business
; 

“Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence” 
Inter-Municipal TNS Business

Participating Municipalities

  



“Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw” 
 Participating Municipality Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

; 

“Mobility Aid” Passenger Transportation Act

“Municipal Business Licence”
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating Municipality

Business Participating 
Municipality

“Participating Municipality” Participating Municipalities

“Premises” TNS Business
Business

“TNS Business” Transportation 
Network Services

“Transportation Network Services” Passenger 
Transportation Act

“Vancouver Charter” Vancouver Charter

“Zero Emission Vehicle” 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw
Participating Municipality TNS Business Inter-Municipal 
TNS Business Licence Business Transportation Network 
Services Participating Municipality Inter-Municipal 
TNS Business Licence Municipal Business Licence TNS 
Business Participating Municipality.

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licences 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence TNS 
Business TNS Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw

TNS Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Municipal Business Licence TNS 

Business Participating Municipalities TNS Business

TNS Business Business



Participating Municipality Inter-Municipal TNS 
Business Licence Municipal Business Licence Premises

Participating Municipality

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business  

Zero Emission Vehicles
Accessible Vehicles Participating 

Municipality Municipal Business Licence TNS Business
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating 

Municipality Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Inter-
Municipal TNS Business License 

Inter-Municipal TNS 
Business Licence Participating Municipalities

Administrative Costs
Participating Municipalities, 

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Administrative 
Costs Participating Municipalities

 Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Administrative Costs

Inter-Municipal TNS Business 
Licence

Administrative Costs

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipality Municipal Business 

License TNS Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business 
Licence Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality Participating Municipality 
 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating 

Municipalities



Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Inter-

Municipal TNS Business
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

.

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipalities Inter-Municipal TNS 

Business Licence Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw Inter-Municipal 
TNS Business Licence 
Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Community Charter Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Community Charter Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipality Municipal 

Business Licence Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Municipal Business Licence

Business Community Charter
Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipality Participating 
Municipalities Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licences

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence 



Participating Municipalities
Participating Municipalities'

Community Charter Vancouver 
Charter Local Government Act

Participating Municipalities'

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities. 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw

Participating Municipalities
TNS Business

Participating Municipality
TNS Business

Participating Municipalities

Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Participating Municipalities











Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipalities Community Charter

Vancouver Charter

“Accessible Vehicle” 

 
“Business” Community Charter  

“Community Charter”

“Inter-Municipal TNS Business” TNS Business
; 

 
“Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence” 
Inter-Municipal TNS Business

Participating Municipalities
 
“Mobility Aid” Passenger Transportation Act

 
“Municipal Business Licence”
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating Municipality

Business Participating 
Municipality

“Participating Municipality” Participating Municipalities



“Premises” TNS Business
Business

 
“TNS Business” Transportation 
Network Services
 
“Transportation Network Services” Passenger 
Transportation Act
 
“Vancouver Charter” Vancouver Charter

“Zero Emission Vehicle” 

Participating Municipality TNS 
Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Business Transportation Network Services Participating Municipality

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence 
Municipal Business Licence TNS Business Participating Municipality

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licences 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence TNS 
Business TNS Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business

TNS Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Municipal Business Licence TNS 

Business Participating Municipalities TNS Business

TNS Business Business

Participating Municipality Inter-Municipal TNS 
Business Licence Municipal Business Licence Premises

Participating Municipality

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business  

Zero Emission Vehicles
Accessible Vehicles Participating 

Municipality Municipal Business Licence TNS Business
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating 

Municipality Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence



Inter-
Municipal TNS Business License 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Inter-

Municipal TNS Business
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipalities Inter-Municipal TNS 

Business Licence Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence 
Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Community Charter Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Business Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipality

Participating Municipality
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Community Charter Vancouver Charter

Participating Municipality
Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Participating Municipality Municipal 

Business Licence Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence
Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipality
Municipal Business Licence

Business Community Charter
Vancouver Charter



Participating Municipality Participating 
Municipalities Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence 
Participating Municipalities

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licences

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence 

Inter-Municipal TNS Business Licence

Participating Municipalities

TNS Business 
Participating Municipality

TNS Business



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8966 
 

A Bylaw to enter into an agreement among the Participating Municipalities regarding an 
Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme 

 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Inter-municipal Transportation 

Network Services Business Licence Agreement Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966” (Expanding 
the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission). 

 
2. Council hereby authorizes the City to enter into an Agreement with the Participating 

Municipalities substantially in the form and substance of the Agreement attached to this 
Bylaw as Schedule A, and also authorizes the Mayor and Corporate Officer to execute the 
Agreement on behalf of the City, and to deliver it to the Participating Municipalities on such 
terms and conditions as the City Solicitor and Director of Community and Partner 
Engagement deem fit. 

 
3. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement Bylaw, 

2020, No. 8766” and all amendments are repealed upon adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

Schedule A 
 

Inter-municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Agreement  
 
WHEREAS the City of Abbotsford, the Village of Anmore, the Bowen Island Municipality, the City 
of Burnaby, the City of Chilliwack, the City of Coquitlam, the City of Delta, the Village of Harrison 
Hot Springs, the District of Hope, the District of Kent, the Corporation of the City of Langley, the 
Corporation of the Township of Langley, the Village of Lions Bay, the City of Maple Ridge, the 
City of Mission, the Corporation of the City of New Westminster, the Corporation of the City of 
North Vancouver, the Corporation of the District of North Vancouver, the City of Pitt Meadows, 
the Corporation of the City of Port Coquitlam, the City of Port Moody, the City of Richmond, the 
District of Squamish, the City of Surrey, the City of Vancouver, the Corporation of the District of 
West Vancouver, the Resort Municipality of Whistler, and the Corporation of the City of White 
Rock (the “Participating Municipalities”), wish to permit transportation network services (“TNS”) 
businesses to operate across their jurisdictional boundaries thereby eliminating the need to obtain 
a separate municipal business licence in each jurisdiction; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Participating Municipalities agree as follows: 
 
1. The Participating Municipalities agree to establish an Inter-municipal TNS Business 

Licence scheme among the Participating Municipalities, pursuant to section 14 of the 
Community Charter and section 192.1 of the Vancouver Charter. 

 
2. The Participating Municipalities will request their respective municipal Councils to each 

ratify this Agreement and enact a bylaw to implement an Inter-municipal TNS Business 
Licence scheme effective June 1, 2023. 

 
3. In this Agreement: 
 

“Accessible Vehicle” means a motor vehicle designed and manufactured, or converted, 
for the purpose of transporting persons who use mobility aids; 
 
“Administrative Costs” means the direct and indirect costs and investments attributable to 
setting up and administering the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme, including 
wages, materials, corporate overhead and rent;   
 
“Business” has the same meaning as in the Community Charter; 
 
“Community Charter” means the Community Charter, S.B.C. 2003, c. 26, as may be 
amended or replaced from time to time; 
 
“Inter-municipal TNS Business” means a TNS Business that has been licenced to operate 
in the Region 1 operating area by the Passenger Transportation Board; 
 
“Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence” means a business licence that authorizes an  
Inter-municipal TNS Business to be carried on within the jurisdictional boundaries of any 
or all of the Participating Municipalities;  
 
“Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw” means the bylaw adopted by the Council 
of each Participating Municipality to implement the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 
scheme contemplated by this Agreement; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

“Mobility Aid” has the same meaning as in the Passenger Transportation Act, S.B.C 2004, 
c. 39, as may be amended or replaced from time to time; 
 
“Municipal Business Licence” means a licence or permit, other than an Inter-municipal 
TNS Business Licence, issued by a Participating Municipality that authorizes a Business 
to be carried on within the jurisdictional boundaries of that Participating Municipality; 
 
“Participating Municipality” means any one of the Participating Municipalities; 
 
“Premises” means one or more fixed or permanent locations where the TNS Business 
ordinarily carries on Business; 
 
“TNS Business” means a person carrying on the business of providing Transportation 
Network Services;   
 
“Transportation Network Services” has the same meaning as in the Passenger 
Transportation Act, S.B.C 2004, c. 39, as may be amended or replaced from time to time;  
 
“Vancouver Charter” means the Vancouver Charter, S.B.C. 1953, c. 55, as may be 
amended or replaced from time to time; and 
 
“Zero Emission Vehicle” means a motor vehicle that is exclusively propelled by electricity 
or hydrogen from an external source. 

 
4. Subject to the provisions of the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw, each 

Participating Municipality will permit a TNS Business that has obtained an Inter-municipal 
TNS Business Licence to carry on the Business of providing Transportation Network 
Services within that Participating Municipality for the term authorized by the Inter-
municipal TNS Business Licence without obtaining a Municipal Business Licence for the 
TNS Business in that Participating Municipality. 

 
5. All Inter-municipal TNS Business Licences will be issued by the City of Vancouver. 
 
6. The City of Vancouver may issue an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to a TNS 

Business if the TNS Business is an Inter-municipal TNS Business and meets the 
requirements of the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw, in addition to the 
requirements of the City of Vancouver’s Licence Bylaw No. 4450. 

 
7. Notwithstanding that a TNS Business may hold an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 

that would make it unnecessary to obtain a Municipal Business Licence for the TNS 
Business in the Participating Municipalities, the TNS Business must still comply with all 
orders and regulations under any municipal business licence bylaw in addition to those 
under any other bylaws, regulations, or provincial or federal laws that may apply within 
any jurisdiction in which the TNS Business carries on Business.  

 
8. Any Participating Municipality may require that the holder of an Inter-municipal TNS 

Business Licence also obtain a Municipal Business Licence for any Premises that are 
maintained by the licence holder within the jurisdiction of the Participating Municipality.  

 
9. The annual Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence fee is $155, plus $150 for each vehicle 

operating under the authority of the Inter-municipal TNS Business, except that the per 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

vehicle fee for Zero Emission Vehicles will be $30, and there will be no per vehicle fee 
charged for Accessible Vehicles. 

 
10. The fee for any additional vehicles that begin operating under the authority of an Inter-

municipal TNS Business Licence holder after the annual licence fee is paid will be the per 
vehicle fee set out in section 9, pro-rated by dividing the applicable annual per vehicle fee 
by 12 and multiplying the resulting number by the number of months remaining in that 
calendar year, including any partial months which will be counted as whole months. 

 
11. The City of Vancouver will distribute the revenue generated from Inter-municipal TNS 

Business Licence fees amongst all Participating Municipalities based on the City of 
Vancouver retaining an amount to cover its Administrative Costs, with the remaining fees 
to be distributed proportionally to the Participating Municipalities, including the City of 
Vancouver, based on the number of pick-ups and drop-offs in that Participating 
Municipality. The City of Vancouver will provide the other Participating Municipalities with 
an itemized accounting of the fees collected and disbursed, including an accounting of its 
Administrative Costs, at the time it distributes the remaining fees to those Participating 
Municipalities. 

 
12. The revenue generated from Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence fees collected from 

January 1 to December 31 inclusive that is to be distributed to the Participating 
Municipalities in accordance with section 11, including the fees collected for any additional 
vehicles under section 10, will be distributed by the City of Vancouver by February 28 of 
the year following the year in which fees were collected. 

 
13. The length of term of an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence is 12 months, except that 

the length of term of the initial Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence issued to an Inter-
municipal TNS Business by the City of Vancouver may be less than 12 months in order to 
harmonize the expiry date of the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence with the calendar 
year, in which case the annual fee will be pro-rated by dividing the applicable annual 
licence fee by 12 and multiplying the resulting number by the number of months remaining 
in that calendar year, including any partial months which will be counted as whole months. 

 
14. An Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence will be valid within the jurisdictional boundaries 

of all of the Participating Municipalities until its term expires, unless the Inter-municipal 
TNS Business Licence is suspended or cancelled.  If a Participating Municipality 
withdraws from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme among the 
Participating Municipalities in accordance with the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 
Bylaw, then the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence will cease to be valid within the 
jurisdictional boundary of that former Participating Municipality. 

 
15. A Participating Municipality may exercise the authority of the City of Vancouver as the 

issuing municipality and suspend an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence in relation to 
conduct by the holder within the Participating Municipality which would give rise to the 
power to suspend a business licence under the Community Charter or Vancouver Charter 
or under the business licence bylaw of the Participating Municipality. The suspension will 
be in effect throughout all of the Participating Municipalities and it will be unlawful for the 
holder to carry on the Business authorized by the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 
in any Participating Municipality for the period of the suspension. 

 
16. A Participating Municipality may exercise the authority of the City of Vancouver as the 

issuing municipality and cancel an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence in relation to 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

conduct by the holder within the Participating Municipality which would give rise to the 
power to cancel a business licence under the Community Charter or Vancouver Charter 
or the business licence bylaw of the Participating Municipality. The cancellation will be in 
effect throughout all of the Participating Municipalities. 

 
17. The suspension or cancellation of an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence under section 

15 or 16 will not affect the authority of a Participating Municipality to issue a Municipal 
Business Licence, other than an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence, to the holder of 
the suspended or cancelled Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence. 

 
18. Nothing in this Agreement affects the authority of a Participating Municipality to suspend 

or cancel any Municipal Business Licence issued by that municipality or to enact 
regulations in respect of any category of Business under section 15 of the Community 
Charter or sections 272, 273, 279A, 279A.1, 279B, and 279C of the Vancouver Charter. 

 
19. A Participating Municipality may, by notice in writing to each of the other Participating 

Municipalities, withdraw from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme among 
the Participating Municipalities, and the notice must: 

 
 (a) set out the date on which the withdrawing municipality will no longer recognize the 

validity within its boundaries of Inter-municipal TNS Business Licences, which date 
must be at least 6 months from the date of the notice; and 

 
(b) include a certified copy of the municipal Council resolution or bylaw authorizing the 

municipality's withdrawal from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme. 
 
20. Nothing contained or implied in this Agreement shall fetter in any way the discretion of the 

Councils of the Participating Municipalities. Further, nothing contained or implied in this 
Agreement shall prejudice or affect the Participating Municipalities' rights, powers, duties 
or obligations in the exercise of their functions pursuant to the Community Charter, 
Vancouver Charter, or the Local Government Act, as amended or replaced from time to 
time, or act to fetter or otherwise affect the Participating Municipalities' discretion, and the 
rights, powers, duties and obligations under all public and private statutes, bylaws, orders 
and regulations, which may be, if each Participating Municipality so elects, as fully and 
effectively exercised as if this Agreement had not been executed and delivered by the 
Participating Municipalities. 

 
21. Despite any other provision of this Agreement, an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 

granted in accordance with the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence Bylaw does not 
grant the holder a licence to operate in any jurisdiction other than within the jurisdictional 
boundaries of the Participating Municipalities. Furthermore, a business licence granted 
under any other Inter-municipal TNS Business licence scheme is deemed not to exist for 
the purposes of this Agreement even if a Participating Municipality is a participating 
member of the other Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme. 

 
22. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 

to be an original, and may be delivered by email or facsimile transmission, and each such 
counterpart, howsoever delivered, shall be deemed to be an original. Such counterparts 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument, notwithstanding that all of the 
Participating Municipalities are not signatories to the original or the same counterpart. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

23. This Agreement replaces and supercedes the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 
Agreement entered into by the City of Abbotsford, the Village of Anmore, the Bowen Island 
Municipality, the City of Burnaby, the City of Chilliwack, the City of Coquitlam, the City of 
Delta, the Village of Harrison Hot Springs, the Corporation of the City of Langley, the 
Corporation of the Township of Langley, the Village of Lions Bay, the City of Maple Ridge, 
the Corporation of the City of New Westminster, the Corporation of the City of North 
Vancouver, the Corporation of the District of North Vancouver, the City of Pitt Meadows, 
the Corporation of the City of Port Coquitlam, the City of Port Moody, the City of Richmond, 
the District of Squamish, the City of Surrey, the City of Vancouver, the Corporation of the 
District of West Vancouver, the Resort Municipality of Whistler, and the Corporation of the 
City of White Rock in 2020. 

 
24. In the event that the municipal Council of a Participating Municipality other than the City 

of Vancouver does not ratify this Agreement, then that municipality will not be considered 
a Participating Municipality for the purposes of this Agreement, and the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement shall be effective as among the other Participating 
Municipalities. 

 
Signed and delivered on behalf of the Participating Municipalities, the Councils of each of which 
have, by Bylaw, ratified this Agreement and authorized their signatories to sign on behalf of the 
respective Councils, on the dates indicated below. 
 
 
The City of Abbotsford 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
Village of Anmore 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
Bowen Island Municipality 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

 
City of Burnaby  
 
City Clerk    _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
City of Chilliwack 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
City of Coquitlam 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
City Clerk    _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
City of Delta  
 
Mayor     _________________________________ 
 
City Clerk     _________________________________ 
 
Date      _________________________________ 
 
 
 
Village of Harrison Hot Springs 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

The District of Hope 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The District of Kent 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Chief Administrative Officer  _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the City of Langley 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the Township of Langley 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Township Clerk   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
Village of Lions Bay 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

City of Maple Ridge 
 
Presiding Member   _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The City of Mission 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the City of New Westminster  
 
Mayor     _________________________________ 
      
City Clerk     _________________________________    
 
Date      _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the District of North Vancouver 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Municipal Clerk   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

The City of Pitt Meadows 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the City of Port Coquitlam 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
City of Port Moody 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The City of Richmond  
 
Chief Administrative Officer  _________________________________ 
 
General Manager    _________________________________ 
 
Corporate and Financial Services  _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
District of Squamish 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8966 Document: 2337956-v4 

City of Surrey 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
City Clerk    _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The City of Vancouver 
 
Director of Legal Services  _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the District of West Vancouver 
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Corporate Officer   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
Resort Municipality of Whistler  
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Municipal Clerk   _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________ 
 
 
 
The Corporation of the City of White Rock  
 
Mayor      _________________________________ 
 
Director of Corporate Administration _________________________________ 
 
Date     _________________________________  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967 Document: 2337954-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8967 

A Bylaw to to enter into an Inter-municipal Transportation 
Network Services Business Licence Scheme 

WHEREAS the municipalities that have entered or will enter into the 2023 Inter-municipal TNS 
Business Licence Agreement (the “Participating Municipalities”) wish to permit licenced 
transportation network services (“TNS”) businesses to operate across their jurisdictional 
boundaries thereby eliminating the need to obtain a separate municipal business licence in each 
jurisdiction; 
 
AND WHEREAS each of the Participating Municipalities has or will adopt a similar bylaw to 
implement the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Inter-municipal Transportation 
Network Services Business Licence Scheme Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967” (Expanding the 
Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to Hope, Kent and Mission). 

2. There is hereby established an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme among the 
Participating Municipalities, pursuant to section 14 of the Community Charter and section 
192.1 of the Vancouver Charter. 

 
3. In this Bylaw:  
 

“Accessible Vehicle” means a motor vehicle designed and manufactured, or converted, 
for the purpose of transporting persons who use mobility aids; 
 
“Business” has the same meaning as in the Community Charter;   
 
“Community Charter” means the Community Charter, S.B.C. 2003, c. 26, as may be 
amended or replaced from time to time; 
 
“Inter-municipal TNS Business” means a TNS Business that has been licenced to operate 
in the Region 1 operating area by the Passenger Transportation Board; 
 
“Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence” means a business licence which authorizes an  
Inter-municipal TNS Business to be carried on within the jurisdictional boundaries of any 
or all of the Participating Municipalities;  
 
“Mobility Aid” has the same meaning as in the Passenger Transportation Act, S.B.C 2004, 
c. 39. as may be amended or replaced from time to time; 
 
“Municipal Business Licence” means a licence or permit, other than an  
Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence, issued by a Participating Municipality that 
authorizes a Business to be carried on within the jurisdictional boundaries of that 
Participating Municipality; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967 Document: 2337954-v3 

“Participating Municipality” means any one of the Participating Municipalities; 
 
“Premises” means one or more fixed or permanent locations where the TNS Business 
ordinarily carries on Business; 
 
“TNS Business” means a person carrying on the business of providing Transportation 
Network Services;   
 
“Transportation Network Services” has the same meaning as in the Passenger 
Transportation Act, S.B.C 2004, c. 39, as may be amended or replaced from time to time;  
 
“Vancouver Charter” means the Vancouver Charter, S.B.C. 1953, c. 55, as may be 
amended or replaced from time to time; and 
 
“Zero Emission Vehicle” means a motor vehicle that is exclusively propelled by electricity 
or hydrogen from an external source. 
 

4. Subject to the provisions of this Bylaw, each Participating Municipality will permit a TNS 
Business that has obtained an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to carry on the 
Business of providing Transportation Network Services within that Participating 
Municipality for the term authorized by the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence without 
obtaining a Municipal Business Licence for the TNS Business in that Participating 
Municipality. 

 
5. All Inter-municipal TNS Business Licences will be issued by the City of Vancouver. 
 
6. The City of Vancouver may issue an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence to a TNS 

Business if the TNS Business is an Inter-municipal TNS Business and meets the 
requirements of this Bylaw, in addition to the requirements of the City of Vancouver’s 
Licence Bylaw No. 4450.  

 
7. Notwithstanding that a TNS Business may hold an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 

that would make it unnecessary to obtain a Municipal Business Licence for the TNS 
Business in the Participating Municipalities, the TNS Business must still comply with all 
orders and regulations under any municipal business licence bylaw in addition to those 
under any other bylaws, regulations, or provincial or federal laws that may apply within 
any jurisdiction in which the TNS Business carries on Business.  

 
8. Any Participating Municipality may require that the holder of an Inter-municipal TNS 

Business Licence also obtain a Municipal Business Licence for any Premises that are 
maintained by the licence holder within the jurisdiction of the Participating Municipality.  

 
9. The annual Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence fee is $155, plus $150 for each vehicle 

operating under the authority of the Inter-municipal TNS Business, except that the per 
vehicle fee for Zero Emission Vehicles will be $30, and there will be no per vehicle fee 
charged for Accessible Vehicles.  

 
10. The fee for any additional vehicles that begin operating under the authority of an Inter-

municipal TNS Business Licence holder after the annual licence fee is paid will be the per 
vehicle fee set out in section 8, pro-rated by dividing the applicable annual per vehicle fee 
by 12 and multiplying the resulting number by the number of months remaining in that 
calendar year, including any partial months which will be counted as whole months. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967 Document: 2337954-v3 

 
11. The length of term of an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence is 12 months, except that 

the length of term of the initial Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence issued to an Inter-
municipal TNS Business by the City of Vancouver may be less than 12 months in order to 
harmonize the expiry date of the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence with the calendar 
year, in which case the annual fee will be pro-rated by dividing the applicable annual 
licence fee by 12 and multiplying the resulting number by the number of months remaining 
in that calendar year, including any partial months which will be counted as whole months. 

 
12. An Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence will be valid within the jurisdictional boundaries 

of all of the Participating Municipalities until its term expires, unless the Inter-municipal 
TNS Business Licence is suspended or cancelled. If a Participating Municipality withdraws 
from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme among the Participating 
Municipalities in accordance with this Bylaw, then the Inter-municipal TNS Business 
Licence will cease to be valid within the jurisdictional boundary of that former Participating 
Municipality. 

 
13. A Participating Municipality may exercise the authority of the City of Vancouver as the 

issuing municipality and suspend an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence in relation to 
conduct by the holder within the Participating Municipality which would give rise to the 
power to suspend a business licence under the Community Charter or Vancouver Charter 
or under the business licence bylaw of the Participating Municipality. The suspension will 
be in effect throughout all of the Participating Municipalities and it will be unlawful for the 
holder to carry on the Business authorized by the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 
in any Participating Municipality for the period of the suspension. 

 
14. A Participating Municipality may exercise the authority of the City of Vancouver as the 

issuing municipality and cancel an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence in relation to 
conduct by the holder within the Participating Municipality which would give rise to the 
power to cancel a business licence under the Community Charter or Vancouver Charter 
or the business licence bylaw of the Participating Municipality. The cancellation will be in 
effect throughout all of the Participating Municipalities.  

 
15. The suspension or cancellation of an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence under section 

12 or 13 will not affect the authority of a Participating Municipality to issue a Municipal 
Business Licence, other than an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence, to the holder of 
the suspended or cancelled Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence. 

 
16. Nothing in this Bylaw affects the authority of a Participating Municipality to suspend or 

cancel any Municipal Business Licence issued by that municipality or to enact regulations 
in respect of any category of Business under section 15 of the Community Charter or 
sections 272, 273, 279A, 279A.1, 279B, and 279C of the Vancouver Charter.  

 
17. A Participating Municipality may, by notice in writing to each of the other Participating 

Municipalities, withdraw from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme among 
the Participating Municipalities, and the notice must: 

 
(a) set out the date on which the withdrawing municipality will no longer recognize the 

validity within its boundaries of Inter-municipal TNS Business Licences, which date 
must be at least 6 months from the date of the notice; and 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8967 Document: 2337954-v3 

(b) include a certified copy of the municipal Council resolution or bylaw authorizing the 
municipality’s withdrawal from the Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence scheme.  

 
18. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Bylaw shall not affect the validity 

or enforceability of any other provisions of this Bylaw and any such invalid or 
unenforceable provision shall be deemed to be severable.  

 
19. Despite any other provision of this Bylaw, an Inter-municipal TNS Business Licence 

granted in accordance with this Bylaw does not grant the holder a licence to operate in 
any jurisdiction other than within the jurisdictional boundaries of the Participating 
Municipalities.  

 
20. A business licence granted under any other Inter-municipal TNS Business licence scheme 

is deemed not to exist for the purposes of this Bylaw, even if a Participating Municipality 
is a participating member of the other Inter-municipal TNS Business licence scheme. 

 
21. “Inter-Municipal Transportation Network Services Business Licence Scheme Bylaw, 2020, 

No. 8767” and all amendments are repealed upon adoption of this bylaw. 
 
22. This Bylaw shall come into force and take effect on June 1, 2023. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



- IM 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

•

0,-;.
0 -'"""'<o,, 

0 

. 

H 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: 

From: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

Subject: 2023 - 2027 FINANCIAL PLAN BYLAW 

Date: April 5, 2023 File No: 05-1700-03-0001/2023 

The following is a suggested recommendation only, Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled "2023 - 2027 Financial Plan Bylaw": 

THAT "Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962" be 
considered. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962 (CityDocs #2342704) 

SUMMARY 

On March 27, 2023, Council endorsed CNV's 2023-2027 Financial Plan , and directed 
staff to bring forward a Financial Plan Bylaw (2023 to 2027) that reflects an overall tax 
rate increase of 5.24%. The Community Charter requires Financial Plans to set out 
municipal objectives and policies in relation to the distribution of property taxes among 
the property classes that are subject to taxation. On April 3, 2023, Council endorsed an 
across the board property tax increase for each property class . 

This report recommends adoption of a complete 2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw that 
incorporates Council's March 27 and April 3 endorsements for further consideration . 

Document Number: 2342723 



REPORT: 2023 - 2027 FINANCIAL PLAN BYLAW 
Date: April 5, 2023 

BACKGROUND 

The Community Charter requires the preparation and adoption of a Financial Plan 
covering five years prior to May 15 each year. The proposed 2023-2027 Financial Plan 
Bylaw (Attachment 1) includes several expenditures, all of which were endorsed by 
Council on March 27, 2023. These expenditures are summarized in Schedule 1, Part 1 
of the draft Financial Plan Bylaw. Expenditures for 2023 total $301.4 million and are 
presented below: 

2022 2023 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

Operating Budget $88.5 $95.6 $7.1 
Capital Plan 215.0 71 .2 (143.8) 
Shipyards Budget 2.0 2.2 0.2 
Water Budget 14.3 16.4 2.1 
Sewerage and Drainage Budget 15.9 17.9 2.0 
Solid Waste Budget 3.9 4.1 0.2 
Cemetery Budget 0.4 0.6 0.2 
Collection for Other Organizations 57.3 57.4 0.1 
Other Items 33.6 36.0 2.4 

Total $ 430.9M $ 301.4M ($129.SM) 

Council endorsed a 2023 tax rate increase of 5.24% to fund the 2023-2027 Financial Plan 
and, on April 3, 2023, endorsed an across the board property tax increase for each 
property class . 

DISCUSSION 

The Community Charter requires Financial Plan Bylaws to include some additional 
disclosures, as described below: 

1. Revenue Proportions by Funding Source 
• Property Taxes are CNV's major source of revenue, accounting for 57% of 

total revenues, which is a reduction of 2% over 2022. The 2023-2027 
Financial Plan projects the percentage of revenue coming from property 
taxes to decrease gradually, due to the assumptions in place surrounding 
growth of revenue from Fees and Services, particularly within Utilities where 
rate increases need to account for significant future Metro Vancouver costs. 
CNV will continue to look for ways to reduce the overall percentage of 
revenue that comes from property tax consistent with statements in the 
2014 Official Community Plan but, for the purposes of this plan, no new 
material user fees are assumed. 

2. Distribution of Property Taxes among the Property Classes 
• It is the goal of CNV's Long Term Property Tax Strategy that CNV's 

business to residential tax rate ratio be at or below the median for the region . 
CNV's ratio been near the regional median for the past few years and the 
Financial Plan assumes no material changes to the current tax distribution. 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: 2023 - 2027 FINANCIAL PLAN BYLAW 
Date: April 5, 2023 

3. Use of Permissive Tax Exemptions ("PTE's") 
• The Community Charter gives Council the authority to exempt certain lands 

and/or improvements in the City from municipal taxation. The Community 
Charter requires that a PTE policy statement be included in the Financial 
Plan. The summary statement included in the draft Bylaw reflects the 
current PTE Policy approved by Council. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Financial implications have been addressed in detail during the financial planning process 
and throughout this report. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The 2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw is a reflection of CNV's policies and the work plans 
of all CNV departments. In developing this Bylaw, Finance staff rely on their close working 
relationship with staff in other departments and CNV's shared-cost agencies. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The preparation and approval of a Financial Plan Bylaw is consistent with the 
requirements of the Community Charter, the 2023-2027 Financial Plan and tax 
distributions recently endorsed by Council, CNV's 2014 Official Community Plan, and 
CNV's PTE Policy. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 3 of 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962 Document: 2342704-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8962 

Financial Plan for the Years 2023 to 2027 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Financial Plan for the Years 2023 

to 2027 Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962”. 
 
2. Schedule “A” attached hereto is the Financial Plan of The Corporation of the City of North 

Vancouver for the period commencing January 1, 2023, and ending December 31, 2027. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 
 
  



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 8962 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2023 – 2027 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962 Document: 2342704-v1 

 
(1) 2023 – 2027 Financial Plan ($000’s) 

 
For the year ended December 31 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Revenue
Property Value Tax 75,715 78,124 80,605 83,153 85,772
Levies (Storm and Eco) 4,143 4,447 4,773 5,171 5,533
Revenue from Fees and Services 49,976 53,142 56,556 60,286 63,466
Revenue from Other Sources 3,929 3,804 3,842 3,880 3,919

133,763 139,517 145,776 152,490 158,690

Transfers
Collections for Other Governments 57,415 58,563 59,734 60,929 62,148
Transfer from Reserves 63,796 83,621 51,462 45,845 42,754
External Contributions 28,719 5,328 3,822 3,120 3,751
Transfer from Capital Assets 17,700 18,054 163,415 18,783 19,159

167,630 165,566 278,433 128,677 127,813

Total Revenues 301,393 305,083 424,209 281,167 286,503

Expenditures

Operating Expenses
General Government 27,607 28,297 29,004 29,729 30,472
Transportation and Transit 8,344 8,552 8,766 8,985 9,210
Health, Social Services, Housing 4,000 4,100 4,203 4,308 4,416
Development Services 8,307 8,515 8,728 8,946 9,170
Protective Services 31,247 32,029 32,830 33,651 34,492
Parks, Recreation and Culture 26,489 27,151 27,830 28,526 29,239
Water 12,053 18,246 20,861 20,697 22,523
Sewer 12,514 18,871 22,788 24,862 26,655
Solid Waste 4,098 4,210 4,327 4,446 4,570

134,658 149,971 159,337 164,150 170,747

Capital Expenditures 76,443 64,316 27,547 23,055 20,895

Transfers
Collections for Other Governments 57,415 58,563 59,734 60,929 62,148
Equity Equity 19,525 18,819 19,289 19,771 20,265
Reserves 13,352 9,414 45,302 13,262 12,448
Debt Servicing 0 4,000 113,000 0 0

90,292 90,796 237,325 93,962 94,861

Total Expenditures 301,393 305,083 424,209 281,167 286,503



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 8962 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2023 – 2027 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962 Document: 2342704-v1 

 
(2) Revenue Proportions by Funding Source 
      (Excluding Transfers) 
 

 
 
Background: Property Taxes are CNV’s major source of revenue. CNV’s reliance on property 
tax as a source of revenue has increased gradually over the past several years. This trend is 
partially due to the lack of access to other types of revenues.  Where feasible, CNV charges user 
fees for services, however this is not possible for many services. The 2023-2027 Financial Plan 
projects the percentage of revenue coming from property taxes to decrease gradually, due to the 
assumptions in place surrounding growth of revenue from Fees and Services, particularly within 
Utilities where rate increases need to account for significant future costs from Metro Vancouver. 
 
 
Policy: The City will continue to look for ways to reduce the overall percentage of revenue that 
comes from property tax, by pursuing alternate revenue sources, and remains committed to 
charging user fees for services where feasible. 
 
 
(3) Distribution of Property Taxes among the Property Classes 
  
 

Property Class and Description Tax Allocation % 
2022 2023 

1 Residential 56.38% 56.79% 
2 Utilities 0.49% 0.45% 
3 Major Industry – Capped 10.70% 10.53% 
4 Major Industry – Non capped 0.62% 0.61% 
5 Light Industry 1.02% 0.94% 
6 Business 30.74% 30.63% 
8 Recreation/Non-Profit 0.05% 0.05% 

 
 
Background: In 2008 Council adopted a Long Term Property Tax Strategy to shift taxes from the 
business and light industrial tax classes to the residential tax class. The goal of this strategy was 
to move CNV’s tax rates and tax rate multiples to a competitive position within the Metro 
Vancouver Region, while maintaining principles of fairness and equity.  As CNV’s tax rates and 
tax rate multiples are now competitive within the region, Council endorsed an across the board 
tax rate increase for 2023.   
 
Policy: CNV will continue to distribute property taxes among the various property classes to 
keep tax rates and tax rate multiples competitive within the Metro Vancouver Region, while 
maintaining the principles of fairness and equity. 
 

($000's)
2023 % 2024 % 2025 % 2026 % 2027 %

Property Value Tax 75,715        57 78,124      56 80,605      55 83,153      55 85,772        54
Levies (Storm and Eco) 4,143          3 4,447        3 4,773        3 5,171        3 5,533          4
Revenue from Fees and Services 49,976        37 53,142      38 56,556      39 60,286      39 63,466        40
Revenue from Other Sources 3,929          3 3,804        3 3,842        3 3,880        3 3,919          2

Total Revenues 133,763      100 139,517    100 145,776    100 152,490    100 158,690      100



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 8962 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2023 – 2027 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8962 Document: 2342704-v1 

(4) Use of Permissive Tax Exemptions

Background: Council currently allows permissive tax exemptions to organizations within the City, 
in accordance with eligibility criteria defined under the Community Charter. This criteria shows 
various types of institutions as eligible, including religious institutions, providers of social housing, 
and not for profit societies and service organizations.  

Policy: CNV has adopted a policy that includes a set of criteria for approving permissive tax 
exemptions.  This criteria links taxation exemptions to desired community needs and outcomes. 
Applications are also assessed on whether or not uses are available to a significant portion of 
community residents, if there is ongoing involvement of community volunteers, if benefiting 
organizations have competent management, and if funding comes from multiple sources. 
Council also carefully considers the total amount of permissive tax exemptions granted each year 
when reviewing the annual Property Tax Exemption bylaw, giving consideration to the equity of 
shifting the exempted tax burden to other property owners in the City. 

All existing permissive tax exemptions are reviewed each year and staff continue to work with all 
organizations who receive a Permissive Tax Exemption to ensure that their services align with 
CNV’s goals and objectives. 



Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

2023 TAX RATES BYLAW 

REPORT 

Date: April 05, 2023 File No: 05-1970-05-0005/2023 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled "2023 Tax Rates Bylaw": 

THAT "Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963" be considered. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Proposed "Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963" (CityDocs 2347288) 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval for the 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw. 

DISCUSSION 

The Community Charter requires the preparation and adoption of a Tax Rates Bylaw, 
after adoption of the financial Plan but before May 15th each year. The property tax 
rates are set each year to enable CNV to collect the tax levy that is required in the 
Financial Plan. 

The Tax Rate Bylaw presented for endorsement reflects the 5.24% tax rate increase 
endorsed by Council at the March 27, 2023 Regular Council meeting and the "across 

Document: Number: 2347217-v1 



REPORT: 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw 
Date: April 05, 2023 

the board" tax rate distribution option endorsed by Council at the April 3, 2023 Regular 
Council meeting . 

The 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw contains the following schedules: 

Schedule A - Rates required for CNV's total general municipal tax revenue 
Schedule B - Rates required for the CNV's storm drainage levy 
Schedule C - Rates required for the CNV's eco levy 
Schedule D - Rates required for the Metro Vancouver Regional District tax 

Note that the other governmental agencies (School, Translink, BC Assessment and the 
Municipal Finance Authority) will set and approve their own respective rates separate 
from CNV's Tax Rate Bylaw. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Financial implications have been addressed in detail during the 2023 - 2027 Financial 
Planning process. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS 

The preparation and approval of a Tax Rates Bylaw is a critical step in CNV's financial 
planning process. The property taxes collected through the Bylaw will provide funding 
for programs and projects in support of the vision and priorities of the 2018-2022 
Council Strategic Plan. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 2 of 2 



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8963 
 

A bylaw for imposing property value taxes on land and improvements 
in the City of North Vancouver for the year 2023. 

WHEREAS it is provided under Section 197(1) of the Community Charter being, that the Council 
must, each year after adoption of the financial plan but before the 15th day of May, subject to the 
provisions and restrictions of the Community Charter contained, pass a bylaw to impose property 
value taxes on all land and improvements according to the assessed value thereof, for the 
purpose enumerated and set forth in Section 197(1) of the Community Charter; 

WHEREAS the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver deems it necessary 
and expedient to pass a bylaw for imposing a property value tax on all taxable land and 
improvements, according to the assessed value thereof, on the last Revised Assessment roll for 
The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, the rates thereinafter imposed and levied for 
purpose hereinafter stated; 

WHEREAS for General and Debt purposes, according to the last Revised Assessment Roll of the 
City, the amount of the assessed value of the taxable land and taxable improvements is 
$33,153,589,748; 

AND WHEREAS for the Regional Hospital purposes, according to the last Revised Assessment 
roll of the City, the amount of the assessed value of the taxable land and taxable improvements 
is $33,176,894,948; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2023, No. 
8963”. 

2. The following rates are hereby imposed and levied for the year 2023: 

A. For all lawful general purposes of the municipality on the assessed value of land and 
improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule 
“A” attached hereto and forming a part hereof. 

B. For the storm drainage purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements 
taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule “B” attached 
hereto and forming a part hereof. 

C. For the eco levy purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements taxable 
for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule “C” attached hereto and 
forming a part hereof. 

D. For the City’s appropriate share of the monies required for the operating fund of the 
Metro Vancouver Regional District for the year 2023, on the assessed value of land 
and improvements taxable for Regional Hospital District purposes, rates appearing on 
Schedule “D” attached hereto and forming a part hereof. 



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

3. The minimum amount of taxation upon a parcel of real property shall be One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) for property owners 65 years of age and over and Three Hundred and 
Fifty Dollars ($350.00) for property owners under 65 years of age. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2023. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2023. 

ADOPTED on the <>day of <>, 2023. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 
  



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

2023 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class     Municipal General 
 
 
1. Residential       1.55077 
 
2. Utilities     37.95873 
 
4. Major Industry    26.09662 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 26.09662 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap 21.35178 
 for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industry      4.91562 
 
6. Business       4.91562 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit     1.74179 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

SCHEDULE “B” 
 

2023 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class Storm Drainage 
 
 
1. Residential     0.05619 
 
2. Utilities     1.37549 
 
4. Major Industry    0.94565 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 0.94565 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap        0.77372 

for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industrial     0.17813 
 
6. Business     0.17813 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.06312 
 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

SCHEDULE “C” 
 

2023 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class     Eco Levy 
 
 
1. Residential     0.02720 
 
2. Utilities     0.66578 
 
4. Major Industry    0.45773 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 0.45773 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap 0.37450 
 for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industry     0.08622 
 
6. Business     0.08622 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.03055 
 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2023, No. 8963 Document: 2347288-v1 

SCHEDULE “D” 
 

2023 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class                            Metro Vancouver Regional District 
 
 
       
 
1. Residential     0.05233 
 
2. Utilities     0.18315 
 
4. Major Industry    0.17791 
 
5. Light Industry     0.17791 
 
6. Business     0.12820 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.05233 
 
 



To: 

From: 

~ _Ml 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION LOAN 

Date: April 5, 2023 File No: 05-1610-01-0001/2023 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled "LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION LOAN": 

THAT the loans currently outstanding and authorized by the City of North 
Vancouver be renewed and consolidated on a 5-year demand term and at an 
interest rate of 3.51 % compounded quarterly as of August 1, 2023; 

THAT a term is added to the loan requiring twelve-month notice to Lonsdale 
Energy Corp. if the City of North Vancouver wishes to demand repayment of the 
loan prior to the endorsed debt repayment schedule. 

AND THAT Council endorses Lonsdale Energy Corp.'s proposed debt repayment 
schedule. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Report of the Manager - Finance, Lonsdale Energy Corporation, dated April 5, 2023, 
entitled "City Loan Report and Debt Repayment Schedule" 

Document Number: 2350523 



REPORT: LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION LOAN 
Date: April 5, 2023 

BACKGROUND 

Lonsdale Energy Corporation ("LEG") is a government business enterprise wholly 
owned by the City of North Vancouver ("CNV") whose capital expansions to date have 
primarily been financed through shareholders loans from CNV. Loans authorized to 
date total $37.6 million, with current balances outstanding as at March 31, 2023 
equaling $31.9 million. LEC's shareholders loans are secured by way of a 5 year 
demand promissory note that matures August 1, 2023, and bears interest at 2.65% per 
annum. 

Council has directed LEG to seek commercial loans of up to $12 million, plus grants, to 
finance its future growth, and to repay CNV's shareholders loans over time. LEG 
currently makes principal payments equal to a percentage of its Capacity revenue (10% 
from 2017-26 and 5% from 2027-36) based on projected customer growth and, based 
on current projections, is expected to have the loan repaid in 15 years. LEG is in 
negotiations with commercial lenders and granting agencies to secure new financing . 

As part of its year end audit process, LEC's auditors annually test LEC's ability to 
operate as a going concern. Given CNV's shareholder loan is a demand loan, since the 
onset of COVID-19, auditors have expressed concern that LEG may not be able to 
continue as a going concern should CNV demand immediate loan repayment. For the 
past few years Council has agreed to provide LEG with 1 year notice of any demand for 
repayment, providing LEG with adequate time to refinance its shareholders loans in the 
event of such demand, to support LEC's ability to demonstrate to its auditors that it can 
continue to operate as a going concern. 

Further background is provided in LEC's report included as Attachment 1. 

DISCUSSION 

With the current demand note maturing August 1, 2023, a new promissory note needs to 
be executed or LEC's shareholders loan needs to be refinanced. 

Historically, CNV has set LEC's interest rate at the rate the Municipal Finance Authority 
("MFA") currently offers for loans of comparable term. This practice provides a lower 
borrowing rate to LEG than available from commercial lenders and enables CNV to earn 
a return on its portfolio investments greater than available by investing in fixed income 
securities. CNV's fixed income investment portfolio generated a return of 2.51 % in 2022. 
MFA currently offers municipalities an interest rate for loans with a 5 year term of 3.51 %. 
In the Fall of 2022, the best rate LEG was offered by commercial lenders was 4.53% for 
a loan with a 5 year term and a 25 year amortization period. This report recommends 
that LEC's shareholders loan be renewed for another 5 year term at an interest rate of 
3.51 %, providing CNV with a higher portfolio interest rate than it is current earning, and 
enabling LEG to borrow at rates more competitive than available from commercial 
lenders. 

Document Number: 2350523 Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION LOAN 
Date: April 5, 2023 

LEC's loan repayments have historically been made as agreed. An analysis of LEC's 
historical and future financial capacity as discussed in Attachment 1 shows that LEC is 
generating sufficient cashflow to service its debt. Renewal of LEC's shareholders loan 
is also assumed in CNV's 2023-2027 Financial Plan recently endorsed by Council 
March 27, 2023. 

This report also recommends that a term is added to LEC's loan requiring twelve-month 
notice to LEC if CNV decides to demand immediate repayment of the loan so that LEC 
can demonstrate to its external auditors that it remains a going concern for the purposes 
of financial reporting. The existing formula for calculating principal payments would 
otherwise remain, enabling the loan to be repaid in full by 2037. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Financial implications are addressed throughout this report. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report as was developed in co-operation with LEC. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP, OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

CNV's OCP includes Objective 4.1.2 (d) to: 

"Encourage the transition to sustainable energy sources by ... Supporting the 
Lonsdale Energy Corporation (LEC) in the development and implementation of a 
Sustainable Energy Strategy" 

The recommended LEC loan financing provides financial support to LEC to enable it to 
connect to new buildings and position them to benefit from LEC's move to low carbon 
energy sources over time. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Document Number: 2350523 Page 3 of 3 



Attachment 1

tl tM 
CEO President 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Sean Wood, Manager - Finance, LEC 

SUBJECT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE 

Date: April 5, 2023 

RECOMMENDATION: 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager - Finance of Lonsdale Energy Corp., 
dated April 5, 2023, entitled "City Loan Report and Debt Repayment Schedule": 

THAT the loans currently outstanding and authorized by the City of North 
Vancouver be renewed and consolidated on a 5-year demand term and at an 
interest rate of 3.51 % compounded quarterly as of August 1, 2023; 

THAT a term is added to the loan requiring twelve-month notice to Lonsdale 
Energy Corp. if the City of North Vancouver wishes to demand repayment of the 
loan prior to the endorsed debt repayment schedule. 

AND THAT Council endorses Lonsdale Energy Corp.'s proposed debt repayment 
schedule . 

ATTACHMENT: 

1. Loans from the City of North Vancouver as at March 31, 2023 

2. Debt Repayment Schedule as at March 31, 2023 

REPORT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE PAGE 1 OF 5 



PURPOSE 

This report provides an overview of the loans outstanding from the City of North 
Vancouver (the City) to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (LEC), as well as the principal and interest 
payments made to date. This report recommends a renewal of the five-year demand term 
loan maturing on August 1, 2023, and inclusion of a requirement for twelve month notice 
if the City intends to demand repayment of the loan. This report also seeks Council's 
endorsement of an updated debt repayment schedule. These recommendations are 
made with consideration of LEC's ability to service its debt to the City. 

BACKGROUND 

LEC was incorporated in 2003 and began operations in 2004 providing hydronic (water
based) space heating and domestic hot water services to multi-family, commercial, and 
institutional buildings within the City. LEC has operated and built the district energy 
system to provide reliable and competitively priced thermal energy to 104 buildings and 
approximately15,000 residents within the City. In recent years the Company has 
significantly increased its focus on the decarbonization of the district energy system and 
is aiming to decarbonize 40% of its forecasted energy demand by 2026. In addition to 
being the sole shareholder of LEC, the City has helped facilitate the growth and 
decarbonization of the district energy system as a lender. 

On December 16, 2013, the City converted its amount due from LEC into a five-year 
demand term loan maturing on December 16, 2018, and bearing interest at 2.10% per 
annum. Previously incurred expenses from the City for the construction of LEC's 
distribution network were converted into debt and LEC was authorized to borrow up to a 
total of $12 million (inclusive of these expenses) from the City. A debt repayment schedule 
was established which was based on revenue projections for LEC's Capacity Charges 
and therefore would match loan obligations to the growth of the Company. This funding 
facilitated the growth of the district energy system from 2009 to 2015. In the subsequent 
years LEC made additional funding requests and provided the specific purpose of each 
request as summarized in Attachment 1. On August 1, 2018, all of these authorized 
amounts were consolidated into a new five-year demand term loan maturing on August 
1, 2023, and bearing an interest rate of 2.65% per annum. Two small funding requests 
were made in 2019 and 2021 bearing the same terms as the consolidated loan. 

On June 29, 2012, the City received a loan of $2,000,000 under the Green Municipal 
Investment Fund through the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) to finance eligible capital 
costs related to LEC infrastructure. Funding was transferred to LEC who took 
responsibility for principal and interest payments. Historically, the balance of this loan and 
its obligations have been included in LEC's reporting to Council. LEC made the final 
principal and interest payments in May 2022 retiring the loan. 

As of March 31, 2023, the loans from the City are summarized as follows: 

Amount Amount Future Draws Principal 
Authorized by Disbursed to / Balance Payments Amount Due 

Council LEC Available Made by LEC to the City 
$37,632,966 $31,941,966 $5,691,000 $5,288,8880 $26,653,086 

REPORT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE PAGE 2 OF 5 



Despite the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, LEC has exceeded its scheduled loan 
obligations (interest and principal payments) by $342,000 for 2021 and 2022. During 2022 
LEC made interest payments of $706,877 (2021 - $714,798) and principal payments of 
$917,098 (2021 - $1,077,979). In addition to facilitating the growth of the system, the 
interest earned by the City at a rate of 2.65% is competitive with the City's fixed income 
investment portfolio yield at 2.51 % (2022). 

In the report to Council dated June 6, 2017, titled "2017-2018 LEC Construction Program 
Financing", LEC informed Council of its intention to use debt, instead of operating 
revenues, to fund major capital expansions and upgrades of the district energy system. 
This practice was adopted to meet the considerable capital requirements necessary to 
connect new buildings during a period of rapid development, use revenues to retire earlier 
debt, and provide transparency to Council for LEC's significant capital projects. In 
response to the funding requests made by LEC in the report "Lonsdale Energy 
Corporation Funding Request" dated November 17, 2021 , Council asked that LEC 
investigate commercial funding options. LEC presented commercial options available to 
LEC and Council authorized LEC to borrow up to $12 million from a commercial lender to 
fund low carbon energy initiatives. LEC is in the process of negotiating with commercial 
lenders for a credit facility. 

The funds loaned by the City to LEC have facilitated numerous building connections over 
the past decade which will maximize the impact of the low-carbon energy sources as they 
are added to the system. This mutually beneficial arrangement has allowed LEC to build 
the system to meet the growing demand of the community while providing the City with a 
competitive long-term return on investment. 

DISCUSSION 

Renewal of 5-year Demand Term 
Staff recommend that Council renew the loan with the same terms for another five years 
commencing August 1, 2023, as was done in 2013 and 2018. Although retirement of the 
loan is scheduled for 2037 in the debt repayment schedule, limiting the term of the loan 
to five years allows the City and LEC the flexibility to adjust the terms and interest rate on 
a regular basis. Similar to the past report, the proposed 3.51 % interest rate is based on 
the indicative long-term lending rate provided by the MFA for a 5-year term. This rate is 
mutually beneficial to the City, LEC, and customers: 

1. The City receives a rate (3.51 %) greater than their fixed income investment 
portfolio yield, which carried a return of 2.51 % in 2022. 

2. LEC receives a rate lower than available from commercial lenders. In Fall of 2022 
the best rate LEC was offered by commercial lenders was 4.53% on a term loan. 

3. Customers benefit from lower rates from LEC, as Capacity Charges to customers 
consider the cost of financing LEC's infrastructure. 

The adjusted interest rate does add one additional year to the debt repayment schedule, 
however, the additional year follows the same principles as previously set out in the 
repayment schedule. 

As LEC seeks to rapidly decarbonize the district energy system, its capital requirements 
will correspondingly increase significantly. LEC recognizes a need to seek additional 

REPORT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE PAGE 3 OF 5 



funds from commercial lenders, grants, etc., however, if the current loan from the City 
were to be replaced by commercial funding, LEC would need to reassess and possibly 
extend the schedule for decarbonization , as well as raise rates to customers to meet 
higher financing costs. 

Twelve-Month Notice 
The terms of the existing loans to LEC were discussed with Council when executing the 
5-year term loan in July 2018. Except for consolidating the individual promissory notes 
into one note and adjusting the interest rate, the terms of the loan remained unchanged. 
Notably, the terms refer to the loan as a 5-year demand term loan, meaning the City can 
call the full loan amount without notice, although the City and LEC have mutually agreed 
that the loan will be retired per the debt repayment schedule. During the audit of LEC's 
2020 financial statements, the auditors raised concerns on the callability of the loan . This 
was due to the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic increasing operational and 
liquidity risks across all sectors. The auditors were concerned that if called, LEC would 
face difficulty in securing alternative funding without reasonable notice. Previously the 
auditor had accepted Council's endorsement of a debt repayment schedule and LEC's 
record of meeting its obligations as sufficient evidence against these risks, however, the 
external factors brought on by COVID-19 required them to seek more assurance. In order 
to mitigate the noted risk and address the going concern (the accounting assumption that 
a company has the necessary resources to operate indefinitely) of LEC, staff brought a 
report to Council requesting that the City consent to providing twelve-month notice to LEC 
if the City were to call the loan outside of the agreed upon schedule. This notice period 
allows LEC adequate time to secure alternative funding, to continue classifying the loans 
as non-current liability, and provides the necessary assurance to the auditor. 

Staff are recommending that a twelve-month notice period be added to the terms of the 
loan to satisfy audit requirements and avoid the need to seek Council's endorsement on 
an annual basis . It should be noted that the loan agreement allows for modification or 
termination by written agreement and therefore, if the City were to call the loan upon LEC 
securing alternative financing, the City and LEC could agree to terminate the loan before 
conclusion of the twelve-month period . 

Debt Repayment Schedule (Attachment 2) 
The debt repayment schedule for the loans outstanding to the City has been updated to 
consider the proposed change in interest rate and the past year's activity. There has not 
been any significant change from last year and LEC expects to retire its debt obligations 
to the City by the end of 2037, as opposed to the previously scheduled 2036, due to the 
increase of the interest rate. To date, LEC has made a total of $5.3 million in principal 
payments to the City, which has met or exceeded all of the scheduled principal payment 
obligations. Additionally, LEC has paid approximately $4.4 million in interest to the City 
on these loans. The remaining draws of funding from the City include distribution piping 
construction on E 15th Street ($450,000) ; construction of Mini-Plant 9 at the Concert's 
Harbourside Development ($1,200,000); distribution piping for heat recovery at the North 
Shore Waste Water Treatment Plant ($3,600,000); as well as a funds for the completion 
of two booster pump stations ($115,000). LEC has issued dividends at a rate of 5% of the 
previous year's principal payments to the City and therefore the dividends payable have 
also been projected in the schedule. 

REPORT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE PAGE 4 OF 5 



Debt Servicing 
LEC staff conduct 18-month cash flow projections on a monthly basis to determine the 
company's ability to meet its short-term obligations. Recent modelling demonstrates 
LEC's capacity to satisfy all of its debt obligations to the City in 2023. Additionally, LEC 
conducts long-terrn modelling to determine the financial impact and feasibility of 
significant capital projects, new low-carbon energy sources, and its capital structure. 
Once again, long-term modelling indicates LE C's ability to repay its debt obligations under 
the suggested schedule. Current modelling, with this schedule, indicates LEC's 2023 
cash flow (defined as Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization or 
"EBITDA") will be approximately 9 times higher than its 2023 interest costs to the City. 
When we also consider principal payments, LEC projects cash flows approximately 3.5 
times higher than its debt (ie principal and interest) obligations. An EBITDA-to-lnterest 
Coverage ratio of 9-to-1 and a Debt-Service Coverage ratio of 3.5-to-1 are strong 
indicator of LEC's ability to satisfy its debt obligations to the City in the coming year. 

Summary 
The following recommendations have been made to Council: 

1. Renewal of the 5-year demand term loan at an interest rate of 3.51 %. 
2. The additional requirement of twelve month notice to demand repayment of the 

loan outside of the agreed upon debt repayment schedule. 
3. Endorsement of the updated debt repayment schedule in Attachment 2. 

These recommendations have been made on the basis of providing a mutually beneficial 
loan agreement for the City and LEC, while preserving LEC's ability to decarbonize the 
community energy system and provide affordable rates to customers. If these loans were 
to be converted to commercial debt, it is likely LEC would need to delay decarbonization 
of the district energy system, as well as reassess and adjust rates to customers. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

The financial implications are addressed throughout this report. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS: 

LEC aligns with the 2018-2022 Council Strategic Plan, more specifically, Council's 
Livable City goal stating: 

Further develop a renewable energy strategy to transition the City-owned 
Lonsdale Energy Corporation district energy system to incorporate low carbon 
energy sources and minimize the use of natural gas, including exploring a 
compost/waste to energy facility and other strategic opportunities 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY: 

Manager - Finance, LEC 

REPORT: CITY LOAN REPORT AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE PAGE 5 OF 5 



Date 
Authorized 
by Council 

2012-06-19 
2013-12-16 
2015-06-13 
2015-11-02 
2016-01-25 
2016-04-04 
2016-04-04 
2016-09-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-06-12 
2017-07-24 
2017-09-18 
2018-07-16 
2018-07-16 
2018-07-16 
2018-07-16 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2019-07-15 
2021-12-06 

Loans from the City of North Vancouver 
as at March 31, 2023 

Amount 
Loan Purpose Authorized by 

Council 

Green Municipal Investment Fund Project Loan - Loan through the City $ 2,000,000 
Distribution System Construction & Working Capital 12,000,000 
Corix Agreement Expiration Settlement 2,000,000 
Corix Agreement Expiration Settlement 611 ,966 
Construction of Mini-Plant 8 1,600,000 
Connection of 160 E 6th 600,000 
Connection of Moodyville 2,300,000 
W Keith Road Financing & NTS1 & BPS1 3,250,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - E 18th St - Lonsdale to 154 E 18th 360,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - Chesterfield Ave - 15th to 1549 Chesterfield 220,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - Chesterfield Ave - 1549 to 1730 Chesterfield 400,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - E 15th St - Lonsdale to 1441 & 1549 St Georges 620,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - Mahon Ave - Ext. to 63 Mahon (Alcuin College) 75,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - Controls Replacement & Upgrade: MP4,6, & 7 325,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - MP5 Capacity Increase 100,000 
2017-18 Construction Financing - Carrie Cates Court- Cost Overrun 200,000 
Heat Recovery from the NSWWTP 3,600,000 
Cooling Services at Lot 5 1,200,000 
St. Georges Ave - 160 E 6th Street to E 3rd Street & NTS2 1,600,000 
MP9 - Construction of MP9 at Harbourside Concert Properties 1,200,000 
E 15th Street - St. Georges Ave to 250 E 15th Street & LG H 450,000 
Chesterfield Ave - W Keith Road to W 3rd Street 950,000 
Bewicke Ave - 14th Street to 715 W 15th St. (HE220) 130,000 
Ridgeway Ave - 3rd to 1st St. (Trails phased connections) 375,000 
MP2 Boiler Addition 286,000 
E 8th St. - St. Georges Ave. to 128 E 8th St. (HE133) 150,000 
Booster Pump Station 2 at 366 E 3rd Street 100,000 
E 17th St. - Lonsdale to 143 E 17th St. (HE 135) 260,000 
E 12th St. - St. Georges Ave. to 127 E 12th St. (HE136) 230,000 
E 20th St. - Lonsdale Ave. to 125 E 20th St. (HE137) 150,000 
E 1st St. - Ridgeway Ave. to 520 E 1st St. 290,000 

TOTAL $ 37,632,966 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Amount Amount 
Disbursed to 

Loan Balance Principal 
Outstanding 

LEC 
Available Payments 

(Due to City) 

$ 2,000,000 $ - $ (2,000,000) $ -
$ 12,000,000 - $ (3,288,880) 8,711,120 
$ 2,000,000 - $ - 2,000,000 
$ 611 ,966 - $ - 611,966 
$ 1,545,000 55,000 $ - 1,545,000 
$ 600,000 - $ - 600,000 
$ 2,300,000 - $ - 2,300,000 
$ 3,135,000 115,000 $ - 3,135,000 
$ 345,000 15,000 $ - 345,000 
$ 220,000 - $ - 220,000 
$ 400,000 - $ - 400,000 
$ 620,000 - $ - 620,000 
$ 75,000 - $ - 75,000 
$ 290,000 35,000 $ - 290,000 
$ 100,000 - $ - 100,000 
$ 200,000 - $ - 200,000 
$ - 3,600,000 $ - -
$ 1,150,000 50,000 $ - 1,150,000 
$ 1,455,000 145,000 $ - 1,455,000 
$ - 1,200,000 $ - -
$ - 450,000 $ - -
$ 950,000 - $ - 950,000 
$ 130,000 - $ - 130,000 
$ 370,000 5,000 $ - 370,000 
$ 265,000 21 ,000 $ - 265,000 
$ 150,000 - $ - 150,000 
$ 100,000 - $ - 100,000 
$ 260,000 - $ - 260,000 
$ 230,000 - $ - 230,000 
$ 150,000 - $ - 150,000 
$ 290,000 - $ - 290,000 

$ 31,941,966 $ 5,691,000 $ (5,288,880) $ 26,653,086 



Status 

Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
*Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
Actual 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 
Forecast 

DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE 
as at March 31, 2023 

Revenue allocated towards debt obligation growth factor (2017-2026): 10.00% 
5.00% 
3.51% 

Revenue allocated towards debt obligation growth factor (2027-2036): 
Forecasted Interest Rate: 

Scheduled Additional 
Total Actual / 

Revenue Revenue 
Forecasted Actual/ Draws on 

Year Allocation Allocated to 
Payment Forecasted Remaining 

towards Debt Debt 
Allocation to Loan Balance Authorized 

Obligation Obligation 
Debt Outstanding Loan Balance 

Obliaation 
2013 $ 181 ,399 - $ 181,399 $ 11 ,411 ,018 
2014 388,115 - 388,115 12,324,620 
2015 433,457 - 433,457 15,130,982 
2016 490,252 - 490,252 15,907,770 
2017 1,000,000 2,667 1,002,667 21,691 ,926 
2018 1,100,000 - 1,100,000 24,188,992 
2019 1,210,000 125,556 1,335,556 26,307,373 
2020 1,331 ,000 27,095 1,358,095 26,518,086 
2021 1,464,100 328,677 1,792,777 26,940,184 
2022 1,610,510 13,465 1,623,975 27,003,086 
2023 1,771 ,561 1,771 ,561 26,085,988 1,650,000 
2024 1,948,717 1,948,717 26,655,706 115,000 
2025 2,143,589 2,143,589 25,757,604 3,600,000 
2026 2,357,948 2,357,948 28,118,107 
2027 2,475,845 2,475,845 26,747,105 
2028 2,599,637 2,599,637 25,210,083 
2029 2,729,619 2,729,619 23,495,320 
2030 2,866,100 2,866,100 21 ,590,386 
2031 3,009,405 3,009,405 19,482,109 
2032 3,159,875 3,159,875 17,156,525 
2033 3,317,869 3,317,869 14,598,844 
2034 3,483,763 3,483,763 11,793,394 
2035 3,657,951 3,657,951 8,723,580 
2036 3,840,848 3,840,848 5,371,827 
2037 4,032,891 4,032,891 1,719,529 
2038 4,234,535 - -

Future Disbursements $ 5,365,000 
Unused funds from completed projects 326,000 

Loan balance available at March 31, 2023 $ 5,691,000 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Total Debt Obliaation 
Dividends 

Annual (5% of 
Interest Principal Previous 

Payments Payment Year's 
Amount Principal 

Payment) 
$ 14,817 $ 166,582 

214,870 173,245 
253,282 180,175 
302,870 187,382 
357,790 644,877 
498,448 601 ,552 
654,777 680,779 30,100 
698,885 659,210 34,000 
714,798 1,077,979 33,000 
706,877 917,098 53,900 
691,279 1,080,282 45,900 
935,615 1,013,102 54,000 
904,092 1,239,497 50,700 
986,946 1,371 ,002 62,000 
938,823 1,537,022 68,600 
884,874 1,714,763 76,900 
824,686 1,904,933 85,700 
757,823 2,108,278 95,200 
683,822 2,325,583 105,400 
602,194 2,557,681 116,300 
512,419 2,805,450 127,900 
413,948 3,069,815 140,300 
306,198 3,351,753 153,500 
188,551 3,652,297 167,600 
60,355 1,719,529 182,600 

- - 86,000 

* The Annual Principal Payment Amount includes a deferred payment from March 21 , 2019. This payment was scheduled for December 2018, however was 
deferred to provide contingency cash flow to mitigate the risk of increased natural gas prices due to the rupture of an Enbridge pipeline on October 9, 2018. 



NOTICE OF MOTION 

15. Council Code of Conduct and City of North Vancouver Respectful
Communication Policy – File: 01-0530-01-0001/2023

Submitted by Council of the Whole

RECOMMENDATION:

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver has a priority to be a City for People that
is welcoming, inclusive, safe, accessible and supports the health and well-being
of all;

WHEREAS a Code of Conduct is a written document that sets shared
expectations for conduct or behaviour;

WHEREAS responsible conduct that is grounded in agreed upon principles
furthers a local government’s ability to provide good governance to their
community;

WHEREAS Council of the City of North Vancouver, as a group, wishes to lead
through example that it sets for the City and the community;

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver wishes to promote a safe, healthy,
respectful and positive environment for all staff, members of the public and
volunteers at its facilities, and has an obligation to provide a workplace free of
violence, bullying and harassment;

AND WHEREAS civil discourse is essential to a free and functioning democracy
now;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that staff be directed to bring forward for
Council’s consideration a Code of Conduct for the City of North Vancouver
Council regarding respectful behaviour and communication between members of
Council;

THAT staff be further directed to bring forward recommendations for a bylaw or
policy for Council’s consideration regarding respectful behaviour and
communications of and with Council, City staff, volunteers and members of the
public when interfacing with one another and/or using City facilities or services;

AND THAT the bylaw or policy include definitions of appropriate and
inappropriate behaviour and communication and provide a clear process with
assigned roles and authorities for City staff and Council members to address
inappropriate communication when it occurs.

Background Information, April 11, 2023



References: 

Province of British Columbia: 
Responsible Conduct of Locally Elected Officials 

UBCM: 
Resources for Developing and Improving Codes of Conduct 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/local-governments/governance-powers/conduct-of-locally-elected-officials/responsible-conduct#https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/local-governments/governance-powers/conduct-of-locally-elec
https://www.ubcm.ca/about-ubcm/latest-news/resources-developing-improving-codes-conduct#https://www.ubcm.ca/about-ubcm/latest-news/resources-developing-improving-codes-conduct

	1 Agenda
	2 Minutes�
	*3 Bylaw 8968
	*4 MV Board in Brief
	No PH -880 West 15th Street
	Report - 880 West 15th Street�
	1-Map�
	2-Architectural Plans�
	3-Landscape Plans�
	4-ADP Resolution�
	5-Consultation�

	Submissions
	Notice�

	5 Bylaw 8957�
	6 Bylaw 8958�
	7 Expanding Inter-Municipal Transportation Services�
	7-1 Business Licence Bylaw for Ride-Hailing�
	7-2 Public Meeting Resolution�

	8 Bylaw 8966�
	9 Bylaw 8967�
	10 2023-2027 Financial Plan Bylaw�
	11 Bylaw 8962�
	12 2023 Tax Rates Bylaw�
	13 Bylaw 8963�
	14 Lonsdale Energy Corporation Loan�
	14-1 Report Apr 5 2023

	15 Notice of Motion�
	15 Backgroud Info




